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Auditing Procedures Report

Unit Name  Macorsb Counly County MACOMB Type COUNTY MuniCode  50-0-000

Opinion Date June 30, 2008 Audit Submitted June 30, 2008 Fiscal Year December 31, 2007

if = loca) unit of government {aumoriiies & commissions included) is operating within the boundaries of the audited entity and is NOT inciuded in this or any other
audit report. nor do they obtain a stand-alone audit, encloss the name(s), address(es), and a description{s) of the authority and/or commission.

Place a check next to each "Yes" or non-applicable question below. Questions left unmarked should be thase you wish to answer
IINOII.

1. Are all required compeonent units/funds/agencies of the tacal unit included in the financial statements and/or disclosed in the

% reporting entity notes to the financial statements?
I~ 2. Does the local unit have a positive fund balance in all of its unreserved fund balances/unrestricted net assets?
X 3. Were the local unit's actual expenditures within the amounts authorized in the budget?
K¢ 4. Isthis unitin compliance with the Uniform Chart of Accounts issued by the Department of Treasury?
[X 5. Didthelocal unit adopt a budget for all required funds?
X 6. Was apubiic heating on the budget held in accordance with State statute?
7. Isthe local upit in cormpliance with the Revised Municipal Finance Act, an order issued under the Emergency Municipal Loan Act,

B

and other guldance as issued by the Local Audit and Finance Division?

8. Hasthe local unit distributed tax revenues, that were collected for another taxing unit, timely as required by the general
property tax act?

X

9. Do all deposits/investments comply with statutory requirements including the adoption of an investment policy?

X

10. 1s the ocal unit free of Nlegal or unauthorized expenditures that came to your attention as defined in the Bulletin for Audits of
Locai Units of Government in Michigan, as revised (see Appendix H of Bufietin.)

X

11. Is the unil free of any indications of fraud or illegal acts that came 1o your attention during the course of audit that have not

X been previously communicated to the Local Audit and Finance Division? (if there is such activity, please submit a separate report

under separate cover.)

X 12. is the local unit free of repeated reported deficiencies from previous years?

[X 13. Is the audit opinion unqualified? 14, If not, what type of opinion isit? {NA

B¢ 15. Has the local unit complied with GASB 34 and ather generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP)?

X 16. Has the board or council appraved all disbursements priar to payment as required by charter or statute?

B¢ 17. Toyour knowledge, were the bank reconciliations that were reviewed performed timely?

B 13. Are there reparted deficiencies? [ 19. if so, was it attached to the audit report?
General Fund Revenue: 197,469,951 General Fund Batance: 39,754,023
General Fund Expenditure: 155,430,682 Governmental Activities

Long-Term Debt (see 192,734,503
Major Fund Daficit Amount:?o instructions); B

Wa affirm that we ere certified public accountants (CPA) licensed to practice in Michigan. We further affint the above responses have besn disclosed m the
financial staterents, including the notes, or in the Managsment Letter (Reporied deviations},

CPA (First Name) Thomas I&zj:\a Darling Ten Digit License Number 1101022094
CPA Street Address 5750 New King Street City  Troy Stats M} Zip Code 48088 Telephone  (248) 952-5000

CPAFirm Name  Rehmann Robson gggr’;f:ee‘ 10 N. Main Street 123 ’City Mount Clemens Zip Code 48043
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FINANCE DEPARTMENT

10 N. Main St., 12th Floor
Mount Ciemens, Michigan 48043
586-469-5250 FAX 386-469-5847

; June 16, 2008

David M. Diegel
| Finance Director
|

John . Koster  Direciar 10 the Citizens of Macomb County
Robert Grzanka, C.BA The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) of Macomb County, Michigan
Internal Audit Manager for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007 is hereby submitted. Respaonsibility for
both the accuracy of the data, and the completeness and fairness of the
presentation, including ail disclosures, rests with the County. To the best of our
knowiedge and belief, the enclosed data are accurate in all material respects and
are reported in a manner designed to present fairly the financiai position and results
of operations of the various funds of the County. All disclosures necessary fo enable
the reader to gain an understanding of the County's financial activities have been

included.

Stephen L. Smigiel, CP.A.
Accounting Manager

State law reguires that all general purpose local governiments publish within six
months of the close of each fiscal year a complete set of financial statements
presented in conformity with Generally Accepled Accounting Principles (GAAP) and
audited in accordance with generally accepted audifing standards by a firm of
licensed cerified public accountants.

This report consists of management’s representations concerning the finances of
Macomb County. Consequently, management assumes full responsibility for the
completeness and reliability of all the information presented in this report. To
provide a reasonable basis for making these presentations, County management
has established a comprehensive intemal control framework that is designed to
protect the govemment's assets from loss, theft, or misuse and to compile sufficient
reliable information for the preparation of the County's financial staiements in
conformily with GAAP. Because the cost of interna! confrols should not outweigh
their benefits, the County's comprehensive framework of internal controls has been
designed to provide reasonable rather than absolute assurance that the financial
statements will be free from material misstatement. As management, we assertthat,
to the best of our knowledge and belief, this financial report is complete and refiable
in all material respects.

Macomb County’s financiat statements have been audited by Rehmann Robson, a
firm of licensed certified public accouniants. The goal of the independent audit was
" 1o provide reasonable assurance that the financial statemeants of the County for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2007 are free of material misstatement. The
independent audit involved examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amodnis and disclosures in the financial statements; assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management; and evaluating the

MACOMB COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS ~ WiliomA Crochan  Daa Camphous-Petcrson. 1 onard Haggerty
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overall financial statement presentation. The independentauditor concluded, based upon the audit,
that there was reascnable basis for rendering an unqualified opinion that the County's financial
statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007 are fairly presented in conformity with
GAAP. The independent auditor's reportis presented as the first component of the financial section

of this report.

The independent audit of the financial stalements of Macomb County was part of a broader,
federally mandated “Single Audit” designed to meet the special needs of federal grantor agencies.
The standards governing Single Audit engagements require the independent auditor to report not
anly on the fair presentation of the financial statements, but also an the audited government’s
internal controls and compliance with legal requirements, with special emphasis on internal confrois
and legal requirements involving the administration of federal awards. These reports are available

in the County's separalely issued Single Audit Report.

The Fiscal Year 2007 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report is issued pursuant io the
requirements of Govemmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 34 - Basic
Financial Statements and Management's Discussion and Analysis for State and Local
Govemments, as amended by GASBE Statement No. 37 - Basic Financiai Statements and
Management's Discussion and Analysis for State and Local Governments - Omnibus and Statement
No. 38 - Certain Financial Statement Note Discloswres. Readers of cur 2007 Comprehensive
Annual Financial Report wifl notice two statements, entitied Statement of Net Assels and Statement
of Activities. These statements will provide readers with the financial position of Macomb County
viewed as a single entity. The GASB slatements also require that management provide a narrative
introduction, overview and analysis to accompany the basic financial statements in the form of
Management's Discussion and Analysis (MD&A). This letter of transmittal is designed to
complement the MD&A and should be read in conjunction with it. Macomb County's MD&A can be
found immediately following the report of the independent auditors.

PROFILE GF MACOMB COUNTY

Macomb County is located in Southeastern Michigan and comprises the northeastern portion of the
Detroit Metropolitan Area. The County encompasses 482 square miles, and ranks third in both
population and State Equalized Value of all 83 counties in the state. According to the 2000 census,
there are 788,149 persons living within 27 municipalities in Macomb County including lhree of the
largest communities in Scutheast Michigan: the City of Warren (2nd), the City of Sterling Heights
(3rd) and Clinton Township (7th). The cities of Warren and Sterling Heights enjoy the third and
fourth highest populations of all cities in the State of Michigan, following only Detroit and Grand
Rapids. The County seat is located in the City of Mount Clemens.

Macomb County's governmental structure is defined by the State Constitution and the general laws
of the State of Michigan. The County's legislative body, and its administrative body for most
functions, is the County Board of Commissioners. Curmrently, there are twenty-six cornmissicners
elected by direct vote from single-member districts with two year terms.

The Treasurer, CleriVRegister of Deads, Prosecutor, and Sheriff are offices established by the
State’s constitution. A Public Works Commissioner was established as an elected position in 1909
and currently operates under Public Act 40 of 1956, ihe Uniform Drain Code. The above offices are
countywide elected with four-year terms. The Treasurer is responsible for collection of delinquent
property taxes, property tax settlements with local units of govemment, cash management and
Investments. The Clerk/Register of Deeds s responsible for recording vital statistics administering
elections, maintaining court records, Board of Commissioner proceedings, and documents affecting



property ownership. The Sheriff and Prosecutor are responsible for law enforcement. The Public
Warks Commissioner is responsible for construction and maintenance of drains, lake level control

and sewer interceptors.

The Macomb County Caurts consist of the Sixtesnth Circuit (including Family Court), Probate and
42 District Court Divisions t and i1. The Circuit Court has jurisdiction over criminal cases where the
minimum penalty is over one year incarceration, civil damage cases where the controversy exceeds
$25,000, and domestic relation matters. The Macomb County Probate Court consists of two
divisions: Wills and Estates and Mental.

The Wills and Estates Division administers estates for deceased persons and appoints guardians
for minors and legally incapacitated aduits. The Menta! Division accepts petitions and holds
hearings on the hospitalization of individuals who are in need of mental health services and appoints
guardians when necessary. The 42" District Court has jurisdiction over misdemeanors, ardinance
and charter violations, civil cases under $25,000, and preliminary examinations in felony cases.

A consideration in preparing the CAFR for the County was the identification of the reporting entity.
Various pofential component units were evaluated to determine whether they should be reported in
the County's CAFR. A component unit was considered to be part of the County's reporting entity
when it was concluded thal the County was financially accountable for the entity or the nature and
significance of the relationship between the County and the entity was such that exclusion would
cause the County's financial statements to be misieading or incomplete.

This Comprehensive Annual Financial Report includes all the funds of the County and the funds of
the Macomb/St. Clair Workforce Development Board (Michigan Warks!), the Martha T. Berry
Medical Care Facility, the Macomb County Parks and Recreation Commission, the Macomb County
Library Board, the Macomb County Social Services Board, the Macomb County Public Works
Commission, the Macomb County Community Mental Heaith Board, the Macomb County Employees
Retirement System, the Macomb County Retiree Health Care Board, the Macomb County Building
Authority, the Macomb County Criminal Justice Building Authority and the Macomb County Road
Commission. Notincluded are the funds of Macomb Community College and Macomb Intermediate
School District as well as various cities, townships, villages and local schoal districts which have not
met the established criteria for inclusion in the reporting entity and accordingly are excluded from
this report.

The Building Authorities have been combined with the financiai statements of the County in
accordance with the Statement on Michigan Governmental Accounting and Auditing No.2-
Accounting and Financtal Disclosures of Building Authorities-as issued by the State Treasurer.

ECONOMIC CONDITION

Macomb County continues to grow, as demonstrated by the financial statements and schedules
included in this report. The assessed vatue of the taxable property supporting the County's 2007
operations was approximately $31.9 billion, an increase aver the prior year of $1.5 billion, or 4.9%.
The economic base of the County is cantinuing to increase. The taxabie value of property located in
Macomb County has increased an average of 6 .3% over the last ten years.,

Macomb Caunty is located within five hundred miles of one half of the United States’ poputation and
a major portion of the Canadian market. The County is linked to these important areas by an
extensive transportation network consisting of highways, rail, and air. In addition, the County's
eastem boundary borders Lake 3t. Clairwhich links Lakes Huron and Ere giving the County direct



access to the wond's busiest intermnational waterway. Macomb County is the location of choice for
manufacturers because of an abundance of industnal land ready for development, a highly skilled
labor force, a strong tocal economy and local government support for County wide economic

expansion.

There are more than 2,000 manufacturing businesses located in Macomb County, including major
facilities of each of the Big Three automotive companies including the General Motors Technical
Center, the world's largest engineering and design center. Macomb County is also headquarters for
General Motors North American Operations, Macormb is the only county in the nation with two
DaimlerChrysler assembly plants - and alse the only county with two DaimlerChrysier stamping
plants. At two million square feet, BaimierChrysler’s Sterling Heights Stamping Plant is the largest
of alt of its stamping operations. In addition, more than 40 Fortune 100 companies have facilities in

Macomb County.

Macomb County contains approximately 22,000 acres of industrial and insfitutional land. The
County is positioned well for more growth due to the fact that its land is only 50 percent developed. It
is significant ta note that Macomb County already has sufficient sewer and water capacily to serve
the undeveloped balance of the County. The combination of these factors makes Macomb Caunty a
strategic tocation for manufacturing facilities in the Midwest. New and ongoing construction of fuli
service industrial parks, manufacturing piants, office centers, research and development facilities,
retail centers and residential construction continue to expand the existing econamic base.

People are one of the County's richest resources. From coliege degraes, to high tech training, to
practical experience, Macomb’s work force of over 417,000 has it all. Macomb County continues to
be a major manufacturing center, however the County experienced a major shift in employment
during the decade of the 1990’s as it diversified its employment base away from manufacturing to
the service sector. The percentage of total County jobs in the manufacturing sector decreased from
35% in 1980 to 26% in 2000. Adding definition to Macomb's robust and diverse work force is an
agricuitural heritage most evident in the northem portions of the County, where second and third
generation farmers maximize nature’s weaith.

There has been substantial industrial developmenti in the County over the past thirty years. A mile
wide industrial corridor 12 miles long, located between Mound and Van Dyke Roads, comprises
large industrial establishments including Generat Maotors Technical Center, DaimlerChrysier
Corporation’s Warren Truck Assembly Plant, Sterling Meights Stamping Plant, Sterling Heights
Assembiy Plant and the paint and vinyl plants of Ford Motor Company, as well as the Detroit News
and Detroit Free Press Sterting Heights printing plant and General Dynamics Land Systems, which
designs, manufacturers and supports armored weapons systams and electronic products for the
U.S. Amy.

Electrical service is provided by the Detroit Edison Company. Consumers Energy Campany and the
Southeast Michigan Gas Company supply natural gas. All three utilities have the capacity to supply
large industrial customers. AT&T provides telephone service.

Municipal water and sanitary sewer service is availabie in most of Macomb County's urbanized
areas. Large tracts of vacant industrial and commercial land have access to these services.

There are over 2,988 retail trade establishments conveniently located throughout Macomb County
offering the consumer a full range of products and services.



Several {arge shopping malls are lccated in the County including the Mall at Partridge Creek iocated
in Clinton Township and Lakeside Shopping Center located in the City of Steding Heights. Lakeside
Mall opened in 1876. It is the area’s largest shopping mail and employs approximately 2,200
peopie. This multi-level, enclosed, climate-controlled regional mall is located on 545 acres and has
51 acres of lakes, parking lots for 8,000 vehicles and 1,485,000 square feet of gross leasable
space. The major stores in the mall are Macy’s (206,000 square feet), J.C. Penney (215,000 square
feat), Sears (312,000 square feet) and Lord & Taylor (160,000 square feet). There are
approximately 180 other mail stores, specialty shops, restaurants and other retafi spaces in the mall.
The Mall at Partridge Creek, a 640,000 square open-air shopping mall, opened in 2007.
Department store chains Nordstrom and Parisian serve as anchor stores. In addition, the mal
features over 90 shops and restaurants. The mall features a 14-screen movie theater, heated
sidewalks, two bocce courts, an outdoor play area, plus a fireplace in the center court. Customers
are also allowed to bring their dogs into the shopping center. “Comfart Staticns™ with water and
sanitation supplies are availabie for dogs. Parking is available for 3,250 automobiles.

Higher education is available to County residents at Macomb Community Callege, Baker Callege
and Davenport Universiy.

Macomb Community Coflege, (MCC) has three campuses located in the County which offer nearly
200 options for degrees and certificates as well as continuing education caurses, counseling,
cultural activities and community services to a current enraiiment of 42,900 students. The Coflege
operates the 1,200 seat Macomb Center for the Performing Arts, which is one of the finest facilities
of its kKind in the State of Michigan. The Center presently brings a diversity of cultural aris
experiences {o nearly 260,000 annually. MCC is accredited

by eleven state, national and occupational associations, including the North Central Association.
The University Partnership Program is a unique arrangement that is offered in partnership with four-
year colleges and universities providing Macomb County residents increased access to advanced
education through a mix of bachelor and master degree programs. The Degree Parinership
Program is an alternative to “going away” to college or attending a distant university extension
center. Courses are taught by faculty from partnership colleges and universifies including: Central
Michigan University, Ferris State University, Lawrance Technological University, Oakland University,
Rochester College, University of Detroit Mercy, Walsh Cotiege and Wayne State University. Nearly
40 bachelor's degree compfetion and master's degree programs are offered.

Baker Coliege of Clinton Township, located in a quiet residential sefling, sits on 42 centrally located
acres with easy access from [-84 and [-696. Approximately 5,200 students enjoy a large variety of
academic programs including specialty offerings in elementary and secondary teacher preparation,
nursing, radiology, surgical, veterinary and computer technology programs. Baker College is
accredited by The Higher Learning Commission of the North Central Association. The Baker Center
for Graduate Studies is also accredited by the Intemational Assembly of Collegiate Business
Education.

The Macomb Intermediate School District (MISD) serves 21 public school districts in Macomb
County. There are over 138,000 K-12 students enroiled in Macomb County's locai school district
and center based schools. MISD provides services to the staff, students and parents of 145
elementary schools, 32 Middle Schools and 25 High Schoals throughout the County. 18,000
students receive special education services. In addifion to the standard cumiculum, direct services
for special education students are provided through three schools for the handicapped, a nursing
home, the Macomb Regional Center, a special education work activities program, programs for the



severely emotionally impaired, and the Continuing Education for Youth Program. Macomb County's
public schools also provide a variety of vocational and job training programs through its high schools
and vocational skill centers.

The international Academy of Macomb, a public, tuition- free, high schoo! for students from 18
Macomb County School districts is inits start up year. The Academy, operated through the Macomb
Intermediate Schoo! District, is located an the campus of Chippewa Valley High School in Clinton
Township. It will start out with 125 ninth grade students and add a grade every year until reaching a
capacity of 500 students in 2011. The academy is designed to provide a biend of rigorous academic
standards, practical career-reiated experiences and intercultural learning opportunities focused on a
challenging curnicutum.

Macomb County residents are also served by a number of other institutions located outside of the
County. These include Lawrence Technological University, Oakland University, University of
Detroit/Mercy, University of Michigan-Dearbom, Wayne State University, Rochester College and
Waish Coliege.

Six general hospitals with a capacity of over 1,400 beds serve the area. There are also several
specia! care facilities and 24 private nursing homes within the County.

A fuit range of family living quarters is available in Macomb County including residential facitities in
modem urbanized areas, rural settings, historic vilflages and scenic waterfront sites along numerous
infand takes and the shoreline of beautiful Lake 3t. Clair. There is a wide range of affordable
housing throughout Macomb County. The median value of an owner-occupied housing unit in 2000
was 3136,200. The vast majority of Macomb County's housing {76 percent) is owner occupied,
ranking it among the highest in the nation.

There are 8,349 acres of land in Macomb County devoted to outdoor recreation including picnic
sites, fishing, swimming, boating facilities and hiking.

Approximately thirty miles of shoreiine along Lake St. Clair provide access to fun and sports on the
waters of the Great Lakes. Public and private marinas provide docking facilities for more than 9,000
boats, ranking Macomb County first in the State of Michigan in the number of boat slips available at

its marnnas.

Several highways and thoroughfares traverse Macomb County providing regional and statewide
continuity for movement of people, goods and services. Interstate 94 runs along the eastem border
of the County and continues across southemn Michigan to Chicago. Interstate 6396 crosses the
southem portion of the County providing a vital link between 1-94 and I-75, M-53 helps provide an
important link to the "Thumb Area” of the State. M-5S provides an East-West link between [-94 and
[-75 across the County's midsection, paralleling

1-696, which is, located nine miies to the south.

Macomb County has neary 70 miles of main fine railroad tracks owned by two companies,
CONRAIL and Grand Trunk Western Raitroad. CONRAIL operates a service line along the westem
partion of the County serving the area’s primary industrial corridor. This area is commonly referred
to as the "Golden Mile” because of its farge concentration of major industrial faciliies. The Grand
Trunk Weslern line serves the eastem partion of the County and connects Detrolt-Windsor to the
Port Huron-Sarnia area.



MAJOR INITIATIVES

The Mall at Partridge Creek, a $250 miliion open-air shopping mall in Clinton Township opened to
public on October 18, 2007. it is the first mall to open in Macomb County since Lakeside Mall in
1976. Depariment stare chains Nordstrom and Parisian serve as anchar stores. In addition, the
mall features over 90 shops and restaurants, 70 of which are new to Macomb County. Tenants of
the new mail include H&M, Samsonite {the second Samsonite store in Michigan), The Gap, Eddie
Bauer, Apple Store, Coidwater Creek, Starbucks, Farever 21, Calvin Klein (the first White Label
siore fo open in the country) and J. Crew. The mall features a 14-screen movie theater; heated
sidewalks; two bocce courts; an cutdoor play area; plus a fireplace in the center court. Customers
are aso aflowed to bring their dogs into the shopping center, “comfort stations”, with water and
sanitation supplies, are available for dogs. Parking is available for 3,250 automatiles.

BAE the world's third largest defense contractor will spend $58.4 million for expansion of its land &
armament facilities in Sterling Heights. BAE plans to construct a new 175,000 square foof, state of
the art engineering facility to consolidate and expand upon personnel and operations cutrently split
between its existing Sterling Heights focations — on Mound Road near 15 Mile and on 19 Mile near
Merrill. The expansion is expected to create 460 new engineering and technical jobs. Amaong the
reasons BAE chose Sterling Heights for its expansion was s proximity to deiense contractor
General Dynamics and the opportunity for collaboration.

St. Joseph’s Healthcare, based in Clinton Township, has become fully owned by Henry Ford Health
System and is now calied Henry Ford Macomb Hospitals. Henry Ford Macomb Hospitals is
Macaomb County’s largest, longest-established and most comprehensive health system, with 3,000
associates and more that 700 medical staff members. Henry Ford Macomb is a 435-bed, multi- site
system with a comprehensive, acute care hospital in Clinton Township, a specialty haspitalin Mount
Clemens and health centers in Bruce Township, Chesterfield Township and Fraser.

Henry Ford curently operates four medical centers in Macomb County as well as Henry Ford Bi-
County Hospital in Warren. The health care system, the largest in metro Detroit, also owns Henry
Ford Hospital in Detroit, Henry Ford Wyandotie Hospital, and Kingswood Hospital in Ferndale, and
is building a 300 bed haspital in West Bloomfield.

Three prominent developers are creating the largest canvention center in Macomb County; a
100,000 square foot venue in Chesterfield Township they hope will compete with the Rock Financial
Showplace in Novi. Clinton Township builders John Carle, Guy Rizzo and Paul Aragona are
teaming up on Chesterfield Towne Cenler, on 200 acres with a mile frontage along {-94 between 21
Mile and Hali Road. In addition to the convention center, the expansive project includes an
extended-stay hotel, several restaurants, big-box stores, a movie theater, offices, industrial buildings
and a hike-bike trail. With an estimated iotal worth of nearly $100 million, Towne Centre would bring
about 2,000 jobs to Macomb County.

General Motors is investing $36 million to renovate the Research and Development building on lhe
grounds of the Technical Center. The project is expected to be completed in late 2011.

A 120-room hotel, a 4,000 square foot family restaurant and a 6,000 square foot conference center
are among the amenities set for construction at Selfridge Air National Guard Base. The military land
— guarded for national security reasons- will be opened {o the public like never before. The
prefiminary blueprints for the 800 acre property in Harmison Township also include making an
existing marina and golf course accessible to boaters and golfers outside the base. The land
became available as a resulf of the U.S, Department of Defense's 2005 base realignment and



closings plan.

A 48,000 square foot Children’s Hospital facility on a 4.3 acre site on Garfield, south of 19 Mile Road
in Clinton Township has opened. The $15 Million facility houses oulpatient children’s services,
inciuding urgent care and general surgery. This is the first time Children’s Hospital has built a site
from the ground up cutside of the city of Detroit. Health care professionals are expected to treat

several thousand patients annually.

The former 100 acre Hillcrest Country Club located on Groesbeck Highway in Clinton Township is
currently being developed for multiple uses inciuding commercial, residential and public park space.
This development will include a 207,000 square foot Meijer Super Center, 50,000 square feet of
multi-tenant retail, 178 condominiums, 30 acres of public parkland and an additional 15 acres of
commercial property reserved for future development.

The Southeast Michigan Councif of Governments (SEMCOG) reported that Macomb County had the
highest number of net new housing units in the seven county region in 2007. The 1,280 net new
housing units reflected the current housing siump in the region by showing a decrease of 53% below
the 2,712 units reported for 20086. Four of Macomb County’s cities and townships ranked in the top
ten communities in the region for total new units authorized in 2007. Macomb Township ranked
second in the region with 419 units authorized, foliowed by third place Shelby Township with 261,
fifth place Washington Township with 115 and eighth place Clinton Township with 104 units.

The Southeast Michigan Council of Govemments also reported that Macomb County added the
most people (48,957) and the most households (31,289} of any county in southeast Michigan
between the 2000 U.8. Census and July 2006. During the twelve months ending Juiy 1, 2006,
Macomb Township took first place in the area for population growth followed by Shelby Township in
third place and Sterling Heights in fourth place.

Macomb County's annual unempioyment rate for 2007 of 7.6 percent was slightly higher than the
Michigan unemployment rate of 7.2 percent. The National unemployment rate was 4.6 percent.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

As demonstrated by the statements and schedules included in the financial seclion of this report, the
County continues to meet its responsibility for sound financial management.

Budgeting Controls. The County maintains budgetary controls that are designed to ensure
compliance with legal provisions embodied in the annual appropriated budget approved by the
Macomb County Board of Commissioners. Activilies of the general fund and special revenue funds
are included in the annual county budget. Project length financial plans are adopted for the capital
projects funds. The level of budgetary control (that is, the levet! at which expenditures cannotlegally
exceed the appropriated amount) is established by function within an individual fund. The County
also maintains an encumbrance accounting system as one technique of accompiishing budgetary
control on a line item basis.

Pension Trust Fund. The County has a Defined Benefit Pension Pian refemred to as the Macomb
County Employee's Retirement System (MCERS). It is worthy to note that MCERS is fully funded.
The annual actuarial valuation continues to reflect a positive trend in the funding of the MCERS. A
detailed discussion of the performance of Macomb County's pension plan can be found in the notes
to the financial statements,



Health Care Trust Fund. The Couniy began fo pre-fund Retiree Health Care benefits through the
establishment of a frust for that purpose in 1897. The trust held funds in excess of $111 million at
year-end. These funds are restricted for future payment of Retiree Health Care expenses. The
Counly’s long term goal is to fully fund its Retiree Health Care liability,

Debt Administration. Macomb Counly has received the highest possible credit rating from bath
Moody's Investars Service (Aaa) and Standard & Poor's (AAA), two of the country's most prestigious
Wall Street rating agencies. Only two other counties of 83 in Michigan and 34 other counties of
3,066 in the nation enjoy this distinction. A detailed discussion of Macomb County's long-term debt
can be found in the MD&A as well as the notes to the financial statements.

Cash Management. Cash temporarily idle during the year was invested by the County Treasurer.
Investments, except those of the Pension and Health Care Trust Funds and the Deferred
Compensation Plan, are administered by the Treasurer in compliance with the provisions of Public
Act 20 of 1943 as amended. Significant policies include:

« Investments of the County are held in the County’s name

» Investments are in U.S. Treasury obligations, banker's accepiances, certificates of deposit, and
commerciat paper {op rated by not less than two of the four rating services: Standard and Poors,
Mouody's investors Service, Fitch Investors Services and Duff and Phelps.

e Only federal and state-chartered banks and savings institutions, which are members of FDIC,
are ytitized.

+ State law requires the use of in-state banks.

The County's investment policy is to minimize credit and market risks while maintaining a
competitive yield on its portfolio. Additional data related to investments is listed in the notes to the
financial statements. The County's investment policy is reviewed periodicailly by the Board of
Commissioners.

Risk Management. Alf County agencies and departments except the Martha 7. Berry Medical Care
Facility are seif insured for losses of a General Liability nature up to $500,000 per claim. The
Martha T. Berry Medical Care Facility is self insured for General Liability and Medical Malpractice.
The County is a defendant in various lawsuits in which plaintiffs seek damages of an indeterminable
amount. The General Liability Internal Service Fund has been established to account for the self-
insured aspects of this program. The Risk Management and Contingencies and Commitments notes
to the basic financiai statements contain additional information concerning risk management. The
Statistical Section of the CAFR includes a complete schedule of insurance coverage maintained by
the County.

AWARDS AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Govemment Finance Officers Assaciation of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a
Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reparting to Macomb County for its
Comprehensive Annual Financial Reporl (CAFR) far the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008. The
Cerlificate of Achievement is a prestigious national award recognizing conformance with the highest
standards for preparation of state and local government financial reports.



in order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a government unit must publish an easily
readable and efficiently crganized camprehensive annual financial report, whose contents conform
to program standards. Such CAFR must satisfy both generally accepted accounting principles and
applicable legal requirements.

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. Macomb County has received a
Certificate of Achievement for the last twenty two consecutive years. We believe that our current
report continues to conform to the Certificate of Achievement prograr requirements, and we are
submitting it to the GFOA for consideration.

The National Association of Counties (NACo) recognized Macomb County for its commitment to
excelience by awarding the County sixteen NACa Achievement Awards. NACo presents the awards
annually, to counties across the country, forinnovative programs that enhance service (o citizens or
improve county management, service or structure. In 2007, for the 26" consecutive year, Macomb
Caunty received more NACo awards than any of the other 82 counties in Michigan. These awards
are listed in the Macomb County Board of Commissioners Annual Report which is available on the
Macomb County website at www.macombeountymi.gov.

Acknowledgments. The preparation of the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report on a timely
basis was made possibie by the dedicated service of the entire staff of the Finance Department.
Each member of the department has my sincere appreciation for the contribution made in the
preparaiian of this report.

In closing, | would also like to thank the Macomb County Board of Commissianers for the leadership
they have shown during the past year in supporiing the operations of the County.

Sincerely,

David M. Diegef
Finance Director

10



Certificate of
Achievement
for Excellence
in Financial
Reporting

Presenied to

Macomb County
Michigan

For its Comprehensive Anoual
Financial Report
for the Fiscal Year Ended
December 31, 2006

A Certificate of Achievetnent far Excellence in Financial
Reporting is presented by the Government Finance Officers
Association of the United States and Canada to
government units and public employee retirement
systems whose comprehensive annual financial
reports (CAERS) achicve the highest
standards in government accounting
and financtal repotting.

President

Gy A5

Executive Dircctor

1"



BAANES

INDTNHSUL
EHOLLDIHUOD OMNIVEL ¥ TeNT WILHID LHIVROYNYE
ALIHPMNNOD WYID LEOYW ARLENC FUNIADC ADHNAGHANHE
L 1 I |
S39IANTE samagEe Ov4 FHYD Teoitaw ANV
EMCUFLEA HOENALXE NEW AT "L YRLNY ALNOOD
1 L ] ]
o~
MNOLLYEuYAY Ly EL B SAMAERE ASHIDY i
aNv SHuve LHIWADY YW ME I SMAZLLIZ BDINEY FAVIANTE ALNOAWWOD
— T A T —
qENavw
MALTIH TYMINY ENDLLYHNNAWOITTIL Aspinons ABNVLIRNE
LNANITAIANIY 3 INE#iLNYITO ADOIONHZRL ENOLLVHD 4D 1LY a3e
aare vaian HLTWIH D18 NOLLY RO ML ¥ SALIUIVS HATYEH TEAHRN
— T ; ;
HOILYRGMS 14N0Y 1¥n03
LINDWNS ¥ L5HiRIQ VENTANCAUNY ANRODTHL 40 QNS SNIIYHDNNL WOLLYZITYND3
1 T ;
— _ , T
TP TwiMal LAND3 Linoula H TINQISIAT INSNSONIAT N JININDHIN] AHIWINY 2D TAERNaD LANPHALY Y IFT
LMNOS LyROud HER} JAASD 1ML Eld ANEY aMY DM HNY 14 SEHNOTIH HYWAH ' MOLLYWOJJWGT b Bl T
L | 1 { ) - 1 ]
] 3
JINAGD AWOIVIR AFNNGLLY ONELNDIS O F4INEHE EVINQITEINNDD UTUNSYEUL $093Q 40 HALEIOAN HANOIEWWOD EHYOM
49 AHVIDIGRF ALHNOD ALHMDS ALNNSY do auYon ALNROD MWD ALNDOD 24AY ALNNOD
! — ] " ! — T T
ALVHOLIZTI

ALHAOD BINDIYN

LUVHO NOILVZINVOHUO ALNNOD AINOJVIN



MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Principal Officials

Officers of the Board of Commissioners

William A. Crouchman

Chairman
Vica-Chairperson Dana Camghous-Peterson
Sergeant-at-Arms Leonard Haggerty

Clerk Carmelia Sabaugh

Corporation Counsel George E. Brumbaugh

List of the Board of Commissioners

Andrey Duzyj, District 1 Brian Brdak, District 14

Marvin E. Sauger, District 2 Keith Rengert, District 15

Philiip A. Difaria, District 3 Carey Torrice, District 16

Jon M. Switalski, (istrict 4 Ed Bnudey, District 17

Susan L Deherty, District 5 Dana Camphous-Peterson, District 18

Paul Gieleghem, District 19

Joan Flynn, District &
Kathteen E. Tocgo, District 20

Sue Rocea, Districl 7

David J. Flynn, District 8 Leonard Haggerty, District 21
Robert Mijac, Disirict 8 Betty Slinde, District 22

Philis DeSaele, District 10 William A, Crouchman, District 23
Ed Szezepanksi, District 11 Sarah Roberts, Distric 24

Petar J_ Lund, District 12 Kathy D. Voshurg, District 25

Don Brown, District 13 Leon Droiet, District 26

Elected County Officials

Prosscuting Attomey Eric Smith
Sheriff Mark A. Hackel
County Clerk / Registar of Deeds Casmella Sabaugh
Treasurer Ted B. Wahby
Public Works Commissioner Anthony V. Marrocco
County Department Heads
Finarice Director David M. Diege)
Emergency Management & Communications Director Louis Mioduszewski
Facilities & Operations Director Lynn M. Amnott-Bryks
Director / Health Officer Thomas Kalkofen
Management informaticn Service Director Cynlia M. Zerkowksi
Acting Human Resources Director Eric A Herppich
Planning & Economic Development Executive Director Stephen Cassin
Risk Management & Safety Directar John P. Anderson
Community Services Agency Direector Frank T. Taylor
County Library Director Darlere LaBelle
Senior Citizens Services Director Angela Willis

13



REHMANN ROBSON

Ceriified Pubiie Accomuntaniys

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

June 30, 2008

To the Board of Commtssioners
of Macomb County
Mount Clemens, Michigan

W have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate
remaining fund information of M4COMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2007, which collectively comprise the County’s basic financial statements as listed in the
table of contents. These financial statcments are the responsibility of Macomb County’s management.
Qur responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit, We did not
audit the financial statements of the Macomb County Road Commission, which represents 70.3% of the
assets and 49.3% of the revenucs of the aggregate discretely presented component units. Those financial
statements were audited by other auditors whose reports were furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as
it relates to the amounts included for the Macomb County Road Commission, is based solely on the
reports of the other auditors.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issned by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are frec of material
misstatermnent. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as cvaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that cur audit and the reports of other auditors previde a reasonable basis for
our opinions.

5750 New Iging Strect » Suite 200+ Troy. ME 43098 = 248,952.5000 « Fax 248952 5750 » www.rehmann.com
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In our opinion, based on our audit and the reports of other auditors, the financial statements referred to
above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the govermmental
activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented componcat units, each major
fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of Macomb County, Michigan, as of December 31,
2007, and the respective changes in financial position and cash flows, where applicabie, thereof and the
respective budgetary comparisons for the General Fund and Revenue Sharing Reserve Fund for the year
then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally aceepted in the United States of America.

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated June 30, 2008,
on our consideration of Macomb County, Michigan’s intermal controls over financial reporting and on
our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of taws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements
and other matters, The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control
over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on
the internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards and should be considered in assessing the
results of our audit.

The Management’s Discussion and Analysis on pages A-3 through A-135, the employees’ retirement
system information on page C-9 and the retirec health care plan information on page C-10 are not a
required part of the basic financial statements but are supplementary information required by the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board. We have applied certain limited procedures, which consisted
principally of inquiries of management regarding the methods of measurement and presentation of the
supplementary information. However, we did not audit the information and express no opinion on it.

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise Macomb County’s basic financial staternents. The introductory section, combining and
individual fund financial statements and schedules, and statistical section are presented for purposes of
additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. The combining and
individual fund financial statements and schedules have been subjected to the auditing procedures applied
by us and the other auditors in the audit of the basic financial statemnents and, in our opinion, basced upon
our audit and the reports of other auditors, are fairly presented, in ali material respects, in relation to the
basic financial statements taken as a whole. The introductory and statistical sections have not been
subjected to the auditing procedures applied by us and the other auditors in the audit of the basic financial
statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on them,

Rlesue oo
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MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Management's Discussion and Analysis
Required Suppiemental Iinformation

As management of the County, we offer this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of
the County for the year ended December 31, 2007. Readers are encouraged o read i in conjunction
with the lefier of transmittal, which is located at the beginning of this report, and the accompanying basic
financial staterments.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

¥ The assets of the County exceeded its liabilities by $337.2 million at year- end.

¥ The net assets of the County decreased by $43.4 million in fiscal 2007, consisting primarly of 3
$6.5 deficit in the General Fund and a $38.2 miflion charge lb governmental activities for the
difference between the actual and required employer confributions to the Retiree Health Care
Fund, as required by GASB Staternent No. 45, “Accounting and Financial Reposting by
Employers for Post-empioyment Benefits Other Than Pensions™.

» The General Fund reported a loss of $6.5 million for the year, a reduction of $0.8 million from the
prior year. Unreserved fund batance was $39.6 million, or 8.4% of the totat 2008 County

operating budget, Total fund balance was $39.8 mifiion.

¥ The County advance refunded $16.2 million In bonds, resulting in long-term Interest savings of
$0.5 million.

» The County maintained ils AAA credit rating with Standard & Poors and its Aaa rating with
Moody's tnvestor Service,

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This annual report consists of a series of financial statements: 1) government-wide financial statements,
which focus on the County as a whole, 2) fund financial statements, which provide a more detailed view
of the County’s major funds and 3) notes to the financial statements, which provide additional information
that is essential to gain a full understanding of the data presented in the financial statements.

Gavarnment-wide financial statements consist of the Statement of Naf Assets and the Statement of
Activities which provide readars with a broad overview of the activities of the County s a whole. One of
the more important quastions cifizens and other readers of the {inancial siatements often ask is "Is he
County as a whele better or worse off this year than it was a year ago?” In other words, did the financial
condition of the County improve or decline over the course of the past year, The government-wide
statements report information in a manner that is intended o help answer these questions.

The govermment-wide statements are prepared using the full accrual basis of accounting, which is similar
to thal employed Dy businesses in the private sector,

The Statement of Net Assets presents information on all of the assets and liabilifies of the County, with
the difference between the two reported as net assefs. Net assets can be thought of as one way of
measuring the financial strength of the County. Increases or decreases in net assets over time may
serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial condition of the County is improving or deteriorating.



MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Management’s Discussion and Anatysis
Required Suppiemental Information

Non-financiai factors such as changes in the property tax base, population and condition of County
infrastructure must also be considered when assessing the financial condition of the County.

The Statement of Adlivities presents information showing how the net assets of the County have changed
over the course of the most recent fiscal year. All changes in nel assets are recognized as soon as the
underlying transactions take place, regardless of the timing of the related cash flows. As a result, certain
revenues and expenses reported in these statements are related to items that will only result in cash
flows in future years. Examples of such items are uncolfected property taxes and eamed but unused sick
and vacation leave.

The government-wide financial statements segregate the acfivities of the County inlo three categories: 1)
governmantal activifies, business-type activities and discretely presented component units. The basic
services of the County are classified as governmental activities and are financed primarily through
property taxes, user fees and intergovernmental revenues. Funclions reported in this category include
general government, legislative, health and welfare, law enforcement and judicial. Business-type
activities operate like private businesses and are inlended 1o recover the majority of their costs through
user fees. The business-type activities of the County include the Delinquent Tax Revolving Funds,
Martha T. Berry Medical Care Facifity, Community Mental Health and the Freedom Hill Park. Discretely
presented component ynifs are iegally separate entities, the majority of whose goveming bodies are
appointed by the Board of Commissioners and for which the County is financially accountable. The
County reports the Road Commission, Macomb/St. Clair Workforce Development Board, the Pubtic
Works Commission and the Counfy of Macomb Hospital Finance Authorty as discretely presented
component units.

The government-wige financial statements begin on page B-1 of this report.

Fund financia! statemants are separate groupings of related accounts that are used to maintain contro!
over resources that have been segregated for specific purposes. Each fund of the County is considered
a separate accounting entity for which a seff-balancing set of accounts is maintained. Certain funds are
esiablished in accordance with Siate law while cthers are required by bood or grant agreements or are
established at the discretion of management to enable it to more easily manage and report on the
activities of the many programs of the County. Al the funds of the County can be divided into one of
three calegories: govemmental, proprietary or fiduciary.

Governmental funds are used 1o account for most of the basic setvices provided by the County and
report essentially the same functions as those reported as governmental activities in the government-wide
financial statements. Governmental funds are accounted for using the modified accrual basis of
accounting, which focuses on the short-term inflows and outflows of cash and other financial assets that
can be readily converted into cash and the balances available for spending at year-end. Because the
focus of the governmental fund financial statements is narrawer in scope than that of the government-
wide fmancial statements, reconciliations are provided in both the governmental fund balance sheet andg
operating statement 1o help the reader better understand the retationship between the fwo,



MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Management’'s Discussion and Analysis
Required Supplemental Information

All of the governmental funds of the County are categorized as either major or nonmajor for presentation
in the financial statements. The purpose of such segregation is to focus the attention of the reader on the
mare significant funds of the County. A fund is considered major if its assets, fiabilities, revenues or
expenditures meet or exceed certain percentage thresholds in relation to all governmental fungs taken as
whole. The thresholds used 1o determine a fund's status as major or nonmajor are set forth in GASB

Staternent No., 34.

information regarding major funds is presented separately in the basic financial staternents while data for
all nenmajor funds is combined into a single, aggregated presentation. The General Fund and the
Revenue Sharing Reserve Fund are the only major governmental funds of the County. Individuai fund
data for each of the nonmajor governmentai funds is provided in the form of combining statemenis
elsewhere in this report.

Proprietary funds are dassified as either enterprise funds or internal service funds and are accounted
for using the full accrual basis of accounting. Entarprise funds are used to report the same funclions as
those presented as business-lype activilies in the government-wide financial stalements and include the
Delinquent Tax Revolving Fund, Community Mental Health Fund , Freedom Hill Park Fund and the
Martha T. Berry Medical Care Facility Fund. internal service funds, on the other hand, are used fo
centraily account for services provided to other County departments and include phone services, fleet
management, copier replacement, workers’ compensation insurance, general liability insurance and
compensated absences. Because the internal service funds predominately benefit governmental rather
than business-type functions, they have been included within the governmental activities in the
govermnment-wide financial statements. Data regarding the internal service funds has been combined into
a single, aggregated presentatian in the basic financial statemenis. Information regarding the individual
internal service funds is provided in the form of combining statements elsewhere in this report.

The proprigtary fund financial staternents begin on page B-8 of this report.

Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held by the County on behalf of others, including
thase of the Employee Retirement System and the Retiree Health Care Trust as well as other agency
monies such as stale education tax collections from local units of govemmment. The activities of the
fiduciary funds are presented separately in this report but are not reflected in the govermmeni-wide
financial statements because the resources of those funds are not avallable to support the operations of
the County. Fiduciary funds are accounted for using the full accrual basis of accounting.

The fiduciary fund financial statements begin on page B-14 of this report.

Notes to the Financial Statements provide additional information that is essenfial to gain a full
understanding of the data presented in both the government-wide and fund financial statements and
begin on page 8-19 of this report.

Othar Required Supplementary Information is presented foliowing the notes to the financlal statements
and includes schedules regarding the progress of the County in funding its pension and retiree health
Gare obligations and a budget {o actual comparison for the major governmental funds of the County.
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Other Required supplementary information begins on page C-1 of this reponi.

Combining and individua! funds statements of the nonmajor funds of the County are presented
immediaiely following the required supplementary infermation and begin on page D-1 of this report.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE COUNTY AS AWHOLE

The financiat analysis of the County as a whole focuses on the net assets and changes in net assefs of
the governmental and business-type activities of the County. As noted earfier, nat assets and changes in
net assets may serve as one indicator of the financial health of the County. The assets of the County
exceeded its liabilities by $337.2 million at December 31, 2007 and decreased by approximately $43.4
million for the year then ended.

Governineniat Actvilies Busmne ss-type Ativilies Tolals
2008 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007
Cusvent ang othar agsels § 232037415 % 200,961,179 b 10854096 $ 115479276 £ 31,000.512 § 316,440,405
Caphal assets 155,170,602 163,044,800 24,213,589 23,238,318 179,384.171 196,281,218
Totzl assats 387,208,018 364,006,079 133,177,665 138,715,544 520,305,682 502,721,673
Currant kabilitins 0,524,675 15,323,100 19,701,059 203505387 50,225,734 36,273,703
Long-term Habdmias 8% 585,652 129 217 447 - - 09,565,662 129,217,447
Total liabijties 120,000,337 144,540,553 49,701,959 20,860,597 133,724,396 155,494,150
Nt assets
twestad 1 capite! assets,
et Of retated dedt 99,278,977 116,042 257 24,212,569 23,226,318 123,492,548 139,278,515
Restncien 117,133,247 96,409,057 6,723,588 1,049,185 123.856 835 103,458 262
Unrgstricted 50,704.457 7,014,212 82,539 448 87,479,434 133,243,906 94,492,646
Totat Net Assets § 267,116,681 § 219,465,526 $ 113476606 S 117,764,047 3 3B0.593,287 $ 237230473

Approximately $139.3 million, or 41.3%, of the County's net assefs represents its investment in capital
assets, net of any outstanding debt used o acquire those assets. These assets are used by the County
to provide services to the public; consequently, they are not available for future spending. Although the
County's investment in its capital assets is reported net of any related debt, it should be noted that the
resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources since the assets themselves
cannot be used to liguidate the ouistanding debl obligations. Another $103.5 miilion, or 30.7%, of the
County’s net assets represents resources that are subject to external restrictions regarding their use.
Assets included in this category include hond proceeds that can only be utilized on the projects for which
they were issued as well as cash and investments restricted for the repayment of outstanding debt. The
remaining balance of the County's net assefs are unrestricted and may be used to meet the County’s
angoing obligations. Positive balances in ali three categories are reported at December 31, 2007.
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As indicated in the following schedule, the net assets of the County decreased by $43.4 million for the
year ended December 31, 2007. The components of this change were a decrease of §47.7 million in
governmental activities and an increase of $4.3 million in businass-type activities. The components of
these changes are discussed in the following section.

Gowmmental Activilies Busmss-typa Aclivties Totats
2006 2007 2006 2007 o6 207
Rovenues
Program revenue
Charges [or services 3 45,580,742 § 45,549,510 3 153,542,201 3 188312260 3 230,924,120 § 245281782
Oparating grants and contnbaions 56,203,665 53.335,333 2,926,625 371 534 59,260,291 50,707.027
Capital grants and confriputrons 3812,728 2,773 53 - . 3,812,728 2722534
Ganeral ravwenue
Propety taxes 164,855 284 144,903 387 - - 184,855,284 141,503,387
INtgovernmanta revenues 2,263,249 2,351 607 - . 2,283,249 2391607
Inwvestment nicome 2,528,848 10,635,005 5,080,288 2985938 12.589.137 13,600,943
281,777,584 L3558 335 122,928,245 201,845 395 473.706.508 465,508 280
Expenties
Legisiative 2.250.278 2,344,823 - - 2,250,279 2344 827
Judiciai 40,051,717 ADAT2.043 - - 40,054,717 8572019
Ganerad govemment &0,240,071 64,800,964 BR0.26% 5G7, 728 5D,248, 760 05 668 B92
Public salety 73,174,108 76,045,377 - - 71,774,136 Ta046 277
Putlle works 1.493 862 1,156,521 - - 1,499 883 1,156,821
Heaith and welfare 81,220,27¢ 88,361,432 191,378,278 195851 262 272,508,649 285212694
Racreatinn and auliyre 3,056 453 2845099 {126,665 1,115,742 £,223018 3 DB M4
Interast and Jes on fong-temm detbt 3837,114 4,038,257 - . 3,837,114 4,039,257
265,778,304 311,286,791 191,204, 232 167 B34 Ta2 458,981,530 500,100,523
Increasa (decreasd) ip nct assels
bedore transiess 17,9968 260 (47,327 406) (3.274.997) 24815183 14,321 273 (43,512 243)
Nl transfars 120,524, 76 {324,74%) 18,735,094 473,118 i (789,607} 148,429
Incraase {decraass) in net assHs (2,528,504} {47 .652,155) 18,480,104 4,268,341 13,5931 806 {43.363.814)
Hed assets, baginning of yaar 265.644,184 287,117 881 97,016,497 111,476 606 366,6450.68 1 380 524,287
hat assats, and at year 3 287.117.881 § 219405526 5 113,478,806 § 117,764,947 % 380,584,287 5 JI7 230473

Governmental activities, Key components of the $47.7 miliion decrease in the net assets of the
County’s governmental activities in 2007 are as follows:

» Property tax revenue decreased by $23.0 million, or 13.9%. The change is composed of an
increase of $14.7 million in the General Fund and a decrease of $37.7 in the Revenue Sharing
Reserve Fund. These large changes were the resuilt of the completion of the shift in the fming of
the property tax levy from December to July in accordance with Public Act 357 of 2004. Public
Act 357 was enacted 1o provide a substitute funding mechanism for Staie Revenue Sharing,
which was efiminated by the State in 2004, and required that one third of the December 2604 ievy
be placed in a restricted fund for three consecutive years (2004-2006). During this time, the
property tax levy was gradually accelerated from December to July of each year. The shift was
completad in 2007; therefore none of the 2007 levy was placed in the Revenue Sharing Reserve
Fund.
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The increase of $14.7 miflion in the General Fund consists of $7.5 million attributable to

an increase in property values throughout the County and $7.2 million of revenues deferred
over the course of the past three years in conjunction with the shift in the timing of the property
tax levy as descriped previously.

» General government expenditures increased $34.6 million, or 57 3%, consisting primarily of a
$38.3 mitlion charge related to the implementation of GASB Statement No.45, "Accounting and
Financial Reporting by Employers for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions”. The
$38.3 million charge represents the amount by which the County's required condribution its
Retiree Health Care Trust Fund exceeded its actual contribution to the Retiree Heatth Care Trust
Fund.

¥ Health and welfare expenditures increased by $81 million, or 10.0% over the prior year,
consisting primarily of increases of $3.3 million in the Child Care Fund, $2.7 million in the Health
Fund and $1.8 million in the Urban County Block Grant Fund. The increase experienced in the
Child Care Fund was the result of several factors, including increased costs for salaries and
fringe benefits, educational expense, medical services and housing individuals that have been
declared wards of the State. The increase in expenditures in the Health Fund was due to an
increase in the number of vaccinations performad as well as construction of a new morgue
facility. The increase in expendittres in the Urban County Block Grant Fund was driven by a
greater number of develapment projects initiated by local units of government,

The companents of the County's governmental revenues and expenditures are presented below.

Govemments ivities Expenses By Function Govammental Activities Revenues By Source

Dther harges
acrmes-,  Legiative Othar @ for
3% \ 1% activiies - serces
Hesith and \ , _Jum:m PO 18%
welfara 13% N
2% |

General ’ II
e s ; Grants and
;t; - ey - -govermmant Property contibutions
W% taxes 24%
54%

Business-type activities. The net assets of the County's business.type activities increased
approximately $4.3 million during the year, the single largest component being a $4.7 million sumlus in
the Delinquent Tax Revolving Fund. A general weakening of the economy in Southeast Michigan
contributed to a significant increase in the number of property tax delinquencies in 2007 and the resulting
tnterest and administrative fees charged against the higher definquent balances resulted in the surplus
raported in the Delinquent Tax Revelving Fund.

A-8
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE COUNTY'S MAJOR FUNDS

Governmental funds. As previously mentioned, the focus of governmental funds is to provide information
on near-term inflows, outflows and remaining balances of spendable resources. Such information is
useful in assessing the County's ability to meet its current financing requirements. The fund balance of
governmental funds is segregated into one of three categories: reserved, designated and unreserved,
Reserved fund balance represents that portion of the net assets that may only be spent for specific
pumposes and are not available for new spending. Examples of fund balance reserves include amounts
required to pay debt service, bond proceeds that may only be spent on projects for which the bonds were
issued and amounts required to meet long-term contractual commitments and encumbrances.

Fund balance designations are established to represent that portion of net assets that are intended to be
spent for certain purposes and differ from fund balance reserves in that they can be redirected and used
for new spending if necessary. Unreserved fund balance represents the portion of net assets that is
available at year-end for new spending.

The combined ending fund batances of all gavernmental funds were $162.4 million at December 31,
2007, a decrease of $20.7 milfion over the prior year. The $20.7 million decrease consists of a $6.5
million decreass in the General Fund, a $12.3 million decrease in the Revenue Sharing Reserve Fund, a
combined increase of $1.6 million In the Special Revenue and Debt Service funds and a $3.5 million
decraase in the Capital Projects funds.

General Fund - The General Fund is the primary operating fund of the County. All revenues and
expenditures are recorded in the General Fund uniess othetwise required by statute, contractual

agreement of policy. A year-to-year comparison of General Fund revenues by scurce is presented below.

General Fund Revenue By Source

Inerease %

Source 2006 2007 {Decrease} Change

Property taxes $  126.97G.438 3 141,690,935 $ 14,720,497 11.6%
Licenses and permits 330,966 307.728 {23,237) -1.0%
Federal and State grants B.625,137 8,407,991 (217,146) -2.5%
Charges for services 30,329,637 21,571,378 {2.758,259) 8.1%
Investmeant income 5,957 464 6,591,146 533,682 10.6%
Admin charges to other funds 11,424 507 11,925,270 500,763 4.4%
Fines and forfedures 664,669 £98.321 {166,348) -19.2%
Other revenuea 67,845 2174 208,536 309.8%
Transfers from other funds 23,338,929 23 876,560 536,631 2.3%
$ 207,910,392 221346511 _S__E_:_M B8.5%

Property tax revenue increased approximately $14.7 million, or 11.6%, $7.5 millicn of which was the
result of increased property values in the County. The remaining $7.2 million pertains to a one-time
suplus which was the result of shifting the propery tax levy from December to July as discussed
previousty,
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Charges for services revenue decreased approximately $2.8 miion, or 9.1%, caused primarily by
reductions in recording fees and real estate transfer tax as a resuit of the depressed housing market.

A year-to-year comparison of General Fund expenditures by funclion is presented below.

General Fund Expenditures By Funciion

Increass %

Function 2506 2007 {Decrease) Change
Legisfative 3 2,250,279 $ 2,344 822 1 54,543 4.2%
Judicial 23,706,731 24,196,554 489,923 2.1%
General government 58,298,464 57,085,814 (302,650) 0.5%
Public; safety 62,030,713 83,860,238 1,829,525 A.0%
Heaalth and welfam 787,117 697,247 (89,870) -11.4%
Other 5,459,684 5618,750 159,086 2.9%
Capital cutiay 705,595 617,157 {8B.438) ~12.5%
Transfers to other funds 61,561,328 72 573,876 10,612,548 17.1%
5 215,198,511 3 227,904 558 $ 12,704,647 508%

The $1.8 million increase in Public Safety expenditures, representing a 3.0% increase, is a result of
increases in jail medical and salary and fringe benefit costs at the Sheriff Department.

The majority of the increase In transfers to other funds is the result of a one-time transfer of §7.2 million to
the Capital Improvement Fund that was made possibie through the recognition of revenues deferred in
2004-2006 as the coliection of property taxes was accelerated from December to July as previousiy
noted.

Revenue Sharing Reserve Fund - The Revenue Sharing Reserve Fund was established pursuant to Public
Act 257 of 2004 to serve as a substitute funding mechanism for State Revenue Sharing. Under the
provisions of Public Act 257, the collection of property taxes was accelerated over the course of three
years, whereby the County now levies 100% of its property taxes in July rather than December.
Beginning in 2004, three annual instaliments, each equal to 1/3 of the December 2004 propearty iax levy,
were recognized as revenue and placed in a restricted fund known as the Revenue Sharing Reserve
Fund. The tast instaltment of $37.7 million was placed in the Revenue Shating Reserve Fund in 2006,
Since the three installments placed in the Revenue Sharing Reserve Fund were frozen at the 2004 leve!
and properiy tax values increased in 2005 and 2006, the difference between 1/3 of those levies and the
amount deposited in the Revenue Sharing Reserve Fund each year was deferred and recognized in
2007. The Revenue Sharing Reserve Fund will transfer to the General Fund each year an amount
determined by the State of Michigan that approximates the amount of revenue sharing that wouid have
been distributed by the State i it had not been discontinued and will continue to do so until the fund
bafance is exhausted. We expect the fund to be fully depleted in 2011, The Revenue Sharing Reserve
Fund transferred $15.1 miliion to the General Fund in 2007 and earned $2.8 miliion in interest, resulting in
a deficit of $§12.3 million for fiscal 2007. The fund balance is restricted in its entirety and totaled $65.6
miflion at year-end.
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The fund balances of the County's non-major governmental funds were approximatefy $57.1 milliion at
year-end, a decrease of approximalely $1.9 million over the prior year, A decrease of $3.5 million was
experienced In the capital projects funds as consfruction continued on severat projects during the year.
Of the $57.1 million, $25.5 million is reported in the capital projects funds, ali of which is designated or
restricted for use in the consfruction, remodeling, renovation and mainfenance of new or existing facilitias.

GENERAL FUND BUGETARY HIGHLIGHTS

The budget for each fiscal year is adopted by the Board of Commissioners in December of the prior year
and may be amended from time to lime throughout the year to reflect changing operational
circumstances. A comparison of budgeted and actual revenues is presented below,

General Fund Revenus Budget and Actual By Source

Budget
Sowrca Adopted Final Actual Variance
Property taxes $ 138,580,750 $ 138,717,183 $ 141,690,935 §  1.8973.752
Licenses and psrmits 447 750 447 750 307,729 {140,021)
Faderal and State grants 8,280,629 §,280.629 8,407,991 127,362
Chargas for sarvices 28,573,608 28,657,973 27,571,378 {1.088,595)
Invastmant income 8,050,750 8,050,750 6,591,146 {1,459,604)
Admin chages to other luinds 12,457 310 12457310 11,825.270 (532,040}
Fines and forfeftures 1,006,600 1,005,600 £98,321 {308,279}
Chher revenue 40,750 40,750 277,181 236,431
Transfers fom othar funds 23,818,425 23,876,560 23,876,560 -

$ 218,236,862 § 222,535,505 $ 221,346,511 3 (1,188,994)

Property tax revenue exceeded budget because the budget did not include the portion of the tax levy
pertaining to properties eligibie for industrial facilities tax exemption certificates.

Charges for Services revenue was $1.1 millian under budget, primarily as a result of a deciine in the
housing rmarket, which resulted in lower than expected recording fees and real estate transfer tax.
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A companson of budgeted and actual expenditures is presented below,

General Fund Expenditures Budget and Actual By Lavel of Control

Budget
Level of Control Adopled Finai Achual Vanance
Salaries and fringe fenefits 5 127,934,680 $ 128,002,371 $ 118,020,509 $ 9081862
Operating 42,610,084 42,329,551 35,540,840 5,788 711
Capital cutllay 1,186,900 1,228,033 768,333 458,700
Transfers to other funda 79,348,836 86,858,422 72,573,876 14,284 546

$ 251.077,509 $ 258,418,377 $ 227,904,558 § 30,513,818

The original and final expenditure budgets of the General Fund for fiscal 2007 were $251.1 million and
$258.4 million, respectively, an increase of $7.3 million of final over originally adopted. Virtually the entire
increase in budgeted expenditures was aliributable ta the one time transfer to the Capital improvement
Fund discussed previousiy,

Cne of the hallmarks of the County's financial management over the years has been #ts conservative
budgeting. As a result, actual General Fund expenditures were approximately $30.5 million below budget
in fiscal 2007, consisting primarity of $10.0 million in the area of salaries and wages and $14.3 million in
the area of transfers to other funds,

The County budgets salaries and wages at the maximums of its varicus salary ranges to reflect the fact
that employees generaily reach maximum within four years. Minimum salaries are generally 80% of
maximum. Employses generally stari foward the lower end of the pay scale. The County also
implemented a 10 week hiring delay in 2007 as a way to address the General Fund deficit. The $10.0
million budget surplus in the area of salaries and fringe benefits can be attributed to vacant positions, the
hiring delay and the hiring of new employees at rates below the maximum salary. Actual expenditures for
salaries and fringe benefits were 92.2% of budget.

Transfers to other funds of $72.6 million were approximately $14.3 million below the budget because
budgeted transfers are maintained at conservative levels due to the unceriainty of outside revenue
sources.

in summary, General Fund expenditures exceeded revenues by $6.5 million for lhe ysar ended
December 31, 2007. Unreserved fund baiance was $39.8 million or 8.4% of the 2008 County operating
budget.
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CAPITAL ASSET AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION

Capital assets. The County categorizes its capital assets as follows: land, land improvements, buildings
and improvements, machinery, equipment and vehicles and construction in progress. At year-end, the
County's invesiment in capital assets, nef of accumulated depreciation, was $163.0 million for
governmental activities and $23.2 miilion for business-type activities.

Macomb County's Capital Assets
{n=t of accumulated depreciaiion)

Govemrnantal Avbvilies Businesy-fype Adtivities Total

2006 2007 2008 2007 2006 x07
temd $ 14154314 $ 14154314 § - & -5 1445431 & 14.154.314
Land imgrovemends 5,431,604 6,628,311 194,554 176,872 5,826,256 6,605,183
Buidings and iImprovaments 98,175,089 104,443,960 22783132 21975005 120,958,211 126,479,565
Machinary, equipmont and vehicias 14,915,268 26 844,128 1,235,891 1,084 441 15,751,182 27,928,570
Construction in progress Z7894,128 10,974.177 . - 22,894 126 10874177

5 155,170,802 § 163.043,900 $ 29,213,568 § 22.236.318 § 175,384,471 § 146,281,218

Major capifal asset activity during the year included the following:

¥» Construction was completed on the E-911 radio communication system. Approximately $0.9
million was expended in 2007 and total project cosis were approximately $13.3 million.

Construction was substantially completed an the new Public Works building. Approximately $2.8
million was expended in 2007 and total project costs are expected to be approximately $7.0
million. The building is scheduled to open in January 2008,

v

» Construction began on a new building for the 42nd Districi Count located in the City of New
Baltimore. A total of $5.1 million was spent in 2007 and the fotal project is expected fo cust $7.9
million. The project is scheduled for completion in the spring of 2008.

¥» Phase two of the Juvenile Justice Center renovation began in 2007 and a total of 1.7 million was
spent in 2007. The project is expected to cost approximately 37.1 miflion and s expected {o be
completed in 2009.

Additional information regarding the County’s capital asseis can be found in the Note 3 to the basic
financial statements.
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Long-term debt. The County's feng-term debt was $80.2 million at December 31, 2007, all of which
related to governmental activities. All outstanding obligations are backed by the full faith and credit of the
County. The components of the tota! liability are presented beiow.

Macomb County's Lang-Term Debf - Governmaental Activities

Balance New Debt Dabt Balance
Beginning of Year Issued Rétired End of Year
(General obligetion bonds 3 84,300,000 3 16,885,000 § 20,850,000 3  &0,245000

The general obligation bonds of the County are rated Aaa by Moody's Investor Service and AAA by
Standard & Poors, the highest rating awarded by each agency.

The County advance refunded $16.2 million in bonds in 2007, resulling in long-term interest savings of
$0.5 million,

State statute fimits the total amount of general obligation debt of the County to 10% of the assessed value
of all property in the County. Assessed vaiue is generally S0% of true market value. Managemend,
however, believes that the taxabie value of all property in the County is 2 mere practical and conservative
base on which {0 base the calculation of the County’s debt limit. The assessed and taxable value of all
property in the County as of December 31, 2007 was $38.3 billion and $31.9 billion, respectively.
Therefore, the County's debt limitation was $3.2 billion at year-end. The County's outstanding debt at
Decembar 31, 2007 of $80.2 miliion was well below the limit based on either assessed or taxabie value.

Additional information regarding the long-term obligations of lhe County may be found in Note 4 to the
basic financial statements. '

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR'S BUDGET AND RATES
The following factors were considered when developing the 2008 budget:

» The General Fund experienced a deficit of $8.5 million in fiscal 2007, following deficits of $7.3 million
and $9.2 rmillion in fiscal 2008 and 2005, respectively. Legacy costs associated with employee health
care and pension obligations continue to present the largest chalflenge to balancing the County
budget. Health care costs have increased at double digil rates for the past several years and this
trend is expected to continue info the foreseeable future. A 10% increase is anticipated again in
2008.

in addition, new pension benefits and stock market declines over the past several years have
significantly increased the County's funding requirement to its defined benefit pension plan. This
trend is also expected to continue for the next several years as the required employer contribution
moves claser to narmal cost. In order to address the deficit, the Board of Commissioners enacted a
continuation budget in 2008 and requested all depariments to cul their budgets even further where
possible. The County will also be requesting heaith care and pension benefit concessions of its
employees in upcoming negotiations.
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» A zero percent increase in salaries in 2008.

> Property tax revenues are expected to remain at 2007 ievels.

>  Market interest rates are expected fo remain level during 2008.

» Inflationary trends in the region compare favorably to national indices.

> Althaugh the County is facing significant budgetary challenges at this time, its financial condition

remains strong as demonstrated by the financial statements and other schedules included in this
report.

CONTACTING THE COQUNTY FINANCE DEPARTMENT

This financial report is designed to provide the citizens, taxpayers, investors, creditors and others with a
general overview of the financaes ot the County. Questions concerning any information contained in this
report or requests for additienal information should be addressed to the attention of the Finance Director
at the following address: Macomb County Finance Department, 12" Floor County Building, Mt. Clemens,
ML 48043. Requests can also be made by phone at 586-469-5250,
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Primary Govemment
Governmental Business-type Component
Activities Acthrities Totat Linits.
ASSETS
Cash and pooled kvestments $ 161,268,366 $ T0,275,727 231,544 093 % 95,2077
Recelvables:
Property laxes 11,199,346 32,669,967 43,869,313 -
Accrued interest 2,423,728 483,054 2,906,782 629,342
Trade accounts, net 12.789,447 9 445,035 22,234,482 T5T9812
Special assessments - - - 92 820000
nventories 329964 - 328,964 3.65153%
Due from other governmenis 10,372,899 696,897 11,069,786 11,456,158
Internaf balances {102,786} 102,786 - -
Due from fiduciary fitnds 1,618 - 1,518 -
Dwe from funds with diffcrent year end dates 42,301 26,643 68,044 -
Capital assets, net:
Assels being depreciated 137,616.409 23,236,318 161,952,727 683,418,033
Assets not being depreciated 25,128,491 - 25,128,491 199,417 K89
Other assets 2.836.296 1,779,117 4,415,413 2,450.217
Total assels 384,006,078 138,715,544 502,721,823 1,006,638 421
LIABILITIES
Accounls payabie and accrued labililies 9,649,782 19,743,795 29,393,577 25,710,209
Accrued wages payable 1,517 865 518,127 2,035,992 -
Acgued mmteres! payable 653,749 - 653,749 465 509
e fo other govetnments 496,537 651,875 1,148,412 -
Acerred workers compensation claims 1,600,000 - 1,000,000 16,130
Accrusd general iability clans 850,000 - 850,000 36,862
Deferred revenue 1,185,173 36,800 1,191,972 89 744,674
Long-term debt maturities due within one year 4,675,000 .- 4,675,000 4,475,000
Long-tamm iabdities:
Compensated absencas 5,025,380 - 6,025,380 1,266,604
Accrued workers compensation claims 839,542 - 839,542 137,805
Actrued general fiabiity daims 3,774 581 - 3,774 581 338.0H
Met OPEB obligation 38,332,944 - 38,332,944 649,979
Long-term debt malurities due in more than one year 75,570,000 - 75,570,000 88,345,000
Total Liabilities 144,540,553 20,950,597 165,431,150 211.186,883
NET ASSETS
Investmant in capital assets, net of related debt 116,042,257 23.236,318 139,278,575 790,015,622
Restricted for
Capital projects 15,147 580 - 15,147,080 -
Debt service 7,119,808 - 7,115,808 -
L.ong-term receivables (Block Grants) 8,575.204 - 8,575,204 -
Reverua Sharing feserve Fund 55,568,065 - 65,556,065 -
Mentat Health risk reserve - 7.048,195 7.049,185 .
Urwestricied 7.014,212 87,479,434 04 493,648 956,436,006
Totai Nel Assels b3 219,465,526 $ 117,764,947 337.230,473 3 §83,452,528

The accompenying noles ace ondegrdd past of these financml statements B4
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For the Year Ended December 31, 2007

Program Revenues

Charges for Operating Grants Capilal Grarts Net {Expense}
Functions/Programs Expenses Services and Contribitions  _and Contrbulions Revenug
Prismary govarnment
Governmental activities
Legislalive 2,344 822 - - - {(2,344,822)
Judicial 40,672,019 7,017,228 14,758,254 - (18.896,537}
Ganeral government 94,800,964 13,288,395 537,548 168,203 {80,806,768)
Public safety 76,046,377 13,863,933 1,320,644 2,555,331 {58,306,469)
Public works 1,156,821 - - - (1,156.821}
Heaith and weifara 89,361,432 12,660,061 42,661,812 - {34.039,559)
Recreation and cultura 2,845,099 118,802 57.025 - {2.668,172)
interest and tees on long-term debt 4,038,257 - - - {4,038,257)
Total governmental activities 311,265,791 46,849,519 59,336.333 272358% (202,257,405}
Busingss-type activities
Delinguent tax collections B6T.728 12,148,753 - - 11,251,025
Commurity Mental Health 174,125,662 167,342,564 371,694 - (6,411.804)
Martha 7. Berry Medical Care Facifity 21,725,800 18,608,923 - - (3.116,677)
Freedom Hill Park 1,115,742 242,423 - - {873.319
Total business-type activities 197 834,732 198,312,263 371,694 - 349,225
Total primary government $ 509,100,523 § 245281782 5 59,707.027 % 2,723.534 $ (201,408,180}
Companent Units
Pubiic Works 49,414,383 47,576,244 . - (3.838,139)
Road Commission 70,494,393 10,841,335 . 62,891,056 3,337,988
Workfurce Developmenl Boasd 25,507,055 5,020 25,474,505 . (27,530)
Total component units 3 145,415,831 $ 58422599 § 25474506 % 62991056 0% 1,472.329
The acoomparying nates ate an wtecaal ot of thesa fmancial staterments B-2



MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN

Government-Wide Statemaent of Activities (concluded)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2007

Changes in net assets
Net {expense)} revenua (from page B-2}

General revenues;

Fropeny tax
tntergoveramental revenues - unrestricted

Investment earnings

Transfers - internal achvities

Total general revanues and transfers
Change in net assets

Nel asscts, beginning of year

Net assets, end of year

Primary Government

Governrmental Busthess-Type Component
Activities Activities Tolal Units
$(202,257.405) § 849,225  ${201,408,180) § 1,472.329

141,903,387 - 141,503,387 -

2,391,607 - 2,391,607 -
10,635,005 2,965,938 13,600,943 6,915,453
(324,749} 473,178 148,429 -
154,605,250 3,439,116 158,044,366 6.915.453
{47,852,155) 4 288 341 (43.363,814) 8,387,782
267,117,681 113,476,606 380,594,287 877,064,746
$ 215,465,526 $ 117,764 947 § 337,230,473 $ 885,452,528
e .

The accompanying notes ase an intergat part of these financial statements
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MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN

Batance Sheet - Governmentsal Funds

Decamber 31, 2007
Major Funds Neonmajor Total
Genenal Revenue Sharing Goverminental Govemmentaf
Fund Reserve Fund Funds Funds
Assets
Cash and pooled investments 20,728,675 3 65,566,065 49,131,095 135,425,836
Taxes receivable 11,031,297 - 168,054 11,199,346
Accruad interest recaivable 2,423,728 - - 2423728
Accounts receivable, nat 3,748,824 - 9,022,078 12,770,302
Due from other govemmentis 3,071,189 - 6,672,529 9,743,728
Dure from govemmenta! funds 1,098,958 - - 1,008 058
Due from business-lype units 15,312 . - 15,312
Due from fiduciary funds 1.618 - - 1,618
Advances to other funds 300,000 - - 300,000
Other assets 1,981,877 - 239,717 2,221,604
Tatal Assets $ 44,404 583 $ §35,566,065 $ 65233474 3 175,201 122
Liabilities and Furid Balances
Liabllities .
Accounts payable 3,140,260 $ - 5,416,783 B.257,043
Accruest liabilities - . 735,758 735,758
Actrued compensation and benehits 1,607,300 - 10.565 1.517,865
Due to other govemments - - 496,537 496,537
Due to govermmentz! funds - - 639,080 £39,090
Defemed revenue - 1,155,473 1,155,173
Total Liabilities 4,647 560 - 8,153,806 12 804,456
Equities and Other Credits
Fund Balances
Reserved
Debt service - - 7,118,808 7,119,808
Revenue sharing - 65,566,065 - 65,566,065
Advances to otiier funds 300,000 - - 300,600
Long-tenm raceivables - - B,575.204 B.5757204
Capilsi projects - - 15, 147 980 15,147,980
Unreserved
Designatad
Subsequent year budget 5,135,933 - - 5,135,933
Capital projects - - 15,225454 15,225,454
Programs - special projects
General fund 1,153,622 - - 1,153,622
Special ravenue funds - - 5,786,909 6,786,905
Undesignated
General fund 33,164,468 - - 33.164.468
Special revenue funds - - 4,224.213 4724213
Total Fund Balances 39,754,023 65,566,085 57079568 162,389,656
Total Liabitties and Fund Balances 44,401,583 65.566,06_5_ 65233474 175,201,122

The accoimpamying nctes are an witegral pact of these Srancat stMements



MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
RECONCILIATION OF THE FUND BALANGES ON THE BALANCE SHEET OfF

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES

December 31, 2007

Total fund batancas for govemmentat funds

Amounls reported far governemntal activities in the Government-Wide Statement of Met Assels
are differeni because:

Governmenial funds report capital outiays as expendilures, However, in the statement of
activities, the cosl of those assels is capilatized and aliocated over their estimated uselul

lives.

Capital assets
tand
Land improvements
Buildings and inprovements
Machinery, equipment and vehicles
Construction in progress
Accumulated depreciation

Long-term bonded debt is not due and payable in the current penod and. therefore, is not reported
in the govemmental funds. However, bonded debt 13 recorded as long-lerm kabilities in the
Government-Wide Statement of Net Assets. (See Note 4)

Bonds issued m prior years
- Net refunding bonds issued during the currant year

_Bond principal repayments
Accruad Interest payabla on long-tern debt at year-end is not recorded in the governmental funds,
but is recorded as a Rabilily in the Statement of Net Assets

The difference between the actuat and required conlrbution o the Retiree Health Care Fund
is not recorded i the governmental funds, but is recorded as a liability in the Statement of Net Assets

Internal service funds are used by management lo charge the costs of certain activities such as
ingurance, compensated absences, workers' compensation and cenfral inventory to individual
governmental funds. The assels and fabiliies of the Internal Service Funds are included
in the governmental activities in the Government-Wide Statement of Net Assets

Net assets of govemmental acfivities reported in the Govemment-Wide Statement of Net Assets

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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$ 162,399,656

14,154,314
9,768,083
169,484 031
58,673,161
10,974 177
(103,119,453)

{84,300,000)
(695,000}
4,750,000

(653,749)

{38,332,944)

16.383,260

S2194555%



Revenues
Property taxes
Licenses and permits
Federal & State grants
QOther grants
Charges for scrvices
Invastment tncome
Charges to other funds for adrinistrative sevices
Fines and forfeitures
Othar revenue

Total Revenuas

Expendituras

Cuirent
Lagislative
Judiial
Ganeral government
Publlc safety
Public works
Health and walfare
Recreafion and cultural
Orther

Capital outiay

Deht service
Principat
lrterest and fees
Band issue costs

Total Expendifires
Excass of Revenues over {under) Expenditures
Other financing sources {uges)
issuance of debt
Transfersin
Transfars out
Bond discounts
Paymenl to refunding debt escrow agent
Total other financing sources (uses)
Net change in fund batances

Fund Balances, beginning of year

Fund Balances, end of year

The accornpanying notes are an mbegral part of these financizl statements

MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Batances - Governmenial Funds
Yeoar Ended December 31, 2007

Major Funds Nonmajor Total
Revenue Sharing Governmental Governmental
Reserve Fund Funds Funds
141620935 § - % 212452 3 141,903,387
307,729 - 1,345,377 1,653,106
8,407,991 - 55,734,866 64,142,867
- - 307,617 307,647
27,571,378 - 14,912,424 42,483,802
G501, 146 2,818,921 1,224,938 10,635,005
11,925,270 - - 11,825,270
£98,321 - 683,889 1,382,210
277481 - 1,153,220 1.430 a0
197,469,951 2,818,921 75.574,783 275,862,655
2,344,822 - - 234822
24,196,65¢ - 13,638,553 37,835,207
57,995,514 - 644,427 58,640,241
63,860,238 - 5 887,264 72.747,502
- - 1,156,821 1,156,021
897,247 - 86,493,547 87,191,154
. - 2,781,895 2,781,895
5,618,750 - - 5,618,750
817157 - 18,703,379 14,320,536
. - 4,750,000 4,750,000
- - 3411792 3,411,792
- - 113,558 113,558
155,330,662 - 140,581,636 295,012,318
42,138,269 2,818,921 {65,006,853) {20,048,663)
- - 16,895,000 16,805,080
23,876 560 - 78,697,046 102,574,406
72,573,876) {15,071,5601 (15,704,833 {103,350,269)
. . (167.725) (167,725)
. - {16.613,717) (16,613,717}
{48,697, 3186) {15.07 1,560} 53,106,571 {662,305)
(6,558,047} {12,252,639) {1,900.282) {20,710,268)
46,312,070 77.818,704 58,979.850 183.110,624
39,754,023 3 65506065 & 57079583 § 152,399,556
B-6



MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES
I FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE GOVERNMENT-WIDE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007

Nat change in fund balances - lotal governmental funds
Amounts reported for govememntal activilias in the Statement of Activities are different because:

Gavernmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures, However, in the statement of
activities, the cost of those assets is capitalized and allocated over their estimated usefud
lives.

Expenditures for capital assels
Expenditures reported as capital gutlay bui not capitalized
Current year depreciation expense

Repaymeni of debt principal is recorded as an expenditure in the governmentat funds, but
is recorded as a reduction of long-tem liabilities in the Statement of Net Assets. (See Note 4}

" The change in amounl of accrued compensated absances not recorded in the governmental funds
but is recorded as an operating expense in the Government-Wide Statement of Activities.
The change in amount of accrued interest payable is not recorded in the governmental funds,
but is recorded as interest expense in the Govemment-Wide Statement of Activities.
The change in amount of the net CPEB liability is not recorded in the governmental funds,

but is recorded as an operating expense in the Government-Wide Statamen! of Activilies.

intemal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of certain activities such as
insurance, compensated absences, workers' compensation and central inventory to individual
governmental funds. The net income (loss) atiributable to those funds is reported with
govermimental aclivities

Change in net assets of govemmentai activities reported in the Statement of Activites

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

B-7

$ (20,710.968)

19,320,536
(2,150,173}
(5,844,269}

4,750,000

109,488

(626,465}

(38,332,944)

{67,360)
_$(47,662,155)



MACOMEB COUNTYY, MICHIGAN
Statement of Net Assets
Proprietary Funds
Dacembar 31, 2007

Major Business-Type Activities - Entermprise Funds

Delinguent Tax Community Martha T Borry
Ravolving Mental Health Medical Care Facility
ASSETS
Current assels
Cash and pooled investments $ 52,196,933 17,912,561 3 166,233
Recerables
Property taxes 32669,967 - -
Arcryed interest 483,054 - -
Trade accounis, nel 5373,766 2,028,387 1,684 826G
Inventarnies - - -
Due from olher govemments - 696,897 -
Due from governmentat funds - 233,904 -
Due from business-type units - - -
Due from funds with different year end dales - 26,643 -
Other assels - 1,695,274 82843
Total cument assets 90.723,720 22,594,178 1,833,302
Noncurrent assels
Capilal assels, nel:
Assets being depreciated - 217,087 22050532
Tolal Alssars 50,723,720 22811273 23,084,434
LIABILITIES
Curerent liabilifes
Accounts payable 559,278 18,206,160 621,058
Accrued wages payable 122 458,566 18.821
Due to olher govermments 549,283 2,002 -
Due to givernmerdal funds - 115.306 -
Chlaims and judgements - - -
Deferrad revenue - 36,800 -
Total cument labilities 1,208,683 18,949,424 639,879
Moncurrent liabilities
Claims and judgements - - -
Compensated absences and accrued wages payable - - -
Advances from other furds z - .
Total noncurent Kabilities - . -
Total Liabikties 1,208,683 18,949,424 $32,879
NET ASBETS
nvestment in copital assels, net of related daebl - 217.097 22,050,522
Restricled - Mentat Haalth Risk Rescrve - 7.048,i85 -
Unrestricted surplus (deficit 89,515,037 {3.404,493) 1,284,023
Total Net Assels 3 B9.515,037 3861849 5 23,344 555
8-8

Tha accompanying nates are an integral part of these nandal statements



MACOME COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Statement of Net Assets {concluded)
Proprictary Funds
December 31, 2007

Major Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds  Governmental Activities-

Fraedom Hil} tnternal
Park Totals Service Funds
ASSETS
Cutrent assets
Cash and pooled investmeants - % 70,275,727 25,842,530
Reczivabies -
Property taxes - 32,660,967 -
Accrued interest - 483,054 -
Trade acoownts, net 350,046 9,445 035 18,545
Inventories - - 325,964
Due from olher governments - 696,887 629,171
Cue from governmerntal fonds - 233,404 -
Due from business-lype units - - 157.636
Due from lunds with different year end dates - 26,643 -
Olher assets - 1,778,117 414 607
Tolat currant assets 358,046 115,609,844 27,392,448
Naoncurrent assets
Capital aksels, net:
Asgets being depraciated 968,689 23,216,318 3,130,597
Tolal Assets 1,326,735 138,846,162 30,523,045
LIABILITIES
Cument liabilitles
Accounts payable 267,299 18,743,785 656,981
Accrued wages payable 6ia 518,127 -
Due o other governments - 551,875 -
Due to governimental funds 15,312 130,618 603,301
Claims and judgements - - 1,850,000
Deferred revarue - 36,800 -
Tota! cument liabilllies 283,229 21,081,215 3.200,282
Noncurent fiabikies
Claims and judgements . - - 4,614,122
Compensated absences and accrued wages payable - - 6,025,380
Advances from other funds - - 300,000
Telal noncurrent iiabifiies - - 10,939,503
Total Liabilities 283.229 21,081,215 14,139,785
NETASSETS
lnwvestment in capltal assets, net of refated debd 968,689 23,236,318 3,130,597
Reskicted - Mental Health Risk Reserva - 7,049,195 -
Unrestricled surplus (deficit) 74,817 87,4744 13.252 663
Total Net Assels 1,043,506 $ 117,764,847 16,383 260

B-9

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements



MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Assets
Proprietary Funds
Year Ended Decembar 3, 2007

Major Business-Type Activilies - Enterprise Fuinds

Delinguent Tax Community Mariha T Berry
Revaiving Mental Heaith Medical Cara Facility
Qperating Revenues
Charges for services $ 12,118,753 % 167,342,164  § 18,608,923
Federat and state granls - 371,694 -
Total operating revenues 12,118,753 167,713,858 18,608,823
Operating Expanses
Personal services 357,589 25 573,521 14,854,055
Contraciuaf services - 131,299,152 2.081,200
Utitities - 383,145 703,283
Repairs and mantenance - 77923 207,960
Benefils and ¢laims expanses - - -
Supplies and senices 510,139 18,725.513 2,659,337
Depreciation - 66.408 1,018,759
Total Operating Expenses 867,728 174,125,662 21,725 600
Operaling Income {Loss) 11,251,025 (6,411,804} {3.916,677)
Nonoperaling revenues
fnvestment income 2,149 219

B16.719 -
Gain on sale of assets - .

Tatal Nonoperating Revenues 2,149,219 816,719 -
tncome {loss) before Transfers 13,400,244 (5.595,085) (3,116,677
Transfers

Transfers in - 6,044,025 2,225,762
Trapsfers out {8.730.000) - S
Other {See note 5) - - 128,726
Net Transfers {8,730,000) 6.044,025 2,354,488

Increase (decrease) in nat assets 4,670,244 448,940 {762,188}
Nel assets, beginning of year 84,844,793 3,412,909 24,106,744
Net assets, end of year 5 86515037 % 3861848 & 23,344,555

The accomparrying notes gre an itagrd pan of hese Boanced statemems B-10



MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Assets {concluded)

Praprietary Funds
Year Ended December 31, 2007

Major Business-Type Activities - Enterprisa Funds

Governumental Activities-

Freedom Hill tnternal
Park Totals Service Funds
Operating Revenues
Charges for services 3 242423 198,312,263 § 9,307,918
Federal and state grants - 371,604 -
TJotal gperating revenues 242,423 108,663,357 9,307,918
Operating Expensas
Personal services 693,774 41,478,939 -
Conraciuai services - 133,380,352 -
Nilikes 145,585 1,231,999 -
Regairs and maintenance 83,355 369.238 -
Benefits and claims expenses - - 4 360,632
Supplies and services 124.3%4 20,218,383 4,853,052
Depreciation 58,654 1,154,821 517,037
Total Operaiing Expenses 1,115,742 197,834,732 9,831,621
Operating Income (Loss) {873,319} 849,225 (523,703
Nonoparating revenues
investment income - 2,965,938 -
Gain ¢n sale of asseis - - 5,229
Total Nonoperaling Reverues - 2,965,938 5,224
Icome {loss) before Transfers {873,315) 3,815,163 {516,474)
Transfars
Transfers in 804,665 9,074,452 451,114
Transfers out - {8,730,0600) -
Cther {See note 5) - 128,726 -
MNet Transfers 804,665 473,178 451,114
Increase {dewrease) in net assets (68,654) 4,288,341 {67,360)
Net assets, beginning of year 1,112,180 113,476,606 16,450,620
Net gssels, end of year § 1,043,506 117,764,047 & 16,383,2G0

I he aeccompanying notes are an intageal part of thege financial slatemerntds
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MACOME COUNTY, MICHIGAN

Combining Statement of Cash Flows - Proprietary Funds

Year Ended Decamber 31, 2007

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Cash recatved from tusiomers
Cash recelved from interfund services
Cash paymenis for inlerfund services
Cash payments to employees
Cash payments to suppliers

Net eash provided by {used in} Operating Activities

Cash Flows From Noncapital Financing Actlvities
Transdwrs in
Transfars out

MNet cash provided by {used in) Noncapital Financing Actrvibes

Cash Flows From Cagital and Related Financing Activitias
deguisition of capital assels

Net Cash used n Cantal and
Related Financing Achvibes

Cagh Flows From Inmvesting Aclivities
inleres! received an imvestments

HNet cash provided by investing Activilies
Increase (decreasa} in cash and puoled investments
Cushy and podled lnwestreents, beginning of year

Cash and pooted investmants, end of year

Raconcitiatlon of oparating income to net cash provided {used)
by aperating activities
Opesabng ncome (Joss)
Adjustments to reconciie operating ncome (losg) to net cash
provided by {(used in) opasating activilies:
Dregreciation
Intrease in taxes raceivable
Decrease fincrease) in accounts reveivabic
Decrease in inveclory
Decrease (increase} in amowts duee from other gavemments
iherease in smounts due from other funds
tncrease in olher assats
mcregse (decreases) in accounts payable
increase (cecrease) in accried omployee banefiis
incresse {decrease} In amounts due fo gther governmenls
Increase {decrease) in amounts due to cther funds
Increase in deferred mvenus
Increase in accrued daims and judgements

Net cash pravided by {used! in} Operating Activities

The atcompanymg notes gre an infegral par of Ihese fnancial gtaiemenis

Major Buslness-type Activittes - Enterprise Funds

Delinquent Tax Commurnity Martha T Barry
Revolving Mentai Health Madical Care Facillty
{795.858) % 187,210,037 19,274,432
- 115,306 -
- (260,047 (570,005)
{357.598) (23.175,755} {14.855,424)
{466. 454} {148,158.293) {5.859,538)
(1.619,950) {6.268,772) {2,010,685)
- £.044,625 2,225,762
{8.730,000) . .
(8.7 30.000) 5,044,025 2,225,752
. - (48,8443
- - {48 244)
2,107.594 616,719
2,107,591 816,719 -
(8.242.359) 581,972 166,233
60,439,202 17,320.589 .
3 52,196,823 s 17,912,561 1 166,233
11251026 % {6,411.804) {3.116.677)
88,408 1,019,759
(11,413,484} - .
(2,2100t3) {444,112 552,133
159,683 703.776 113,376
- {260,47) .
- {498,298) -
43645 327.440 (7.812)
(9) 387,766 (1.369}
649,283 {300,207 B,
- 115.306 {570,099}
. 36,500 -
(1,619.950) ¥ (6.268.772) {2.0110,685)
B-12



MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Combining Statement of Cash Flows - Proprietary Funds (concluded)
Year Ended December 31, 2007

Major Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds Governmental Activifies
Freedom Hill Internal
Park Totals Service Funds
Cash Flows from Oparating Activilics
Cash rocaived from customers L] 73,286 § 185,761,877 % 72,706
Cash received from imarfund services 15,312 120,618 9,552,293
Tash payments for interfurd services - (830,342} -
Cash payments 1o employees {695,618) {41.082,595) {1.065,224)
Cash payments in suppiiers {249,263} (154,733,654 {8.,361,747)
Nei cach provided by {used in} Operating Activilies {854,480) (10,753,896} 195,028
Gash Flows From Noncapital Financing Activities
Transfers mn 804,655 9,074,452 451,114
Transicrs out - 8,730,900} -
Net cash provided by {used in) Noncapital fFinancing Actvities B04,665 344,452 451,114
Cash Flows Fram Capital and Related Finanting Activities
Acquisition of eapital assels - {48.844) __ {1.180,002)
Nel Cash used in Capdal end
Related Financing Activilies ~ {45,644) 1,160 012}
Cash Flows From investing Activities
Interest recerved on investments 2,924,310 -
Net cash provided by twesting Aclivilies - 2,944,310 -
Increase {decrease) In cash and povled investments {49,824} {7.533.978) {510,870}
Casgh and pooled investments, beginning al year 43,824 77.808,705 26,353,400
Cash and pocled investmoents, end of year 3 - 3 70,275.727 $ 25,042,530
Reconciliation of aperatmy incoms te net cash provided {used}
by operating activitias
Operating income {loss) {frae % 849,225 (523.703)
Adiustrients t reconede operating Incame (oss) 1o net cash
provided by {used in) uperating aclivities:
Depreciation 68,654 1,154,821 57,037
Increase in taxes recsivabia - (11,413,484} -
Orecrease (iIncrease) in accunts receivable {169,137 {2.371.589) 46,469
Decrease i mventory - - 58,162
Decrease (increase} in armounts due from other govemments - 976,815 {230,684}
Increase in amounts due from other funds - {260,047) {157.638)
Increase in ather assets - {499, 798] {B5,436)
Ingrease {decrease} i accounts payable 104,045 467,318 45,189
Increase (decrease) in accrued empioyes benefils (44) 396,344 {217,496)
Increase (vecremse) in amounts due to other governments - 340076 -
Incraase (Oecrease)in amounts due to other funds 15,312 (439,477) 693,304
Decraase in defered revenue - 35,800 -
Increasa n acorued claims and judgements - - 54,825
Het cash provided by {used in) Oparating Aclwiies (854,480) § £16,753,856) 198 028

lire accompanydy mates are an inteqral pert of these heancky] statements
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MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Statemant of Fiduciary Net Assets
Fiduciary Funds
Drecember 31, 2007

Employee Ratirement and
Postretirament

Health Care Benefits Agency Funds
ASSETS
Cash and pooled investmenis 3 50,111,498 $ 17,076,353
Receivables
Accrued interest 1,365,451 -
Other 876,217 1,081,630
Total receivables 2,241 BEB 1,051,630
Invastments, at fair value
tJS Government obfigations 821,188 -
Corporate Bonds 35,441,234 -
Prafarred Stock 20,352,968
Common Stock 356,553,829 -
Foreign Stock 47,830,775 -
Limited partnerships 26,854,402 -
Mutual funds 483,348,105 -
Total investments 971,302,501
Securities lending collataral 54,126,987 -
Due from fiduciary funds 538,088 4,350,821
Qther assets - 44,890
Total Assets 1,078,320,740 $ 22,523,594
LIABILITIES
Accounts payahle 2,337,106 $ 13,462,350
Accrued compensation and benefits - 719,951
Deposits - 5,657,884
Due fo other governments - 2,681,408
Due to fiduciary funds 4,888,707 -
Obligations urder securitios lending 54,126,987 -
Total Liabtlitias 61,354,417 3 22523554
NET ASSETS
Net assets held in trust for pension
and olher postemployment benefits % 1,016,968,323

Tha accompamying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Assets

Fiduciary Funds

Year Ended December 31, 2007

ADPMTIONS
Contributions
Employer
Employee

Total contributions

Investment income

Nel appreciation in f2ir value of assets

Interest
Dividends
Securities lending

Less Investment expenses

Management and custodial fees

Securities lending agent fees
Met investment income
Total additions
DEDUCTIONS
Benefit payments
Reafunds of contributions
Administrative expense
Tota! deductions
Net increase in net assets
NET ASSETS

Beginning of year

E£nd of year

The accompamang notes are an integral part of these financal slaiements

Employee Retirement and
Postretirement
Health Care Benefits

3 33,630,027
5,366,564

38,996,581

59,814,209
4,934,364
12,936,585
390,078

78,075,236

3,369,947
117,023

74,588,266

113,584,857

51,516,569
381,008
288,500

52,197 077

61,387,780

955,578,543

$ 1,016,866,323
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MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Combining Statement of Net Assets - Component Units

December 31, 2067
Warkforca Hospital
Public Road Bevelopment Finance
Works {1) Commission (1) Board Authority Total
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 46,505,300 $ 48,096,672 $ 198,117 5 7645 $ 85207734
Receivahics:
Accrued imerest 94,579 534,371 - - 629,342
Trade accounts, nat 6,473,570 1,102,028 4214 - 7.579,812
Spedial assessments 92,820,000 - - - 92,820,000
fnventorics - 3,651,536 - - 3.651536
Dive from other govamments - 7,953,094 3,602,264 - 14,456,158
Capital assels, nal:
Assels being daprecialed 156.819.3538 526,558,675 - - 683,418,033
Assets nol being deprecrated 18,895,954 180,521,635 - - 199,417,589
Other assets - 245917 - - 2,458.217
Total assels 322008153 _ 770.918.02¢ 3.704,595 7.645 1,096,639.421
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 11,466,036 10,645,235 3,598,938 - 25,710,209
Accrued interast payable 465,509 - - - 465,509
Accrued workers compeasalion claims - 16,130 - - 16,130
Accrued general liabiity claims - 36,862 . - 35,862
Deferred ravenue 89,744 674 - - - /9,744 674
Long-term debt malurifies due within one year 4,475,000 - - - 4,475,000
Long-teem liabilities.
Compensated absences - 1,266,604 - - 1,266,604
Accrued workers commgensalion damms 137,908 - - 137.905
Accruad general fability clalms - 38,021 - - 338.021%
Net OPES obligation 649,979 - - 649,979
88,345,000

Long-term debt rmalurities due in more than one year 88,345,000 - - -

Fola! Lishilities 194,496,219 13,091,735 3,568,938 - 211,186,893

NET ASSETS
Invesiment in capifd assels, net of related debt 82,855 312 707,120,310 - - 730,015 522
Urirestricted 44 617,622 50,705,982 105,657 7,545 95,436,906
Total Net Assets $ 127 512,934 5 757,826,202 5 105857 ¥ 7.645 % 885,452,528

{1} - Year-end Seplember 30, 2007

The acoompamseg notss ane an intergat parl of these financist saeMments B-16



MACOME COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Combining Statement of Activitles - Component Units
For the Year Ended December 31, 2007

Program Revenues

Charges for Operating Grants Capital Grants Met {Expense)
Funclions/Programs Expanses Services and Contributions _and Contributions Revenue
Public Works {1}
Governmental activilies
Public works $ 45710664 $ 47575244 % $ - $ 1865583
Interes! on long-term deit 3,703,722 - - - {3,703,722)
Total public works 49,414,383 47 575,244 - - {1.838,139)
Road Commission (1)
Governmenta gelivilias
Pubiic works __ 70,494,393 10,841,335 - 62,991,056 3,337.698
Workforce Development Board
Governmental aclivities
Heafth anrd Weifare 25,507,055 5,020 25,474 505 - {27.520)
Total Component Units 3145415831 § 5B422595 § 26474505 § 62891056 0§ 1472329

{1) - Year ended September 30, 2007




MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Combining Statemeant of Activitles - Component Units {concluded)

Far the Year Ended December 31, 2007

Workdoree Hospital
Public Road Pevelopment Finance
Works (1) Commission {1} Board Authority Total
Changes in net assets
Net {expensa) revenye $ (1.83513% % 3,337,996 $ (2753 3 - 5 1472329
General revenuss:
Investmant gamings 4,981,246 1,934,207 - - 6,815,453
Change in net assels 3,143,107 5,272,205 {27.,530) - 8,387,782
Met assets, beginning of year 124,369,827 752 554.087 133,187 7.645 877,064,746
Net assets, et of year 127,512,834 $ 757826292 § 105857 3 7645  § 885452528

{1} - Year Endect Seplember 30, 2007

Tre accompanying notes are an intergal parl of these financial statements



MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
December 31, 2007

Nete 1 ~ Summary of Sianificant Accounting Policies

The basic financial statements of Macomb County (the County) have been prepared in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to governmental units. The Governmental
Accounting Standards Board {(GASB) is the accepied stendard-setting body for establishing such principles.
Al financial statements are for the year ended December 31, 2007, except as follows: the financial
staternents of the Child Care, Community Services, Friend of the Court, Health Grants, Veterans' Services
and certain MSU Extension, Prosecuting Attomey, Senior Citizens and Sheriff Special Revenue Funds, the
Community Mental Heaith Enterprise Fund, and the Road Commission and Public Works Component Units,
which are reported as of and for the year ended September 30, 2007.

Financial Reporting Enfify - Macomb County was incorporated in 1818 and includes an area of 482 square
miles with the county seat located in the city of Mt. Clemens. The County operates under an elected Board of
Commissioners (26 members). The Board of Commissioners is a legislative body that is also responsible for
the administration of the County. The Counly provides many services lo. residents, including law
enforcement, administration of juslice, community deveiopment and enrichment, parks and recreation and

human services.

As defined by generaliy accepted accounting principles established by the Governmental Accounting
Standards Boara, the financial reporting enlity consists af the primary governmen{ as well as its component
units, which are legally separate organizations for which the elected officials of the primary government are
financially accountable. Financial accountability is defined by GASEB Statement No. 14, "The Financial
Reporting Entity”, as appointment of & voling majority of the component unit's board, and either {a) the ability
of the primary government to impose its will on the component unit, or (b} the possibility that the component
unit will provide a financial benefit to or impose a financial burden on the primary government. The
accompanying financia! statements present the financial position and results of operations of Macomb County
(the primary government) and its component units. The component units discussed beltow are included in the
County’s reporting entity because of the significance of their operational or financial relationships with the
County. In conformity with generally accepted accounting principles, the financial stalements of component
uniis have been included in the financial reporting entity either as blended compenent units or as discretely

presented component units.

Blended Component Unifs — Blended component units are legally separate from the County, but are so intertwined
with the County that they are, in substance, the same as the County. They are reported as part of the County

and biended into the appropriate funds.

The Macomb County Criminal Justice Building Authority {MCCJBA} is governed by a three-member
board appointed by the County’s Board of Commissioners. Although legally separate from the County, the
MCCJUBA is reported as if it were part of the primary government because its sole purpose is to finance and

construct cerain County Buitdings.

The Macomb County Building Authority is govemed by a seven-member board appointed by the County
Board of Commissioners. Although legalty separate from the County, the Building Authority is presented as a
blended component unit because its sole purpose is to finance and consruct certain County Buildings.,
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MACOME COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Notes to Basic Financial Statements {continued)
December 31, 2007

Note 1 — Summary of Significant Accounting Pelicies (continued)

Blended Component Units (conciuded) -

The Macomb County Employee’s Retirement System (the “System”} is govemned by a seven-member
board. Although it is legally separate from the County, the System is reported as if it were part of the primary
government because its sole purpose is to administer the Macomb County Employees’ Retirement System.

The Macomb County Retiree Heaith Care Board consists of five members of the Board of Commissioners,
the County Treasurer and the County Finance Director. Although legally separate from the County, the Board
is reported as if it were parl of the County since its sole purpose is to administer the Macomb County Reliree

Health Carce Plan and Trust.

Drscretely Presented Component Unifs

The Macomb/St. Clair Workforce Development Board (Michigan Workst) is governed by a separate board
appointed by the County Board of Commissioners.  Michigan Works! receives federal funds under the Job
Training Partnership Act to operate employsaent and training programs that lead to unsubsidized empioyment
for unskifed adults and youth. its activilies are included in the County’s financial statements as the County is
financially responsible for the enfity and the exclusion of such activities would be misleading to the County's
financial statements. Separate independently audited financial statements of Michigan Works! are not

prepared.

The Macomb County Road Commission is governed by a separate board appainted by the County Board
of Commissioners. The Road Cemmission constructs, operates and maintains primary and local roads within
the County. The Road Commission’s activitios are included in the County’s financial statements as the
exclusion of such activiies would be misleading to the financial statements. Complete financial staternents of
the Road Commission can be obtained from the Road Commission adminisirative offices, 156 Maliow St

P. 0. Box 2347, ML Clemans, M{, 48046-2347.

The Drainage Districts are governed by separate boards composed of the Public Works Commissioner, the
Chair of the County Board of Commissioners and Chair of the Finance Committee of the Board of
Commissicners. Each Drainage District is a separate legai entity with the power 1o contract, sue and be sued
and hald, dispose of and manage reaf property. The primary function of the Drainage Districts is to direct the
construction and mainienance of draing, sewers and water supply systems within the County. The activities
of the Drainage Districts are included in the County's financial statements as the exclusion of these activities
would be misleading. Separate independently audited financial statements of the Drainage Districts are not

prepared.

The County of Macomb Hospital Finance Authorlty is govemed by a five-member board appointed by the
Macomb County Board of Commissioners, The Authority was created pursuant to Public Act 38 of 1969 for
the purpose of providing hospitats within the County the opportunity to finance capital projects at favorable
interest rates. Public Act 38 alfows hospitals to finance capital projects through the Authority, which enjoys
the County's excellent credil rating.  Separate independenlly audited financial statements of the Hospital

Finance Authority are not prepared.

B-20



MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Notes to Basic Financial Statements {continued}
December 31, 2007

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies {continued)

Basic (Government-Wide) and Fund Financial Statemerts-

The activities of the County are categorized as either governmental or business-type in both the government-
wlde and fund financial statemenis. The majority of the County’s activities are governmental activities and are
supported primarily by property taxes, charges for services and intergovernmental revenues while business-

type activities are supported by fees and charges for services.

For the most part, the effect of inter-fund activity has been eliminated from these statements. However, inter-
fund aclivity between governmental aclivities and business-type aclivities has not been eliminated so as to
not distort the direct costs and program revenues of the various functions.

The basic {government-wide) financial statements repori information on the County as a whole. These
stalements focus on the sustainability of the County as an entity and the change in aggregate financial
position resulting from the activities of the fiscal period and consist of the Sfatement of Net Assets and the

Statement of Activitles.

The Statement of Net Assels presents information on all of the assets and liabilities of the County, with the
difference between the two reported as net assels. Net assets are classified into one of three categories for

accounting and financial reporting purposes:

¥ invested in capital assets, net of related debt. This category represents the cost of the County's capital
assets, net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by any outstanding debt used to acquire those

assels.

> Restricted. Assets are considered restricted when conslraints are placed on their use by external
sources such as creditors and grantors, of imposed by statute.

> Unrestricted. Net assets that do not meet the definition of the two preceding calegories are considered
unrestricted and can be used for new spending. Designations are ofien placed on unrestricted nel assets
to indicate that internal restrictions hiave been placed upon their use. However, designations differ from
restrictions in that they may be subsequently removed or modified by management or the Board of

Commissionars.

The Statement of Activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function are
offset by program revenues. Program revenues are segregated into three categories: charges for services,
operating grants and capital grants. Charges for services are those revenues genefated from charges to
customers or applicants who purchase, use or directly benefit from the goods and services provided by a
given function or segment. Operating and capital grants are those restricted to meeling the operational or
capital requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes and other revenues not specifically
associated with a particular program are reporied as general revenues in the Statermnent of Activities,
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MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Notes to Basic Financial Statements (continued)
December 31, 2007

Naote 1 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies {continuad)

Basic {Government-Wide) and Fund Financial Statements {continued)-

Fund financial statements report information at the individual fund level and are, in substance, very similar
to the financial statements presented in the previous financial reporting model. The focus of the fund financial
statements is on the major funds of both governmental and business-type activities. Major individual
governmental and proprietary funds are reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements. Non-
major funds are conselidated inte a single column within each fund type in the basic financial statemenis and
are detailed in the supplementary information. Funds are classified as govemmental, proprietary or fiduciary,
The fiduciary funds are included in the fund financial statements but are excluded from the government-wide
financial statements since these assets are being held for the benefit of third parties and are not available o

support the activilies or obligations of the County.

The County reports the following major governmental funds:

» The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the County. It accounts for all inancial resources except
those required to be accounted for in another fund.

» Thwe Revenue Sharing Reserve Fund is required by the State of Michigan and accounts for property tax
collections that serve as a substitute for Stale revenue sharing payments. This funding mechanism
invoives a gradua! shif in the collection of County property taxes from December to July of each year.

The County reports the following major enterprise funds:

» The Delinquent Tax Revolving Fupd accounts for the County’s annual purchase of delinquent real
property taxes from each of the local taxing jurisdictions in the County and their subsequent coliection.
I addition, the operations of the personal property tax collecfion division of the Treasurer's Office are

reporied here,

> The Commumity Mental Health Fund accounts for the aclivities of delivering an array of mental health
services to County residents.

» The Martha T. Berry Medical Cere Facllity accounis for the activities of delivering fong-term nursing care
to County residents.

> The Freedom Hill Park fund accounts for the operations of the Freedom Hill County Park.

Financial information regarding the County’s Intemnal Service Funds is presenled in summary form as part of
the proprietary fund financial statements. Since the principal users of the services of these funds are the
County's governmental acfivities, the financial statements of the internal service funds are consolidated into
the governmentai activilies in the entity-wide financiat statements. Surpluses or deficits of the internal service
funds are allocated back to the governmental activities within the govemment-wide financial statements.
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MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Notes to Basic Financial Statements {continued}
December 31, 2007

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies [continued)

Basis of Prasentation - Fund Accounting {concluded) - The accounis of the County are organized on the basis of
funds, each of which is considered a separate accounfing entity. The operations of each fund are accounted
for with 2 separate set af self-balancing accounts that comprise its assets, liabilities, fund equity, revenues
and expenditures, or expenses as appropriate. Government rescurces are allocated to and accounted for in
individual funds based upon the purpose for which they are to be spent and the means by which spending
activities are controlled. The funds of the County are classified into three broad categories: governmental,

proprietary and fiduciary.

Governmenial Funds

General Fund - The General Fund is the generai operating fund of the County. It is used to account for all
financial resources except those required to be accounted for in other funds.,

Special Reverue Funds - Special revenue funds are used to acceunt for the proceeds of specific revenue sources
{other than expendable trusts or major capitat projects) that are legally restricted to expenditure for specific

pUIPOSES.

Debt Sarvice Funds — Debt service funds are used to accouni for the accumulation of resources fof, and the
payment of, principal, interest and related cosis of general long-term debt not being accounted for in

proprietary funds.

Capital Projects Funds - Capital prajects funds are used to account for the acquisilion, consiruction or renovation
of major capital facilities other than those accounted for in proprietary funds.

Proprietary Funds

internal Service Funds ~ Infernal services funds are used to account for goods and services provided io other
depariments and governmenial agencies on a costreimbursement basis. The County ulilizes separate
internal service funds to account for compensated absences, workers’ compensation insurance, liability

insurance and ceniral services such as inventory and telephone.

Enfeprise Funds - Enterprise funds are used fo account for the activities of the County's businass-type
activities. The operations of lhese funds are financed primarily through user fees and are intended to recaver

the cost of services provided,

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating iters.  Operating
revenues and expenses generally result from providing goods and services in connection with the principal
ongeing operations of any pariicular proprietary fund. Operating expenses for proprietary funds inciude cost
of sales and services, administrative expenses and depreciation of capital assets. Revenues and expenses
not meeting this definition are reporled as non-operating revenues and expenses.
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MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Notes to Basic Financial Statements (continued)
December 31, 2007

Note 1 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies {continued)

Fiduciary Funds

Employees’ Reliremant Fund — The Employees’ Retirement Fund is used to account for the accumulation of
resourcas for pension benefit payments to qualified employees.

Retiree Health Care Trust Fund — The Refiree Health Care Trusl Fund is used to account for the accumulation of
resources to provide health care benefits to County retirees.

Aqency Funds — Trust and agency funds are used to account for assets held by the County in a trusiee capacity
or as an agent for individuals, private organizations, other governments and/or other funds. The County
reports the following agency funds: general agency for items such as court fees coliected and passed
through to the State of Michigan, payroll and benefits for employee withholdings such as garmishments and
union dues and miscellaneous agency, which is used to account for monies such as library penal fines.

Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounling - The government-wide financial statements as well as the financial
statements of the proprietary funds end pension trust funds are accounted for using the economic resaurces
measuremeni facus and the full accrual basis of accounting. Their revenues are recognized when they are
earned and their expenses are recognized when they are incurred without regard to the receipt or payment of
cash or iis equivalent. Agency funds do not have a measurement focus since they report only assets and
liabilities and also use the accrual basis of accounting to recognize receivables and payables.

The governmental fund financial statements are prepared using the current financial resources measurement
foous and the modified accrnual basis of accounting. Revenues of governmental funds are recognized when
they become both measurable and available. "Measurabie” means that the amount of the transaction can be
determined and “available” means collectible within the curent period or soon enough thereafter to be used to
pay liabllilies of the current period. For this purpose, the County considers revenues to be availabla if they

are collected within 60 days of year-end.

Property taxes are recognized as revenue in the period for which they are fevied. Federal grants, state
distributions and grants and interest eamed are recognized as revenue in the period they become both
measurable and available. Special assessments are recognized as revenues only to the extent that individual
instaliments are due within one year. Licenses and permits, fines and forfeilures and other revenues are
recorded when received in cash because they are generally not measurable until actually received.
Expenditures are generally recognized under the modified accruat basis of accounting when the related fund
liability is incurred, with the exception of principal and interest an general fong-term debt, which is recognized
when due. The majority of the funds of the County are acceunted for using the modified accnial basis of
aggounting. Because the governmental fund financial staternents are presentled on a differenl measurement
focus and basis of accounling than the governmeni-wide financial statements, a reconciliation is provided
after each govemmenial fund financial statement that briefly expiains the adjustments necessary to reconcile
the fund financial statements to the government-wide financial statements.
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MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Notes to Basic Financial Statements (continued)
December 31, 2007

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies {continued)

Inventeries - Inveritories consist of expendable items held for consumption and are valued at cost using Lhe first-
in, first-out method. The expenditure related to ulilization of inventory items is recorded at the time individual

iterns are consumed.

Other Assets - Other assels represent deposils and prepaid expenses.

Budgetary Accounting ~  Prior to October 1, the County Finance Director submits fo the Board of Commissioners
a proposed operating budget for the year commencing January 1. The annual operating hudget includes
proposed expendilures and the means of financing them for the General Fund, Revenue Sharing Reserve
Fund, Friend of the Couwrt, Health, County Library, Social Services, Community Services Agency, Senior
Citizens Services and Child Care Special Revenue Funds as well as the Martha T, Berry, Community Mental
Health and Parks business-type aclivilies. For those Special Revenue Funds and component unifs without
annual operating budgets (Emergency Management Grants, Employment and Training Fund, Veterans® Trust
Fund, MSU Extension Grants, COMET, Sheriff Grants, Urban County Block Grant, Prosecuting Altorney
Grants, Health Grants, Other Special Revenue Funds and Michigan Works!), legal authorization for spending
is obtained through approval of the Board of Commissioners ar other appropriate authoritative body.
Simitarly, budgetary authorization for Debt Service and Capitat Projects Funds is provided by Board approval
of bond ordinances, grant agreements, construction contracts and special assessment rofis. A public hearing
is conducted to obtain laxpayer comments and the budget is legally enacted through passage of a resolution
by the Board of Commissioners no later than December 31,

Fommal budgetary integration is employed as a management conirol device during the year for all funds.
Expenditures may not legally exceed budgeted appropriations at the function and object level within an
individual depariment. Management cannot amend the enacted budget without the consent of the Finance
Committee of the Board of Commissioners. The Finance Cammiitee is authorized to transfer budgeted
amounts within the iegal levels of budgetary control. Any revisions that alter the total expenditures of any
tegat level of budgetary control must be approved by the Board of Commissioners. During the year,
supplemental budgetary appropriations were not significan! in refation to the original appropriations as
adopied. Unexpended appropriations lapse al year-end. Encumbrances open at year-end are re-
appropriated in the following year. Budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted
accounting principles, Budgeted amounts, as presénted in the financial statements, represent final budget
authorization, including all amendments approved during the year.



MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Notes to Basic Fimancial Statements (continued)
December 31, 2007

Note 1 — summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Capilai Assefs - Capital assets of the primary governmeni, including land, fand improvements, buildings,
equipment and vehicles, are reported in the govemment-wide financial statements and the applicable
proprietary fund financial stalements. Capital assets ulilized for governmental aclivities are only capitalized in
the government-wide financial statermnents and are fully expended in the govemnmental funds. Capital assets
of the component units, including infrastructure assets such as roads, bridges and drains, are reported in the
Public Works and Road Commission Component Units. The County capitalizes assets whose inifial purchase
price equals or exceeds $5,000 and whose estimated useful {ife exceeds one year. The Road Commission
capitalizes assets whose initial cost equals or exceeds $1,000 and estimated useful fife exceeds one year.
Captital assets are valued af historical cost or estimated historical cost. Donaied properties are recorded at

fair market vatue at the date of donation.

Depreciation of all exhaustible capital assets is afiocated against the various functions in the Statement of
Activities with accumulated depreciation reflecied in the Statement of Net Assets. Depreciation has been
provided over the following estimated useful iives using the straight-ine method: land improvements - 10-20
years, buildings and improvements — 25-50 years, equipment - 3-20 years, vehicles - § years and

infrastructure 8-5¢ years.

Compansated Absences - Gounly employees eam vacalion and sick leave benefils based on fength of service.
Both fully vest upon completion of a probalionary period of six months. Upon separation from service,
employees are paid accumulated vacation and sick pay based upon the nature of separation {death,
retirernent or termination).  Certain fimitations have been placed on the number of hours of vacation and sick
ieave that may be accumulated and camied over for payment at separation of service. Unused hours
exceeding these lirnitations are forfeited. Accumulated unpaid vacation, sick pay and other employee benefit
Hiabilities have been accrued in the Compensated Absences Internai Service Fund,

Encumbrances - Encurnbrance accounting, under which purchase orders, confracts and other commitments for
the expenditure of monies are recorded in order fo reserve that portion of the applicable appropriation, is
employed as an extension of format budgetary integration in the General Fund and Special Revenue Funds.
Encumbrances outstanding at year-end are reported as reserves of fund balances since they do nol
consfitule expenditures or liabilities. In addition, the encumbrances cutstanding at year-end are re-

appropriated and spenl under authorization of a new budget,

Property Taxes - The County property tax is levied July 1 of each year based on the taxable value of property as
of the preceding December 31.  Taxes are billed and collected for the County by 1he local units within the
County and are payable in one installment no later than February 28 of the following vear, st which tims they
become delinquent and subject to penalty. Taxable value is established annually by the local units, accepled
by the County and equalized by the State of Michigan to approximate 50% of market value (SEV). The
annual increase in taxable value is limited by State statute to the rate of inflation or 5%, whichever is less.
Taxable value reverts o SEV when a property is sold or when SEV drops below taxable value. The taxable
value of real and personal property in Macomb County for the July 1, 2007 levy (calendar 2007 revenue) was
$31.862,669,926. The County operaling tax rate for the 2007 levy was 4.20 mills,

B-26



MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Notes to Basic Financial Statements {continued}
December 31, 2007

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies {concluded)

Properiy Taxes {concluded) ~ The State eliminated State Revenue Sharing in 2004 and enacted Public Act 357 to
provide for a gradual shift in County tax levies from December to July to serve as a substilute funding
mechanism for Stale Revenua Sharing. The graduail shift takes place over a three year period as follows: in
2005, one-third of the taxes were levied on July 1, and two-thirds on December 1; in 2006, two-thirds of the
taxes were lavied on July 1 and one thisd on December 1 and 100% of the taxes were levied on July 1

beginning in 2007 and each year thereatfter.

The County, through its Delinquent Tax Revolving Fund, purchases annually fram the municipalities within the
County, at face value, the delinquent real property {axes receivable, as certified to the County as not collected
as of March 1. The Delinquent Tax Revolving Fund is self-supporling at this time. Collection of these
delinguent property taxes will be used to purchase future definquent real property taxes from municipalifies

within the County.

Use of Estimates — The preparation of financial statements, in conformity with generally accepled accounting
principles, reguires management to make significant estinates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, and disclosures of contingent assels and l@abilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Aciuat results

could differ from such estimate_&

Application of FASB Pronouncements - The County and its component unils apply all applicable pronouncements of
the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued prior to December 1, 1988 in accounting for their
proprietary operations {excluding internal service funds}, unfess ifiose pronouncements conflict with guidance
issued by the Govemmental Accounting Standards Board on or after thal date, as prescribed by GASB
Statement No. 20. Governments also have the option of following private-sector guidance issued subsequent
to December 1, 1989, subject 1o the same iimitation. The County has elected not te do so and follow only
guidance issued by the GASB subsequent December 1, 1989,

New GASB Propouncements - The County adopted GASB Statement No. 45, “Accounting and Financiat Reporting
by tmployers for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensiors”™ in 2007, Staltement No. 45 reguires—
employers to recognize the cost qf providing retiree health care benefits over the working life of the employee

rather than at the time heaith care premniums are paid.

Note 2 - Deposits and Investments

Primary Government Deposits and Invesiments - The County maintains a cash and investment pool that is
available for use by all funds, except the Pension Trust Fund and the Retiree Health Care Trust Fund. In
addition io their participation in the pool, certain funds also maintain separate investment accounts, consisting
primarily of certificates of deposit and money market accounts. Each fund’s portion of the pooi as wet as any
amounts in separate accounts are reported as “Cash and Pooled Investments®. The Board of Commissioners
adopts a depository resolution, inchuding a list of authorized institutions, each year as recommended by the

County Treasurer,
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Notes to Basic Financial Statements (continued)
December 31, 2007

MNote 2 - Deposits and Investments (continued)

Primary Government Deposits and investmems {continued) —

The provisions of the depository resolution are as foilows:

> Certificates of deposit must be with institutions with localions in the State of Michigan, shall not
exceed 75% of the portfolio and the amount with any one inskitution may not exceed 25% of the tofal

portfolio.

¥ Commerciat paper must be rated A-1 by Standard & Poors and P-1 by Moodys and may not exceed

75% of the lotal portfolio.

> Bankers acceplances with any one instifulion may not exceed 20% of the tolal portfolio,

¥ Govemnment investment pools may not exceed 50% of the total portfolio.

» The total of deposits and investments with ahy one institubion may not exceed 50% of the
capitalization of that institution. :

The deposils and invesiments of the primary govermment at December 31, 2007 are presenied below,

Cash an hand
Bark and money market accounts
Certificates of deposit

Subtotat - deposhts

Commercial paper
US Treasury securities

Sudtolat - investrents

Total deposits and invastments
Timing effect of differen) year ands

Amount reporied al December 31, 2007

Amount reported in primary govemment
Amount reported in agency funds

Pearcent Ratings
Amount of Total S&P Moodys
$ 61,75¢ 0.02% Not Rated Nat Rated
26,848,550 10.85% Not Rated Not Rated
170,769,870 69.02% Not Rated Not Rated
197,680,210 79.89%
44 587,463 18.02% A-1 P-1
5,163,420 2.09% AMA AAA
49,730,883 20.11%
247 411,093 100.00%
r—e—
1,209,253

17,676,363

248,620,446

231,544,093

248,620,446
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Note 2 — Deposits and Investments [continued)}

Primary Govermnment Deposits and Investments {continued) -

Dsposits - The deposits of the primary government are subject to custodial credit risk, which is the risk that the
deposits may not be returned in the event of a bank failure. The custodial credit risk assumed by the County
is measured by categorizing deposits in one of three categories: 1) insured or collateralized with securities
held by the County or its agent in the County's name, 2) collateralized with securities heid by the counter
party's trusf department or agent in the County's name and 3} uninsured and uncollateralized.

At ysar-end, the book value of the depasits of the primary government was $147,680,210, with corresponding
bank batances of 203,311,129, Qualifying deposits are insured by the FDIC up to $100,000. Of the bank
batances of the primary government, $800,000 was insured and the remaining $202,511,129 was uninsured
and uncoliateralized. The County beligves that it is impractical to insure all deposits given the size of the
portiolio and the limils of nsurance established by the FDIC. As a result, the County evaluates each
institution with which it deposits funds and assesses the level of risk associaled with each institution and

adjusts its deposits accordingly.

Invesiments - Investments of the primary government are subject o various types of risks as defined below in
accordance with GASB Statement No. 40: "

> Custodial Credit Risk exists when securifies are uninsured. unregistered or held by a counterparty or its
agent but not in the government’s name. Al invesiments of the primary government ara held in the
name of the County and are evidenced by a safekeeping receipt and, therefore, are not exposed to

custodial credit risk.

¥ Credit Risk is a measure of the creditworthiness of the issuers of the instruments being heid and
represents the risk that the issuer or other countyparty to an investment will not fulfilf its obligations.
Statutes of the State of Michigan authorize the County to invest in the following instruments:
obligations of the U.S, Treasury and its agencies and instrumentalities, commercial paper rated within
the two highest classificalions established by not less than two standard rating services, bankers’
acceptances, investment pools of the Treasurer of the State of Michigan, and repurchase
agreements. At year-end, alf of the commercial paper held by the County was rated A-1 by Standard
& Poors and P-1 by Moody’s lavestor Service. In addition, the entire portfolio of investments issued
by the United States Treasury or agencies of he United States were rated AAA by Standard & Poors

and Aaa by Moody's.

> Concentration of Credif Risk is the risk of Joss measured by the magnitude of the County's investment in
a single issuer. As defined by GASB Statement NO. 40, the County is exposed to concentrafion of
credit risk if more that 5% of its portfolio is invested in instrurments issued by a singfe issuer. Af year-
end, the” County held $44,567,463 of commercial paper. Of this amount, instruments issued by
Morgan Staniey {otaled $21.560,613, or 8.6% of the total portfofio. No other investments exceeded
the 5% threshold.
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Note 2 - Deposits and Investments {continued)

Primary Government Deposits and Investmernts {concluded) —

> Interest Rala Risk is ihe risk that the fak value of the County’s investments will be adversely affected by
changes in market interest rates and is measured primarily by average days to maturity. Although the
County investment policy does not limit investment maturities as a means of limiting its exposure to
interesl rate risk, the County manages this risk by purchasing a mix of short and longer term
investments. Information regarding the County's exposure to interest ralte risk is presented below:

Fair Value
Maturities Commercial Percent of
{Yaars) Us Treasury U5 Agency Paper Total Total
tesy than b3 554,005 $ - $ 44,567,463 § 45221468 90.93%
1.5 3,345,373 - - 3,345373 6.73%
6-10 1,164,042 - - 1,164,042 2.34%
3 5183420 $_—__ T 44567463 3§ 49730,883 M

Component Unit Deposits and Invesiments —

Deposits - The deposits of the component units are subject to same custodial credit risk described previously
in relation to the deposits of the primary govemment. The compeonent unils do not participate in ihe
invastment pool of the primary government and their portfolios consist entirely of bank accounts and
certificales of deposit. The book vatue of the deposits of the componant units was $95,207,734 at year-end,
with corresponding bank balances of $98,278,031. Of the bank batance, $1,400,600 was insured and the

remaining $96,878,031 was uninsured and uncolfateralized.

Retiree Health Care Trust Fund Investments -- The investments of the Retiree Health Care Trust Fund {the “Fund”)
are held in a bank-adrministered trust fund. A summary of the investments of the Reiiree Health Care Trust
Fund at December 31, 2007 are presented below:

Parcent

Investiment Type Arnourt of Total
Cash and pooied inveshnents § 1,821,820 1.95%
Equity Mutual Funds 74176522 53.45%
Bond Mutual Funds 23,238,786 19.88%
Foreign Stock 16,934,935 14.49%
Commen Stock 732,354 0.63%
T 116,904,417 100.00%
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Note 2 — Deposits and investments {continued)

Retiree Health Care Trust Fund Deposits and Investments fcostinued)-

Investments of the Retiree Health Care Trust Fund are subjecl to various lypes of risks as defined beiow in
accordance with GASB Statement No. 40:

» Custodial Credit Risk exists when securities are uninsured, unregistered or held by a counterparty or its
agent but not in the government's name. All invesiments of the Retirece Health Care Trust Fund are
held in frust by a third parly institution in the name of the Fund and are, therefore, are not exposed to

custodial credif risk.

» Credit Risk is a measure of the creditworthiness of the issuers of the instruments being beld and
represents the risk that the issuer or olher counierparty to an investment will not fulfilf its obligations.
Siatutes of the State of Michigan authorize the Retiree Health Care Trust Fund to invest in the
following instruments: obligations of the U.S. Treaswry and its agencies and wnstrumenialities,
commercial paper rated within the two highest classifications established by not less than two
standard rating services, hankers' acceplances, investment pools of the Treasurer of the State of
Michigan, repurchase agreements and corporate bonds rated in the top four major grades as
determined by at least two national rafings agencies. At December 31, 2007, the Fund's investments
in debt securities were rated by Standard & Poors as follows:

Percent of
Quality Raling Us Treasury US Agency Corporale Total Toltal
AAA $ 5,268,443 $ 11,433,483 s 2021774 $ 18753700 80 70%
AA - - 1,324,611 1,324,611 5.70%
A - - 1,673,133 1,673,133 7.20%
BAA - - 1,487,282 1,487,282 6.40%

§ 5208443 $ 11,433,483 $ 6,506,860 5 23.238,786 109.06%

> Concentration of Credit Risk is the risk of loss measured by the magnitude of investrments in a single
issuer. As defined by GASB Statement NQ. 40, the County is exposed {0 concentration of credit risk if
more that 5% of its portfolic is invested in instruments issued by a single issuer. investments in
instruments issued by the US Govemment, as well as those held in mutual funds and investment
pools are exempt from this requirement. None of the investments in common or foreign stock
exceeded the 5% threshold at December 31, 2007,
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MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Notes to Basic Financial Statements {continued)
December 31, 2007

Refiree Health Care Trust Fund Deposits and investments (concluded)--

¥ Interest Rate Risk Is the risk that the fair value of invesiments in debt seturities will be adversely
affected by changes in market interest rates and is measured primarily by average days to maturity.
The entire porticlio of debt securiies of the Reliree Heaith Care Trust Fund is held in one bond index
mutual fund that consists of a mix of corporate, US Treasury and US Agency securities. Therefore,
lhe information regarding the Fund's exposure to interest rale risk is presenied for the mutual fund as

a whole:
Maturities Fair Value Percent of
{Years) US Treasury US Agency Corparate Total Total
1-5 5 2,866,458 $ B,135,514 § 3520211 $ 12572183 S4.10%
&10 1,907,439 4,116,054 2,342,470 8,365,963 36.00%
11 or more 524,546 1,131,915 644,179 2,300,640 9.90%

$ 5,288,443 § 11433483 § 6,506,850 $  23,238785 100.00%

Employees’ Retirement System Deposits and Investmenis - A summary of the investments of the System at
December 31, 2007 is presented below:

Percent

nvestment Type Amourt of Total
Cash and pooied investments $ 48,289,678 5.34%
Praferrad stock 20,352 968 2 25%
Common stack 355,821,475 39.34%
Foreign slock 30,865,840 3.42%
Limlted patnerships 26,854,402 2.97%
Forelgn governmant bonds 521,188 0.10%
Corporate bonds 35441,234 3.92%
Mutuai funds 385,932,797 42.66%
$ 804,509,582 100.00%

Daposits - The depaosits of the Macomb County Employee’s Retirement System (the “System”) are subject to
custodial credit risk, which is the risk lhat the deposits may not be returned in the event of a bank fallure. The
custodial credit risk assumed by the System is measured by categorizing deposits as previously described.
Al year-end, the book value of the deposits of the System was $48,289,678, with corresponding bank
balances of $48,429,588. Qualifying deposits are insured by the FOIC up to $100,000. Of the bank balances
of the System, $200,000 was insured and the remaining $48,229,558 was uninsured and uncollateralized.
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Notes to Basic Financial Statements (continued)
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Note 2 - Deposits and investments [confinued)

Employees’ Retirement System Deposits and Investments [continued) -

invesiments —~ The invastmaents of the System are subject to various types of risks as defined bejow in
accordance with GASE Statement No. 40:

» Custodial Credit Risk exists when securities are uninsured, unregisterad or held by a counterparty or ils
agent but not in the governmenl’s name. All investments of the System are hekd in trust by a third
party institution in the name of the System and are, therefore, are not exposed to custodial credit risk.

» Credit Risk is a measure of the creditworthiness of the issuers of the instruments being beld and
represents the nisk that the issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligations.
Statutes of the State of Michigan authorize the System to invest in the following instruments:
obligations of the U.S. Treasury and its agencies and instrumentalities, commercial paper rated within
the two highest classifications eslablished by not less than two standard rating services, bankers’
acceptances, investmen! pools of the Treasurer of the Slate of Michigan, repurchase agreements,
corparate siocks and corporate bonds rated in the fop four major grades as determined by at least
two national ratings agencies. Corporate stock cannot exceed sixty five percent (65%) of the total
portfolio. The System alsa participates in securilies lending transactions (see Note 7).

At Becemnber 31, 2007, the Sysiem's investments in debt securities were rated by Standard & Poors

as follows:
Foreign Percent of

Quality Rating Governments Corporate Total Total
AAA k4 921,188 5 868,310 $ 1,789,498 4.92%
AA - 858,310 868,310 2.39%
A - 9,746,339 9,746,339 26.80%
BBB - 14,672,671 14,672,671 40.35%
BB - 5,840,158 6,840,158 18.81%
B - 2445440 2,445,448 6.73%

4 921,188 § 35441204 § 36,3652422 100.00%
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Notes to Basic Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2007

Nete 2 - Deposits and lnvestments [conciuded)

Employees’ Retirement System Deposits and investments [concluded) -

» [Interest Rate Risk is the risk ihat the fair value of investments in debt securities will be adversely
affected by changes in market interest rates and is measured primarily by average days to maturity.
A summary of the maturitias of the System’s debt securities at December 31, 2007 were as follows:

Fair Value
Maturities Forelgn Percent of
{Years) Governments Corporate Total Total
-5 $ § 7.134333 $ 7,134333 19.62%
510 3,382,907 3,382,907 2.20%
11 or more §21,188 24,523,994 25,845,182 71.08%
3 921,188 5 3544124 $ 35362422 106.00%

Investrments in non-marketable limited parinerships are generally carried at the fair vafue reported by the
management of the investment parinerships as of December 31. The County believes that the carrying vatue
of these investments is a reasonable estimate of the fair value as of December 31, 2007. Because these
investments are not readily marketable, the carrying value may differ from the value that would have been
reported had a’ready market for these investments existed. - The carrying vatue of such investments was
$26,854,402 at December 31, 2007 and constituted 2.97% of the investment portfolio of the System,
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Note 3 - Capital Assets

The following is a summary of capital asse! activity of the governmental activilies of the County for the year
ended December 31, 2007:

Beginning Ending
Balance increases Decreases Balance
Governmental activitias
Capilal assets not betng depreciated
L.and 3 14,154,314  § - 3 - 3 14,154,314
Construciion i prograss 22,894,126 10,548,565 22,468,574 10,974,177
Total capital assets not being deprecialed 37,048,430 10,548,565 22,468,514 25,128,491
Capilal assets being depreciated
Land improvernents 8,195,813 1,572,270 - 9,768,083
Buildings 158,544,107 10,915,924 . 169.464,031
Machinery, equipmeni and vehicles . 50,349,881 17,848,899 2,055,105 66,143,675
Total capital assats being deprecialed 217,089,801 30,341,083 2,055,105 245,375,789
Less accumulated depreciation for
Land improvements ' 2,764,003 375,763 - 3,139,772
Buildings 60,369,018 4,651,053 - 65,020,071
Machinery, equipment and vehicles 35,834,612 5,434,450 1,969,565 39,299,537
Total accumulated depreciation 98,967 .639 10,461,306 1,969,565 107,459,380
Tolal capital assels baing depreciated, net 118,122 162 19,879,787 85,540 137,216,409
Governmental activities capital assets, net $ 155170602 § 20428352 § 22554054 § 163,044,500

The primary government dogs nat have any Infrastructure assets. Infrastructure asseis of the County are
reported in either the Public Works or Road Commission Disgretely Presented Component Units.

Depreciation expense was charged to the functions of the governmental activities as follows:

Governmental  Intemal Service

Govemmental aclivities: Agsets Assely Total
Judiciai L 2836812 ¢ - % 2838812
Generai government 1,575,140 517,037 2092177
Health and welfare 2170238 - 2,170,238
Recreation and culiure 63,204 - 63,204

Pubijic safely 3,298 875 - 3.208,875

$ 9944260 & 517,037 § 10,461,308
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Note 3 - Capital Assets {continued)

The following is a summary of capital asset activity of the business-type activities of the County for the year
ended December 34, 2007:

Beginning Ending
Balance Increases Decreases Balance
Business-type activities
Capital assets being depraciated
Land Improvements 3 455054 % - 3 - 8 455,054
Buildings 28,926,878 110,046 - 29,036,524
Machinery, equipment and vehides 3.720,84% 57,524 12,162 3,776,011
Total capital assets being depreciated 33,102,581 177,570 12,162 33,267,989
Less accurnulated depreciation for
Land wnprovements 260,500 17,682 - 278,182
Buitdings 6,143,756 918,163 - 7,061,819
Machimery. equipment and vehicles 2,484,756 218,876 12,162 2,691,570
Total aceutnutated depreciation 8,689,012 1,154,821 12,162 10,031,671
Total caprial assels being depreciated, nat 24.'213.569 ~{977,251) - 23,236,318
Business-type aclivites capital assets, net $ 24213568 § (97,251 % - 323236318

The following is a summary of changes in the Public Works Component Unit capital assets for the year ended
September 30, 2007: :

Reginrting Ending
Baiance Increases Decreases Balance
Governmantal activities
Capital assets not being depreciated
Land 3 1,092,428 § - % - 3 1,992,428
Conslruction in progress 3.643.496 15,004,677 1,744,647 16,903,526
Total capital assets not being depretiated 5,635,924 15,004,677 1,744,547 18,895,054
Capital assets being depreciated
Infrastruciure 224,286,641 307,573 - 224,304,214
Less accumulated depreciation for
{tfrastructure 63,028,847 4,455,909 - 87,484 BAG
Totz! capital assets being depreciated, nat 158,257.694 {1.438,336) - 156,819,358
Govemmental aciviies capital assets, nat § 163,893,618 § 13566341 $  1,744647 § 175715312
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Note 3 — Capital Assets [concluded)

The following is a summary of changes in the Road Commissicn Component Unit capital assets for the year
ended September 30, 2007:

Balance Ending
Beginning Increases Decreases Ealance
Governmental activities
Capital assets not being depraciated
Land % 176,200,865 % 4,311,770 % - % 180,521,635
Totzt capital assels net being depreciated 176,209,865 4,311,770 - 180,521,635
Capital assets bang depredated
Land mprovements 1,319,384 - - 1,319,384
Buildings 25,077 564 79.457 - 25,157,021
Machinery, equipment and vehicles 26,014,295 1,526,685 653,601 26,887,389
Infrastructure 832,296,049 28,439,486 - 860,735,535
Total capitat assets being deprecialed 884,707,202 30,045,638 853,601 914,099,329
Less accumwiated cepreciation for
Land improvements 748,372 66,102 - 814,474
Buildings 5,625,522 502,536 - 6,028,158
Machinery, equipment and vehicles 21,461,545 1,880,317 649,243 22,702,619
infrastiyciure 325,061,468 32,893,935 - 357,955,403
Tolal accuenutated depraciation 352,756,907 35,352,990 649,243 387,500,654
Total capitat assets being depreciated, net 531,910,385 {5,307,252) 4,358 526,598.675
Governrental aclivities capital assets, net % 708,120,250 §  {995582) § 4,358 § 707,120,310
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Note 4 — Long-Tarm Debt

The following is a summary of the long-term fiability ransactions for the year ended December 31, 2007:

Beginnlng Enling Due Within
fasue Balance Additions Reoductions Baance One Year
Primary Governnrent
Governmental activities
Criminad Justice Bldg Authority
Seres 1989 Jail Renovation $ 00,000 5 - 5 - % 300,000 b4 300,000
Seres 1996 Refunding 340,000 - 340,000 - -
Senes 2002-B Refunding 4 970,000 - 275,000 4,695,100 270,000
Bulefing Avihonty
Series 1996-A Warren Satelie 225,000 - 225,000 - -
Saras 1999 Verkuilen Blidg 420,000 - 135,600 285,000 140,000
Series 2000 Clernens Center 508,000 - 150,000 350,000 175,000
Sedes 2002 MTBfY cuth Home 27,350,000 - 17,400,000 2,950,000 1,250,000
Serigs 2002-A Refunding G,970,UG0 - BE,000 6,310,000 G0, 000
Serdes 2004 Warehouse 4,750,000 . 200,000 4,550,000 200,000
Sesgs 2004-A Public Works Bldg 3,950,000 - 150,000 3,800,000 175,000
SBesies 2005 Clemens Retunding 2,845 000 . 30,0a0 2.815,000 30,000
Seres 2005 Commun System?Disl Court 18,655,000 - 725,000 17,930,000 725,000
Sences 2007 Rafunding - 16,635,000 - 16,895,000 55,000
Ml Transpartation Fund
Senes 2000-A Bridge Boods 3.425,000 - 30,000 3115000 325,000
Senes 2004-B Bridga Bonds 9,600,000 - 350,000 $.250.000 380,000
84,300,000 16,895,000 201,050,500 80,245,560 4,675,000
Cthert llabiiities
Compensated Absences 6,352,364 1,065,224 1,392,208 3,025,380 -
Ganeral tiability clams 4,771,237 2,342,685 2,489,35% 4 624 581 850,000
Workers' compensation claims 1,642,061 1,170,209 §72.728 1,839,542 1,000,000
97,055,662 21,473,128 25,804,287 42 734,500 6,525,000
Component Units
Drain Commisgigner
Special Assessment Dabt 78,905,000 18,580.000 4,665,000 92,820,000 4,475,000
Ropag Commission
Compensated Absences 1,447,542 - 180,934 1,266.604 -
Genearal fatulity olaims 1,627,623 - 1,251,740 375,883 35,862
Workers' compensalion claims 337,360 183,325 154,035 16,130
Total Road Commssion 3,412,525 - 1,616,003 1,796,522 52,642
Grard Tutefs $ 179383167 $ 40053128 § 32085250 _S 187,351,025 $ 11,052,992
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Nots 4 — Long-Term Debt {continued)

December 31, 2007

Long-term bonded debt of the Primary Government and Component Units consists of the following:

Interpst Maturing Qrigined (33ue Balance
tssue Ratg Cate of Issue Through Amount End of Year
Primary Govemment
Governmental activities

Ciirrnal Justice Building Authority
Series 1389 Jai Repovelion 4,00-8.50% 9/1/1989 SHenne % JB0D.000 & 300,000
Series 2002-B Refunding 2.00-4.00 11172003 THIA13 5,830,000 4,695,000

Macomb County Budiding Authority
Series 1999 Yerkuiian Bldg Renovatin 400490 TMA999 51172000 1,205,000 285,000
Serigs 2000 Clemens Cenler 4.70-5.70 B/12000 5/1/2020 4,000,000 350,000
Series 2002 MTR/Youth Home Renovation 3.50-5.00 512002 5112022 32,060,000 9,950,000
Serles 2002-A Refunding 2504 00 12112002 5H72015 5.885.000 5.310.000
Seres 2004 Warehouse 2400-5.00 2004 51112024 5,100.000 4,550,000
Senes 2004-A Public Works Bidg 3.004.50 112004 57112024 4.250,000 3,800,000
Series 2005 Clemens Refunding 3.25-5.00 12172005 54142020 2,875,000 2815000
Serlas 2005 Commun SystemyDist Court 3.75-4 50 121172005 $37152025 19,380,000 17,830,000
Seties 2007 Refunding 15422 21112007 2022 16,895,000 165,895,000

Michigan Transportetion Bonds
Senes 2000-A Bridge Bors 5375-5625 &1/72000 12142045 5,000,000 3115000
Senes 2004-8 Bridge Bonds 3.004.75 512004 121120674 10,000,000 9,250,000
Total Pnmary Govemment 119,220.000 803,245,000
Public Works Component Unit
Speclal Assessment Debt

Busch Drain 380 455 104171598 5152014 1,250,000 750,000
Hawien Drain 4.30-525 BA2000 Li1/2018 785,000 450,600
Hayes Drain 4.50 - 5.20 8112000 S2015 1,005,000 800,000
Plurnbrock Bridug Replacement 4.00- 500 81112000 5A2M: 2,800,000 1,875,000
Schrnidt Dran 525 000 475,000
17 Mile Road Drain & Branches 4.00-8.00 4111972 5i1R013 2. 315,000 1,635,600
17 Mife Rosd Extension .00 - 4.50 1146172001 11/0112016 1,725,000 1,225,000
Sierfing Redief Lateral 128 Exension 206 -4.00 Q92003 1440472012 885,000 530,000
Armada Vilkage MCESS 2.08 1231392 102011 1,170,000 285,000
Horth Gration Interceptor 3,360,000 3,385,000
Nort: Gration Intercepior - Lenox Loeal 0301/2007 05/011201 15,200,000 15,190,000
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December 31, 2007
Note 4 — Long-Term Debt {continued)
Intares| Maturing Originat issue Balance
{s5us Rate Date of Issoe Throuwgh Amount Ent of Yaar "
Public Works Component Lnit
Special Avgassment Dabt
Macomb County Water Supply System #13
(Lenox Township Section 2) 4.80 - 5.50 3141994 5172008 $  1.590,000 § 150,000
Macomty Caunty Water Supply System #14
f_enox, Tuwnship Section 3 4.75-540 3NNYET 120N 1,650,000 530,000
Mocomb County Waste Water Treatment System -
Amada Refunding Bonds 3.70-450 /41999 12007 950,000 126,000
Lake St. Clair Clean Water Initiative Senes A 4.30-4.90 1112001 1/1/2018 9,950,000 8.810,000
Lake St Clar Clean Water inftiatve
Stala Revolving Fund Sedes #1 (5186-01T) 2.50 Vanous 1070972022 20,G70,000 16,430,000
Lake St. Chair Clean Water Initiptive Phase Il, Na. 2 040112002 0410172023 5,000,000 4,470,004
| ake St Clair Clean Water Inilistive
State Revolving Fund Sevies #2 {5186-02) 250 Vavious 04/01/2G22 13,630,006 10,835,000
Lake St Clar Clean Water Imtiative
Stale Revolving Fund Series #3 {5185-03} 2.50 Vanous D4/08/2022 2,640,600 2,095,000
Lake St Cler Claan Wate irstialive
State Revolving Fund Series #4 (S186-04) 250 Vatious 10/031/2022 5,550,000 4,410,000
Lake Si. Clair Clean Water Initiative
Staie Revohing Fund Seres #5 (5186-05) 250 Varous 10/012022 G¥h. 000 B15,000
Lake St Clair Clean Water Initiative Senies 2004A 4375 - 5.150 B 2004 10/01/2029 5,000,000 4,630,000
Lake St. Clair Clcan Water Initiative Senes 20048 4375-5.150 OEOI2004 10/31/2029 14,000,000 12,960,000
112,225,000 22,820,000

Totak Pubiic Works Coenponent Unit

Tofal Reporting Enlity $ 231445000 $ 173,065,000

All Tong-term obligations are presented as of December 31, 2007 except for the Special Assessment Debt
with Governmental Commitment and Road Commission obligations, which are presented as of September 30,
2007, Special assessments recelvable have been pledged by various local units of government for the
payment of principal and inlerest on the Special Assessment Debt with Governmental Commitrnent. The
County has also pledged its fuli faith and credit as additional security for the payment of the principal and
interest on the Special Assessment Debt with Governmental Commitment in the event that the monies
required to pay the principal and interest on the bonds are not coilected by the aforementioned special

assessments.
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MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Notes to Basic Financial Statements {continued)
December 31, 2007

Note 4 ~ Long-Term Debt [eontinued)

The annual requirements necessary to pay principal on the obligations of the Primary Government and
Componenl Units outstanding at year-end, exclusive of the compensated absences, general liability and

workers’ compensztion acctuals, are as follows:

Principal Maturities

Public Works

Pricary Government
Criminal Justice M Transporiation Special

Year Bullding Authoxity Building Autharity Bonds Total Assessment Debt
2008 & 343,000 $ 570,000 675000 4675000 3 4,475,000
2009 3,240,000 270,000 740,000 4,550,000 4,365,000
2010 3,505,000 865,000 760,600 5,130,000 4,590,000
2011 3,680,000 1,155,000 775,000 5,590,000 4.705.000
2012 3.815.000 1,135,000 845,000 5,845,000 4,835,000
2013-2017 19,705.000 1,000,009 3.820.000 24 525,000 23,070,000
2018-2022 20,050,000 - 3,100,000 23,150,000 23,955,000
2023-2027 5,180,000 - 1,600,000 6,780,000 13,690,000
2028-20732 - . - 8,135,000
k] £2,885000 § 4885000 §$ 12,365,000 § 80,245,060 § 92,820,000

The annual requirements to pay interest on the obligations of the Primary Govemment and Component Units
outstanding at year-end, exclusive of the compensated absences, general liability and workers’ compensation

accruals, are as follows:

interest Matwrities

Primary Govermment Pubitic Works
Crminal Justice M Transportation Special

Year Building Authority Building Autharity Bonds Total Assessment Debt
2008 .3 2494883 § 186,125 558,776 § 3,239,784 % 3.426,819
2000 2,364,190 170,600 528,618 3,083,408 3279181
2010 2231172 61,150 405 844 2,888,160 3,127,486
2011 2,096,741 128,712 461.544 2,686,997 2.568,054
2012 1,954,078 85,400 426,418 2,465,896 2.804,479
20132017 7,404,280 40,000 1,519,710 8,964,090 11,557,050
2015-2022 3,489,670 . 822,050 4,311,720 7,684,577
20232027 417 182 - 113,600 530,782 3.524,755
2028-2032 - . - - 727 8H
3 22452896 3§ ¥71887 8 4,926,560 % 28,151,443 § 39,500,270
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MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Notes to Basic Financial Statements {continued)
December 31, 2007

Note 4 - Lona-Term Debt (concluded

New debt jssued - On March 13, 2007, the Macomb Counly Bullding Authority (the “Authority) issued
$16,895,000 of Series 2007 Refunding bonds to advance refund $16,200,000 of the $26,150,000 Macomb
County Building Authority Series 2002 Martha T Berry/Youth Home renovation bonds outstanding at that date.
The net proceeds of $16,813,717 (after payment of $281,283 of issuance costs and underwriters discounts)
were placed in an irevocable trust with an escrow ageni and used {o purchase obligations of the U. 5.
Treasury to provide for future debt service payments on the refunded bonds. Therefore, the refunded bonds
have been removed from the accounts of the Caunty. The remaining $9,950,000 Series 2002 Martha T
Berry/Youth Home renovation bonds are due and payable serially through March 1, 2014. The dilfference
between the cash flows required to service the old debt and the casn flows reguired to service the new bonds
and complete the refunding was $666,842. The economic gain realized by the County as a result of the
refunding was $527,612, which represents the difference belween lhe present value of the debt service
payments on the old and new debt. The refunding bonds, issued in denominations of $5,000 or multipies
thereof, bear interest from 3.375% to 4.50% and are due serially through May 1, 2022. The bonds are to be
repaid from rental payments received pursuant to a lease agreement executed between the Authority and the
County. Bonds maturing prior to March 1, 2015 are not subject to redemption prior to maturity. Bonds
maiuring on or after March 1, 2015 are subject (o redemption at par plus accrued interest prior to maturity, on

ar after March 1, 2014.

Defeased debt -  In prior years, the County defeased certain genesal obligation bonds by placing the
proceeds of new bonds in an irrevocable trust to provide for all future debt service payments on the old
bonds. Accordingly, the frust account assets and liability for the defeased bonds are not included in the
financial statements of the Counly. At December 31, 2007, the amount of defeased debt outstanding but not
reporied as long-term debt of the primmary government tolaled $18,875,000.
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MACOMB COUNTYY, MICHIGAN
Notes to Basic Financial Statements (continued)
December 31, 2007

Note 5 - interfund Receivables, Payables and Transfers

Due From Due To
Fund Other Funds Cither Funds
General Fund 5 1115888 § -
Special Revenus
Emergency Managemenl Grants - 86,785
Proseculing Attomay Grants - 23711
Senior Cilizen Saervices - 3,429
Sheriff Granis - 525,165
- 639,080
internal Service Funds
Equipment Revelving 157,636 693,304
157,636 683,31
Business-type activites Funds
Community Mental Health 280,047 115,306
Freedom Hill Park - 15,312
260,047 130,618
Fiduciary Funds
Peansion Trust 538,086 905,888
Retiree Health Fund - 3.984 437
Agency Funds 4,350,621 -
4,888,707 4,890,325
Reporting Entity Sublotal 6,422,278 6,353,334
Imbatance caused by the timing effects
of interfund transaclions in funds with
different year-end reporting dates {58,944 -

$ 6,353,334 $ 6353334

B-43



MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Notes to Basic Financial Statements (continued)
Decernber 31, 2007

Note 5 — interfund Receivables, Pavables and Transfers (continued)

Fund Transfers in Transfers Ou
Generat Funn 3 23,876,560 § F2573876
Revenus Sharing Rasarve - 15,071,560
Special Revenue
Child Care 17,447 049 -
Commuity Senices Agency 1,223,176 -
Friend of the Coun 5,768,569 3,000,000
Heakth 14,594,195 -
Heatth Gronts 451,049 -
Library 2,623,301 -
MS1) Extension 57,764 41,135
Procetuting Attomey Geants 789,807 109,335
Seqior Cilizens Sanices 1,688.240 -
Shenff Granls 1,104,738 .
Social Welfare 1,120,220 -
Urban County Block Grand 134,00 186,803
Other Special Revenue 402 281 217,350
47 595,512 3,554,621
Debt Service Fund 7,691,377
Capital Projects Furds
Bridge program 46,661
Clemens Cenler - 35,4944
Verkuilen Bidg - 36,108
Disinel Court Building 92,000
Martha T. Bemry Renovalion 163,750
Public Works Building 3.065 -
Warehouse 1,631,245 .
Youth Home Renovation 1,708,044 -
General Counly Captal Proiects Funds 19,766,185 12,078,658
23,410,957 12,150,210
Intemnal Service Funds
Equipment Revolving 3Tt 114
General Lizbilly Insurance 100,000
451,114 -
Business-type ativities
Delinguen! Tax Revolving - 8,730,000
Community Mental Health 6,044,025 -
Martha 1. Berry Medical Care Factity - Oparations 2225762 -
Martha T. Berry Medical Care Factlity - Capilal assels 128,726 -
Fredom Hilt Park 804,665 -
8,203,178 4,730,000
Subtotal 112,228,698 112,080,269
Imbaiance caused by he timing cflects
of intorfund transachons n funds with
different year-and reporling dates (148,429) -

¥ 112080.26% 3 112,080,269
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MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Notes to Basic Financial Statements (continued)
December 31, 2007

Note 5 — Interfund Receivabies, Payables and Transfers (conciuded)

The governmental capital projects funds of the County paid for certain capital improvements at the Martha 7.
Berry Medical Care Facility in the current year. The value of the reported assels lotaled $128,726 and is
reflected under the caption Transfers - Other in the Statemenl of Revenues, Expanses and Changes i Fund

Net Assets of the Martha T. Berry business-type unit.

interfund advances at Decernber 31, 2007 were:

Advances Advances

Fund Recsivable Payable
General Fund $ 0000 3 -
Intarnal Service - Equipment Revolving - 300,000

§ 300000 & 300,000

MNote & — Deferred Compensation

The County offers its employees a deferred compensation plan in accordance with internal Revenue Code
Section 457. The plan, available to all County employees, permits thern to defer 2 portion of their salary until
fidure years. The defemred compensation is not available to employees uniil termination, retirement, death or
unforeseeable emergency. All amounts of compensation deferred under the plan, all property and rights
purchased with those amounts and all income attributable to those amounts are held in trust for the exclusive
benefil of participants and theirr beneficiaries, In accordance with GASB Statement No. 32, “Accounting and
Financial Reporting for Internal Revenue Code Section 457 Deferred Compensation Plans”, the assets of the

plan are no longer reported as assets of the employer.

Note ¥ — Empioyees’ Retirement System

Plan Descriplion and Provision — The County sponsors and administers the Macomb County Employees'
Retirement System (the “System”), a singie employer defined benefit plan covering substantially all of the
County's employees. The System was estabiished in accordance with state statutes to provide retirement
benefits for the employees of the County and its several offices, boards and departments, including the

County Road Commission.

At December 31, 2008 {(date of the mos!t recent actuarial vaiuation} the System’s membership consisted of:

Retirees and beneficianes currenliy receiving benefits 1,988
Terminated ernployees entitled to benefits but not yet receiving them 217
Active employees covered by the plan 2,681
Total merbership ) 4,885
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MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN

Notes to Basic Financial Staterments {(continued)

December 31, 2007

Note 7 — Empioyees’ Retirement Systam {continued)

Separate independently audited financial statements are not issued for the System; therefore, condensed

financial statements as of and for the year endad December 31, 2007 are presented helow:

Statement of Fiduciary Net Assets

ASSETS
" Cash and invesiments
Securities lending collateral
Receivables
Due From Other Funds

Total assels
LIABILITIES
Accounis payable
Due lo othar funds
Obligations under securities lending

. Tofal Liabilities

NET ASSETS

$ 904,500,582
54,126,987
1,724,907
538.086

960,899,562

568.082
006,888
54,126,987

55,600,957

¥ 905,298,605

Statemant of Changes In Fiduciary Net Assets

ADDITIONS
Contributions

Employer
Employee
Investment income
Yotal additions
DEDUCTIONS
Benefit paymants
{ther expenses
Total deductions
Net increase in net assets

Net assels held in frust | beginning of year

Net assets held in frust , end of year

B-465

3 19,121,330
4,774,535
69,396,765

93,282,630

36,623,861
572,469

37,096,350

56,196,280

849,102,325

$ 905298605




MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Notes to Basic Financial Statements {continued)
Deacember 31, 2007

Note 7 - Employees’ Retirement System {continued

Retiremeni Benefits- The foliowing is a summary of the benefits provided 1o the members of the system. Al
members become vested in the System after 8 years of service.

General County- The majority of employees may refire if their age plus years of service equals or exceaeds
70 and they have attained a minimum age of 50. The annual retirement benefit, payable monthly for life,
is computed at 2.4% of final average compensation Jor the first 26 years of service and 1% for every year
thereafter, with a maximum employer pension of 65%. Employees nol covered by the provisions
described above may refire at age 55 with 25 or more years of service or age 60 with 8 years of service.
The annual retirement benefit, payable monthly for life, for these employees is computed at 2.2% of final
average compensation for each year of service, with a maximum employer pension of 66%

Sherff Departmeni- Employees may retire at any age with 25 or more years of service or age 80 with 8
years of service. The annual retirement benefit for the Sheriff and deputies, payable monthly for life, is
computed at 2.64% of final average compensation multiplied by credited years of service with a maximum
employer pension of 66%. The factor for the undersheriff, caplains, jail administrator, command officers,
corrections officers and dispatchers is 2.4% for the first 26 years of service and 1% for every year

thereafter, with a maximurm employer pension of 66%.

Road Commission- Empfoyees may retire at age 55 with 25 or more years of service, at age 60 with 8 years
of service or regardiess of age if their age plus years of service equals or exceeds 70. The annual
retirement benefit, payable monthly for fife, is computed at 2.4% of final average compensation multiplied
for the first 26 years of service and 1% for every year thereafter, with a maximum empioyer pensron of

65%.

The System also provides death and disability benefits. If an employee leaves covered employment or dies
before 8 years of crediled service, accumulated employee contributions plus interest at the rate of 3.5% per

year is refunded to the employee or designated beneficiary.
Basis of Accountirg — The financial statements of the System are prepared using the accrual basis of

accounting. Employee and employer contributions are recognized in the period that the contributions are due
Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and payable according to the terms of the plan.

Method Used 1o Value Investments — In accordance with GASB Statement 28, “Financial Reporting for
Defined Benefit Plans and MNote Disclosures for Defined Contribulion Plans”, investments are reported at fair

value, as indicated by quoted market prices as of December 31, 2007,

Funding Policy ~ The System’s funding policy provides for periodic employer contributions at actuarially
determined rates that, expressed as percentages of annual covered payrofl, are designed to accumulate
sufficient assels to pay benefits when due. The County’s required contribution for 2007 was $19,121,330.
Adminisirative costs of the System are financed from mvestment earnings. General County employees
contribute 2.5% or 3.5% of their annual satary to the System depending upon classification. Road
Comymission employeas contribute 3.5% of their annual salary, Sheriff employees contribute 4.0% of their
annual salary. The County confributes. the remaining amounts necessary {o fund the System, using the

actuarial basis specified by statule.
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MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Notes to Basic Financial Sfatements (continued)
December 31, 2007

Nota 7 - Employees’ Retirement System {concluded)

Anpual Pension Gost and Net Pension Obligation — During the year ended December 31, 2007, employer
contributions totaled $19,121,330, as required by the actuariat vatuation of the plan as of December 31, 2005,
The normal cost and actuarial accrued liability are determined using an entry age actuarial funding method.
Unfunded actuarial accrued liabilities {(UAAL} are amortized as a level percent of payroll over a 20 year open
period. The County has historically contributed 100% of the annual required contribution. Three-year trend
information regarding the County’s annual pension cost, percent conlribution and net pension obligation are

presenied below.

Year Endad Annual Pension Percentage of Het Pension

December 31 Cost [APC) APC Contributed Obligation
2005 $ 14,854,000 100 -
2006 20,215,000 100 -
2007 19,121,330 100 -

Significant actuarial assumptions used in determining the annual required contribution include (a) a rate of
retum on the investment of present and future assets of 7 5% per year compounded annually, (b) projecied
salary increases of 5.0% per year compounded annually, attributable to inflation, {¢) additional projected
salary increases ranging from 1.2% to 5.0% for vatious members per year, depending on service, attributable
ta senicrity/merit, and (d) the assumption that benefits will not increase after retirement. The actuarial value
of assets was determined using techniques thal smooth the effects of short-term volatility in the market value

of investments over a five-year period.

Securities Lending - The Macomb County £Employees’ Retirement System is authorized to participate in
securities lending agreements with its custodian. Such fransactions involve loans of securities to
broker/dealers and other entifies for collateral with a simultaneous ag'reement to return the collateral for the
same securities in the future and are perceived to be invisible to the third party money managers who
manage segments of the porffolio. The markel for securities lending has developed to provide temporary
access to a large portfolio of securities for broker/dealers who have a need to bomrow specific instruments.
Broker/dealers collateralize their borrowings (typically in cash) to 102% of the security value for domestic
securities and 105% for foreign securities and this collateral is adjusted daily to maintain the appropriate level.
The System had no credit risk exposure to borrowers at year-end since the horrowers had collateralized the
securities on loan at 102%. In addition, the system is indemnified through its agreement with its custodian
should borrowers fail to retum securities lent of fail to pay the System income distributions by the securities’
issuers while the securities are on loan. The System may not pledge or sell collateral securities, except in the
case of borrower default. The System pericdically reviews the custodian’s practices to ensure fair distributions
by the sectrities’ issuers while the securities are on loan. The value of securities on loan at December 31,

2007 was $52,415,722.
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MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Notes to Basic Financial Statements (continued)
December 31, 2007

Note & - Post Employment Banefits Other Than Pensions-General and Sheriff Employees

Plan Desciiption - The County sponsors and administers a single empioyer defined benefit postretirement
healthcare pian {the “County Retiree Health Care Plan™) that provides certain health care benefits for retirees
and their spouses so long as the retiree is currently receiving a pension from the Macomb County Employees
Retiremeant System. Benesfit provisions are established by the County Board of Commissioners and may be
amended In agcordance with County policy. Hospitalization insurance is provided through insurance
companies, whose premiums are based on the benefits paid during the year. The County finances these
expenditures for General County and Sheriff Department retirees through the Retiree Health Care Trust Fund
of the primary government. Refirees of the Road Cornmission Component Unit participate in a separate
multiple-employer plan described later in this note.

Al December 31, 2006 (date of the most recent actuarial valuation), membership consisted of:

Reiirees and beneficiaries currently recelving benefits 1,580
Tenminated employees entitled to benefits but not yet receiving them 204
Active employees covered by the plan 2,388

Total membearship 4,172

Basis of Accounting — The fimancial statements of the Retiree Health Care Trust Fund are prepared using the
accrual basis of accounting. Employee and employer contributions are recognized in the period that the
contributions are due. Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and payable according o the terms of
the plan.

Msthod Used fo Vaie Investments — invesiments are repotted at fair value, as indicated by quoted market prices as
of December 31, 2007,

Funding Polcy - Plan members are required to contribute 25% of the cost of vision and dentat coverage as weil
as co-pays for prescription drugs, The employer contributes the batance of actual current costs for these and
all other benefits and administrative expenses of the plan. The employer also contributes additional amounts
to pre-fund benefils in years it can afford to do so. The lotal cost of reliree heaith care benefits and
administrative expenses of the plan for the year ended December 31, 2007 was $15,100,728, of which the
employer contributed $14,508,697 and plan members contributed $582,029.

Annual OPEB Cost and Net OPER Obligation — Tha County's annual cost of providing other post-employment benefits
(OPEB) is calcufated based on the annuai required contribution (ARC) of the employer. The ARC reprasents
a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected fo cover nonmal cost each year and amoriize
any unfunded actuarial liabilities or funding excess over a period not to exceed 30 years.
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MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Notes to Basic Financial Statements {continued)
December 31, 2007

Note 8 — Postempioyment Benefits Other Than Pensions -General and Sheriff Employeses (continued)

Annual OPEB Cost and Net OPERB Obligation [concluded)-

The following table shows the components of the County's OPEB cost for the year ended December 31,
2007.

Annual reguired caniribution L3 52,841,641
interest on net OPER obligation -
Adgjustment to annusal required contribution -
Annual OPER cosi 52,841,641
Employer contributions {14,508,697)
Increase in OPEB obligation 38.332,944

Net OFEB obligation, beginning of year
The County's annual OPEB cosl, percentage of annual OPEB cost cantributed and the net OPER obligation

as of December 31, 2007 were as follows:

SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS

Annual

Actuarial Methods and Assumpfions - Actuanal valuations of ap ongeing ptan involve estimates of the value of
reparted amounts and assumptions regarding the probability of the occurrence of events in the future.
Examples of such assumptions include future employment and retirement patterns, mortality, investment rate
returns and health care inflation. These assumptions are subject to continual revision as actual resuits are
reasured against past expectations and new estimates are made about the future. The schedule of funding
progress presented as required supptemental information following the notes herein, presents multi-year trend
information that indicates whether the actuarial vaiue of plan assets is ingreasing or decreasing over time
relative to the actuarial accrued liahilities of the benefits provided.

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan as understocod by
the employer and plan members and inciude the types of benefits provided at the time of each vafuation and
the historical pattern of cost sharing between the employer and plan members to that point. The actuarial
methods and assumptions used to prepare each valuation are designed to reduce short-term volatility in the
value of actuarial accrued assets and liabililies, consistent with the long-term perspective of the calculations.

The entry age actuarial cost method was used tc prepare the fast actuarial valuation dated December 31,
2006. Other significant assumptions were as follows: a) investments are assumed o earn 7.5% per year, (b)
health care costs are assumed to increase at an annual rate of 11% in year 1, reduced by 1% each year for
the first two years and .5% each year thereafter until an ultimate rate of 5% is reached in the tenth vear and
beyond, (c) annuat covered payroll is assumed to increase 5% per year and (d} aciive member population
was assumed o rermnain constant. The unfunded liability is being amortized as a level percentage of payroli
over a glosed period of 30 years.
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MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Notes to Basic Financial Statements {continued)
December 31, 2007

Note 8 -- Postemnployment Benefits Other Than Pensions—General and Shediff Employees (concluded)

Funding_Status and Progress - As of December 31, 2006, the date of the most recent actuarial valuation, the pian
was 16.6% funded. The acluarial accrued liability for benefits was $643,208,474 and the acluarial value of
assets in the plan was $106,476,217, resuiting in an unfunded actuarial accrued liabfiity (UAAL) of
$536,732,257. Covered payroill was $113,523,878 and the ratio of the UAAL to covered payroll was 472.8

percent.

Separate independenily audited financial staterments are not issued for the County Retiree Haaith Care Plan.
Therefore, condensed financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2007 is presented

below:

Statemnent of Fiduciary Net Assets

ASSETS
Cash and investrnants $ 116,904,417
Receivables 516,761
Tota! assels 117,421,178
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 1,769,023
Due to other funds 3,984,437
Total Liabilities 5,753,460
NET ASSETS 3 111,667,718
Statement of Changas in Fiduciary Net Assets
ADDITIONS
Conftributions 3 15,100,726
investment income 5,191,501
Total additions 20,282,227
DEDUCTIONS
Benefit payments 14,992,688
Other expenses 108,039
Total deductions 15,100,727
Net increase in nat assets 5,181,500
Net assets held in trust | beginning of year 106,476,218
Neat assets held in trust , and of yvear $ 111,667,718
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Notes to Basic Financial Statements (continued)
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Note 9 — Post Employment Benefits Other Than Pensions — Road Commission

Plan Description - The Road Commission of Macomb County provides health care benefits to its retirees and
their beneficiaries in accordance with labor contracts. The benefits are administered by the Michigan
Employers” Retirement System (MERS), an agent mulliple employer pension and other post-empioyment
benefits plan. MERS issues a publicly available financial report that may be oblained by writing to the system

at 1134 Municipal Way, Lansing, Michigan 48917,

Funding Fojicy - The Road Commission bears 100% of the cost of providing health care benefits to its retirees
and beneficiaries, The current costs of these benefits was $2,497,466 for the year ended September 30,
2007. The Road Commission has no obligation to make contributions in advance of when insurance
premiums are due. However, it did coniribute an additional $3,000,000 toward future benefits during the year

ented September 30, 2007.

Annual OPEB Cost and Net OPEB Obligation — The cost of providing retiree health care benefils (OPEB) for the year
ended September 30, 2007 was determined through an actuarial vaiuation as of December 31, 2005. The
valuation computes an annual required contribution {ARC), which represents a level of funding that, if paid on
an ongoing basis, is projecied to cover normal cost each yesr and amortize any unfunded actuarial liabilities

or funding excess over a pericd not to exceed 30 years.

The following table shows the components of the Road Commission's OPEB cost for the year ended
September 30, 2007.

Annual required contribuiion $ 6,147 445
Interest on net OPEB obligalion -
Adjustment o annual required contribubion -
Annual OFEB cost 6,147 445
Employer contributions {5497 466}
increase m OPEE obligation 649,979
Net OPER obligation, beginning of year -
HNet OPEDB obéigation, end of year $ 549,979

The Road Commission’s s annual OREB cost, percentage of annual OPEB cost contribuied and the net
GPEB obligalion as of September 30, 2007 were as follows:

Anpuat
Year Ended Required Percentage Net OPEB
September 30 Contribution Contributed Obligalion
2007 $ 6,147,445 89.4% $ 649,879
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MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Notes to Basic Financial Statements (continued)
December 31, 2007

Note 9 — Post Employment Benefits Other Than Pensions - Road Commission (concluded]

Funding _Status and Progress — As of December 31, 2008, the date of the most recent actuarial valuation, the plan
was 0.0% funded. The actuarial accrued liability for benefits was $76.651,082 and the actuaral value of
assets in the pian was $0, resulting in an unfunded actuarial accrued liability {(UAAL) of $76,561,082.
Covered payroll was $15,548,979 and the ratio of the UAAL to covered payroli was 492.9 percent.

Actuarial Methods and Assumplions - Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of
reporfed arnounts and assumplions regarding the probability of the occurrence of events in the future.
Examples of such assumptions include future employment and retirement palterns, mortality, investment rate
returns and health care inflation. These assumgplions are subject to continuat revision as actual results are
measured against past expectations and new estimates are made about the future. The schedule of funding
progress presented as required supplemental information following the notes herein, presents multi-year trend
information that indicates whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing over fime
relative to the actuarial accrued liabilities of the benefits provided.

Projections of benefits for financial reporting pumposes are based on the substantive plan as understood by
the employer and plan members and include the types of benefits provided at the fime of each valuation and
the historical pattern of cost sharing between the employer and plan members to that point. The actuarial
methods and assumptions used to prepare each vaivation are designed to reduce short-term volalility in the
value of actuarial accrued assets and liabilities, consistent with the long-term perspective of the calculations.

The entry age actuarial cost method was used lo prepare the most actuarial valuation dated December 31,
2005. COther significant assumptions were as follows: a) investments are assumed to eam 7.5% per year, (b)
health care cosls are assumed to increase at an annuai rate of 10% in year 1, reduced in decrements unti! an
uttimate rate of 5% is reachsd in the tenth year and beyond, (c¢) annual covered payroll is assumed o
increase 4.5% per year and (d) active member population was assumed to remain constant. The unfunded
liability is being amortized as a levei percentage of payroll over a closed period of 30 years.

Note 10 — Contingencias and commitments

Grams ~ The County receives funds from various Federal and Slate units to finance specific activities. The
final determinalion of revenue is subject o the acceptance of project costs by the granting agency, usually
after a compliance audit. To the exient thal costs are disaliowed by the granting agency, County monies
would be required to reimburse the grant fund. The County does nol believe that any disallowed costs would

be material to the financial stalements.
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MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Notes to Basic Financial Statements {continued)
Pecember 31, 2007

Note 11- Risk Management

The County is exposed to various risks of loss related to property damage and loss, torts, errors and
ornissions, employee injury {workers' compensation} and medical benefits provided to empioyees and
retrees. The County has purchased commercial insurance for property damage coverage and cerain
medical benefits, but is self-insured for workers’ compensation and general liability claims up to certain
reteniion amounts, at which time reinsurance begins. The County also self-funds certain medical benefits of
employess and refirees. There were no significant reductions in insurance coverage in 2007 from the prior
year. Claims settled during the past three years have not exceeded the retention amounts. Liabilities inchude
estimates of claims incwred buf not reported and are calculated considering the effects of inflation, recent
claim settlement trends and other economic and social factors.

Workers' Compensation ~ Since December 1, 1978, the County has been partially self-insured against workers'
compengsation claims. Under the plan, the County is obligated to pay the first $350,000 of an individual
settlement or award with commercial insurance covering claims in excess of the retention to an aggregate of
$1,000.000 annually. At December 31, 2007, the primary government has accrued an aggregate of
$1,838,542 for unresolved workers' compensation claims. At September 30, 2007, the Road Commission
component unit has accrued an aggregate of $154,035 for unresolved workers’ compensation claims.
Changes is the estimated liabilities for warkers' compensation claims for the past two fiscal years were as
follows: :

Primary Govemment Road Commissson

Year Endad December 31, Year Ended September 30,

2006 2007 2006 2007
Estimated liability - baginning of year $ 1,790,146 3 1,642,061 3 388,303 3 337,380
Estimated daims incured, including

changes in estimates 718,080 1,170,200 164,598 (60,195)

Clalms paymants (B66,165) {972.728) {215,541} {123,130)
Estimated lighillty - end of yaar 3 1,642,081 3 1,839,542 5 7360 % 154,635

Genaral Lisbilty ~ The County is a defendant in various lawsuits in which plaintiffs seek damages of an
indeterminable amount. Since December 1, 1877, the primary government has been partially self-insured for
losses of a general liabllity nature. The County {excluding the Road Cornmission} is currently self-insured for
losses of a general liabliity nature up to $500,000 per claim, with commercial insurance covering claims in
excess of the retention amount to an aggregate of $10,000,000 annuaily. The Road Commission Component
Unit is sdlf-insured, within certain limits, for general liability claims arising prior to February 18, 1986 and
subsaguent to January 17, 1993 and is completely seif-insured for claims arising within those dates. Al
September 30, 2007, the Road Commission had an accrual of $373,883 for its unrescived general liabitity
claims. The General Liability Insurance Internal Service Fund has been established to account for the saif-
insured aspects of this program for the primary government. At December 31, 2007, the primary government
reported a balance of $4,624,581 for its unresolved general liability claims.
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MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Notes to Basic Financial Statements (conciuded)
December 31, 2007

Note 11- Risk Management {concluded)

Changes in the estimated liabilities for general liability claims for the past twe fiscal years were as follows:

Promary Govemment Road Cosmnission
Yoar Ended Decembar 21, Yaar Endod Saptember 30,
2006 2007 2006 2007

Estimated Hability - beginning of year $ 2683890 $ 471,237 % 1620538 5 1,627,623

Estimated ciaims incuned, including

changes in estimales 2,338,431 2,342,695 28,823 {1.222.013)
Clauns payments {251.084) [2,489,351) (21,738) {29,727
Esfimated Bability - end of year $ 4771237 0§ 4824581 § 1527623 375,883

Note 12- Fund Balance Deficit

The Community Mental Health business-type unit reported a deficit in its unrestricted net assels of
$3,404,443 at September 30, 2007, which is composed of a deficit of $3,525,440 in its operating fund and a
surplus of $120,997 in its Subslance Abuse Fund. The initial deficit in the operating fund was $3,594,184
and was incured during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2006 as resull of writing off uncoliactible
receivables. The Community Menlal Health Department intends to recover this deficit through interest
earnings in future years that couid otherwise be wilized for ofher purposes and is expected to be eiiminated
by 2013. A formal deficit reduction ptan has been filed with and approved by the Stale of Michigan.
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Other Required Supplementary Information

Budgetary Compatison Schedule -- General Fund

Budgetary Comparison Schadule — Revenue Sharing Reserve Fund
Schedute of Funding Progress - Employees’ Retirement System
Schedule of Employer Contributions — Employees’ Retirement System
Schedule of Funding Progress — Retiree Health Care Plan

Schedule of Employer Contributions ~ Retiree Heaith Care Plan



MACOME COUNTY, MICHIGAR

Raquired Supplementary tnformation

Budgetary Comparisan Schedule (GAAF Basls) - General Fund Revenusas
Yoar Ended Decombar 31, 2007

Budgeted Amounts Actual Varignce with
Qriginal Final Amounts Final Budget
Taxes
Currant propesty $ 135860750 % 139117183 0§ 141,017423  § 1,500.240
Delinquen! persanal property 500,000 606,000 673,512 73.512
136,560,750 139,717,183 141,680,935 1,873,752
Licenses and Permits 447,750 447,750 307,729 {140,021)
State Grants
Court financing 5,010,698 5,010,698 5,346,299 335,601
Cigareite tax 440,233 440,233 380,361t 159.872)
Liquar tax 2,121,698 2,121,698 2,011,246 (110,452}
Other 708,000 708,000 670,085 {37.915)
8,280,628 8,280,629 B 407 991 127,362
Charges for Services
Caourt costs and tees 1,688,800 1,688,600 2.487,050 798,450
Cerlified copies 810,000 816,000 805223 {4,777y
Probation oversight faes 1,800,400 1,600,400 1,320,541 {279,859)
Land transfer tax 3,500,000 3,500,000 3112230 {382,770)
Recording fees 4 267 000 4 267 000 2.869,736 {1,397 264)
Rents 30,000 30,000 59,952 29,952
Shevilf road patrol 7470103 7,550,878 7.587.332 46,454
Other sherllf servicas 890,000 884,000 1.157,011 267.011
Foster care 845,000 845,000 801,468 {43,532}
Attomey fees 1,150,000 1,150,000 1,025,325 {124 675)
Public works - pumping station 880,000 880,000 903,007 23,007
Personal servicus 850,000 850,000 423 837 (426,363}
Housing inmates 2,003,000 2,003,000 2,342 651 339,651
Soil erosion fees 500,000 500,000 279,472 {220,528}
Commissions 857 850 B57.650 996,430 138,780
Miscallaneous 1,232,145 1,235,445 1,385,213 148,868
28,573,898 28,657,973 27,571,378 {1,086,595)
investment income 8,050,750 8,080.750 6,551,146 {1.458,604)
Charges to Other Funds for
Administrative Services
ata processing division 8,967,118 6,867, 118 5,952,670 {904,438)
Other administralive chamges 5,590,192 5,590,192 5,862,591 372,389
12,457,310 12,457,310 11,825,270 {532,040)
Fines and Farfeitures 1,006,608 1,006,600 698321 {308,279)
Other Revenue 40,750 40,750 2781 236,431
Total Revarios 195418,437 194,658,945 197,469,951 {1.188.884)
Cther Finanicing Sources
Transfers in 23818425 23,876,560 23,876,560 -
Totyl Revamies and Othar
Financing Sources § 219236862 % 222535505 § 221046501 § {1.188,984)




MACOME COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Required Supplamentary Information
Budgetary Comparison Schedule (GAAP Basis) - General Fund Expenditures
Year Ended December 31, 2007

Budgeted Amounts Actual Variance with
Originai Firral Amounts Final Budget
Legisiative
Board of Commissionars
Sataries and fnnge benefiis $ 2,447 482 2,454,161 2,166,217 % 287,944
Operating 233,523 239,576 178,605 60,8714
Department Tolai 2,681,006 2,693,737 2,344,822 348,915
Total Legislative 2,681,008 2693737 2,344 822 348,915
Judicial
Circuit Court
Sataries and finge banefits 5,372,254 5.372.254 4.856,430 515,824
Operaling 5079,625 5,053,624 4,951,516 102,109
Deparimeant Total 10,451,879 10,425,879 9,807,946 517,933
District Court - New Baltimore .
Salaries and fringe benefits 1,240,892 1,210,892 1,053,278 157,614
Oparating 292,717 292,717 268,574 24,143
Department Total 1,603,609 1,503,609 1,321,852 181,757
District Court - Romea
Sataries and fringe banefits 954,984 954,999 887,440 67.558
Qperating 247 902 247,902 237026 10877
Depariment Total 1,202,901 1,202,901 1,124 465 78.436
District Court - 3rd Class
Cperating 59,000 59,000 58,610 390
Family Counseting
Saiaries ang fringe henefits 62,472 62472 60,109 2,363
Operating 158,951 158,951 143,340 15,611
Dapartment Tatal 221,423 221,423 203,449 17,974
Family Court - Juveniie Division
Salaries and fringe benedits 5,008,806 5,006,806 4498,972 507,834
Cperabng 1,742,093 1.741,468 1,683,628 57.839
Capital Quilay - 825 625 -
Depantment Total &,748,899 5,748,898 6,183,226 585,673
Jury Commission
Operating 44,566 71,346 70,120 1,226




MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Required Supplementary Information
Budgetary Comparison Scheduls (GAAP Basis) - General Fund Expenditures {continued)
Year Ended December 31, 2007

Budgeted Amounts Actual Variance with
Originat Final Amaounts Final Budget
Judictal (concluded)
Probate Court - Mental Division
Salaries and fringe benefits s 1012222 % 956,159 & 873,925 82,234
Operating 338,945 337,476 302,924 34,562
Dapartment Tatal 1,349,167 1,293,635 1,176,849 116,786
Probate Court - Wills and Estates Division
Salanes and fringe banefits 2,569,509 2,569,509 2,337,778 231,731
Openaling 302,751 302,751 247,636 E5115
Department Total 2,872260 2,872,260 2,585,414 286,846
Probation - Circult Court
Operating 175,465 173,465 163,835 9,630
Capital OQutiay - 2,000 1,498 502
Departiment Total 175,465 175,465 165,333 10,132
Probation - District Court
Salarias and fringe benefiis 1,589,109 1,589,109 1,418,934 170,475
Operating 85,829 {7 829 B0, 456 7373
Depariment Total 1,674,938 1,676,938 1,499,390 177,548
Total Judicial 26,304,107 26,251,355 24,196,654 2,054,701
General Govermmmeant
County Clerk
Salaries and fringe benefits 4,814,844 4,814 844 4,077,242 737,602
Operaling 445,116 454 943 381,753 73,180
Capitat outlay - 1,313 1,313 1,313
Department Total 5,260,560 5,271,100 4,460,308 812,105
Corporatiop Counsel
Satariss and fringe benefils 1,055,233 1,055,233 456,850 95,383
Operating 45,204 45,204 43,609 1,595
Department Total 1,100.437 1,400,437 1,003,459 96,978
Elections
36,320

Onerating 50,969 50,969 14,649



MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Required Supplementary Information
Budgetary Comparison Schedule (GAAP Basis) - General Fund Expsnditures [continuead)

Year Ended December 31, 2007
Budgeted Amounts Actual Variance with
Original Final Amounis Final Budget
Ganeral Government (continued)
Facilities and Qperations
Salarigs and fringe benefits § 8242560 $ 8242580 § B050,45¢4 § 192,106
QOperating 8476497 9476545 7,566,058 1,510,487
Department Total 17,719,067 17,719,105 15,616,512 2.102,593
Finance
Administration/Accounting
Balares and {nnge benefits 2,585,305 2,585,305 2,059,367 525,938
Ciperating 126,191 151,181 135,459 15,732
Department Total 2,711,496 2,736,496 2,194,826 541670
Equalization
Salaries and fringe benefits 1,180,037 1,190,037 990,331 198,706
Operating 70,144 70,144 66,629 3,515
Cepartment Tolal 1,260,181 1,260,181 1,066,960 203,221
Purchasing
Salades and fnnga benefits 1,515,388 1,515,388 1,421,092 94,206
Cperaling 265,922 265,536 232,853 32883
Gepartment Total 1,784,310 1,780,924 1,653,945 126,979
Relmbursemant
Salaries and fringe benefits 1.013,383 1,013,383 928.530 84.853
Operating 105,052 105,052 74,054 30,998
Department Totat 1,118,435 1,118,435 1,002,584 115,851
Human Resources
Sataries and ringe benefits 2,322,708 2322705 1,804,192 518,513
Cperating 238,522 283,522 216,894 66.628
Department Total 2,581,227 2,606,227 2,021,088 585,141
Information Technology
Salaries and fringe benefits 4,873,962 4.813,580 4375074 438,508
Operating 1.964,121 1,964,121 1,687,922 376.199
Depariment Total 6,838,083 6,777.701 5962 9596 814,705




MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Required Supplamentary Information
Budgetary Comparison Schedule (GAAP Basis) - Genaral Fund Expenditures {continued)
Year Ended December 31, 2007

Budgeied Amounts Actual Variance with
Original Final Amounis Final Budgel
General Government {concluded)

MSU Extension

Salaries and finge banefits 5 030430 § 930430 % B14054 § 116,376

Operating 261,802 261,802 247,481 14,3214

Depanment Total _ 1,192,232 1,162,232 1,061,635 130,697
Planning and Economic Development

Salanes and friinge benefils 2,652,085 2,652,085 2,343,320 308,775

Operating 292,933 281,433 237,385 44,048

Capital outiay 2,500 14,000 3,254 10.746

Department Total 2,547 528 2,947,528 2,583,059 363,569
Plat Board

Operating 4,500 4,500 g81 31519
Prosacuting Attorney

Salaries and fringe benefils 10,202,817 10,202,617 9,268,874 933,743

Operating 682,285 707,285 703,988 3,287

Department Total 10,884,902 10,909,902 9,972,862 937,040
Public Works

Salanes and finge benefits 5,225,643 5,225,643 4,656,326 569,317

Cperating 304,507 303,873 295,223 8,650

Department Total 5,530,150 5.528,518 4,951,549 577967
Register of Deeds

Salaries and fringe benefits 1,740,970 1,740,970 1,477,133 263,837

Operating 1,069,024 1,069,024 411,611 657 413

Department Total 2,809,994 2,809,954 1,888,744 921,250
Risk Managament and Safety

Salaries and fringe bensfits 373,190 373,160 334,369 3a.821

Operating 40,360 40,360 32475 7,885

Department Tatal 413 550 413 550 366,844 48,706
Treasurer

Salaries and fringe benefits 2335103 2.335,103 2,035,154 269,949

Operating 166,534 165,156 145,861 19,295

Depariment Total 2,501,637 2,501,259 2,182,015 318,244

Total Ganerat Govemment 66,708,248 66,730,056 57,995,514 8,735,555




Public Safety
Civil Service Commission
Cperating

Court Bullding Safaty
Salarles and fnnge benefits
Operating
Capital otitlay

Pepartment Total

Emergency Managament
Salattes and lringe benefits
Operating

Department Total

Secyrity .
Salarles and fringe benefits

Operating

Department Total

Sheriff Department
Salaties and fringe banefits

Operating
Capital cutiay

Department Total

Technical Services
Sataries and fringe benefits
Opsrating
Capital outlay

Depanment Total

Total Public Safety

MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Required Supplemantary information
Budgetary Comparison Schedule (GAAP Basis} - General Fund Expenditures {continued)

Year Endod Pocember 31, 2007

Budgeted Amounts Actual Variance with

Qriginal Finak Amounts Fina! Budget
3 40,550 40,530 19,308 21,242
1,053,979 1,058,979 1,030,630 28,349
56,612 51,612 39.056 12,556
5,000 5.000 - 5.000
1,115,591 1,115,581 1,069,686 45,905
345,315 345,315 251,880 93,435
26,731 30,583 29770 813
375,046 375,898 281,850 94,248
690,633 690,633 687,448 3,185
10,886 10,586 10,530 356
701,519 701,519 597,978 3,541
53,270,028 53,445,477 51,185,326 2,260,151
Q747,373 9,762,193 0,654,505 7 598
202 200 227 895 135,878 81,017
63,219,601 63,435,565 60,976,795 2 458,766
828,646 828,646 773924 54,722
50,147 50,114 39,393 10,721
20,000 20,000 1.500 18,500
898,793 898,760 814 817 83,943
66,351, 100 05,967,883 63,860,238 2,707,645




MACOME COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Required Supplesmentary Information
Budgetary Comparison Schedule (GAAP Basis) - General Fund Expenditures (conchuded)
Yaar Ended December 31, 2007

Budgeted Amounts Actual Variance with
Original Finat Amounts Final Budget
Health and Welfare
Water Quality Board
Salares and fringe benefits $ 3780 3§ 3780 % - 3 3.780
Operating 10,770 10,770 6,020 4,750
Depastment Total 14,550 14,550 6,020 8,530
Senior Citlizens Services
Sataras and fringe benelits 23,333 23.333 - 23,333
Operating 254,541 254,591 92,070 162,521
Department Total 277,924 277,624 §2.0670 185,854
Veteran's Affairs
Salaries and irmgs benafits 416,764 416,764 342 856 73,808
Qpeorating : 247,596 266,596 249,183 17,403
Capital outlay 7,200 7.200 7,108 92
Dapartment Total 671,560 600,560 599,157 91,403
Total Heaith and Welfare 964,034 983,034 697,247 285,787
Other Current Oparations
Non-Departmental Appropriations 772,178 7.383.860 5,618.750 1,765,140
Capitat Outiay 950,000 85G,000 617,157 332,843
Total Expenditures 171,728,673 171,559,855 155,330,662 16,230,586
Other Financing Uses
Transfers Out 79,348,836 86.858,422 72,573,876 14,284 546

Tetal Expenditures and Other
Financing Usas s 251,077 500 $ 258,418,377 3 227,904 558

3 30,515,132




MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Required Supplementary Information
Budgetary Comparison Schedule (GAAP Basis) - Revenue Sharing Reserve Fund
Year Ended December 31, 2007

Budgeted Amounis Actual Variance with
Original Final Ammounts Final Budget
Revenues
Invesiment income 3 - % - % 2818821 § 281891
Other Financing Uses
Transfers out {15,013.425} {15,071,560) {15,071,560) -
Net change in fund batances {15,013 425) {15,071,560} {12,252 639} 2,818,921
Fund balances, beginning of year 77,818,704 77,818,704 77,818,704

Fund balances, end of year $ 62,805273 § 62747144 § 65,566,065 § 2,818,821




MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION - EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM

SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS

Actuarial Actuarial Actuanal Accrued Unfunded UAAL as a
Vaiuation Vale of Liabflity {AAL} AAL Funded Covenegd Percentage of

Date Assels Entry Age {JAAL) Ratic Payroll Covered Payroll

December 31 {a) {b} (b-a} {ab) <) {{b-ayc)
1999 $ 581,170.294 § 446,999,030 % {134,171.264) 130,02 & 105,581,899 {127.08)
2000 635,685,439 497 584,613 {138,100,6256) 127.75 105,284,538 (131.37)
2001 657,800,320 513,299,683 {144,500,627) 128.15 106,979,632 {135.07)
2002 645,530,428 578,104,382 (67,435,046} 111.66 121,299,445 (55.59)
2003 639,624,122 624,212,027 (15,412,095} 102.47 127,235,644 {12.11)
2004 674,857,869 664.487,155 {10,370,714) 101.56 134,258,243 {7.72)
2005 718,336,871 632,144,687 {37.192,184} 105.45 134,886,588 {2757y
2006 781,450,248 721,657,669 {59,792,579) 108.29 128,820,980 {(46.42)

SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS
General Employees Sherili Employees Road Employess
Annual Annual Annual

Yaar Ended Requued . Percentage Required Parcentage Required Percaniage

December 31 Coriribution Contribuied Contributeon _Conbritaned Contribution Contiibuted Total
2000 §  2B37586 100 $ 2,170,650 160 § 1492430 100 6,500,686
2001 496,645 100 1,325,647 100 849,866 100 2872158
2002 1,707.060 100 1,184,523 Hes 372,158 gl 3,263,741
2003 842,903 100 1,235,022 100 954,174 100 3,042,090
2004 3,741,031 100 3,267,545 100 1.569,268 100 8,577 844
2005 8,282,000 190 4,196.000 100 2.376,000 0G¢ 14,854,000
2008 11,807,000 100 5,329,000 100 3,079,000 100 20,215,000

19,121,330

2007 11,286,334 100 5,168,283 100 2,665,713 100



REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION - RETIREE HEALTH CARE TRUST FUND

MACOME COUNTY, MICHIGAN

SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS

Actuarial Actuarial Achuarial Accruad Unfunded
Valualion Value of Liahility {AAL} AsL Funided Covered
Date Assels Entry Age {UAAL) Ratio Payroll
Decsmber 31 {a) ) {b-a) L) (v}
2004 $ B3794483 ¥ 492905016 $ 409,110,533 17.00 $ 117,894,514
2006 106,476,217 643,20B474 536,732 287 16.5% 113,523,878

SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS

Annual
Year Ended Required Percentage
December 31 Contribution Contribuled
2006 P 44511025 21.2%
2007 52,641,641 27.5%

UAAL as a
Percentage of
Coverad Payroll
{(b-ajc)
347.0%
472.8%



Assets
Cash and pooled investmenis
Taxas receivable
Accounts receivabie, net
Due from aiher govemmmants
Other assels

Total Assels

Liabilities and Fund Balances

Liabifitles
Accounts payable
Accrued liabililes
Accrued compensation and benefils
Due to other governments
Due to govemmental funds
Daferred revanue

Total Liabillies

Fund Balancoes
Reservad
Debt service
Long-term receivables
Capital projects
Urreserved
Designated
Capital projects
Programs
Undesignated

Tolal Fund Balances

Total Liabiities and Fund Balancas

MAGCOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Gomhbining Balance Sheet
Nonmajor Fund Types

Dacember 31, 2007
Speacial Debt Capital
Revenue Service Projects Total

14,592,139 3 7,188,906 27,370,051 $ 48,131,086
- 168,054 - 168,054
8,996,155 - 25,923 9,022,678
6.572,899 - 99,6830 6,672,529
213,080 - 26,637 239,717
30,374,273 $ 7,336,960 27,522,241 $ 65,2733 474
3,795,700 40,872 1,280,411 3 5,118,783
123 - 135,835 735,758
10,565 - - 10,565
496,537 - - 495,537
639,090 - - 638,090
978,693 176,480 - 1,155,173
5,920,708 217,152 2,016,046 8,153,906
- 7,119,808 - 7.119.808
8,575,204 - - 8,575,204
4,775,723 - 10,372,257 15,147 980
81,516 - 15,133,838 16,225.454
6,786,909 - - 6,786,909
4,224 213 - - 4,224,213
24,453,565 7.115,808 25,506,195 57 079,568
30,374,273 ¥ 7,336,860 27,522.241 3 65,233,474




MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expendituras and Changes in Fund Balance

Revenues
Taxes
Licenses and permits
Federal & Stale grants
Other grants
Charges for services
Investment income
Fines and forfaitures
Other revenue

Total Revenues

Expenditures

Currant
Judiciat
General government
Public safety
Public works
Haalth and weifare
Recreation and cuthurat

Capttal oullay

Debt senvice
Principal
interest and fees
Bond issuance costs

Tolal Expendifures
Excess of Revenyues over {Under) Expendiiures
Mther financing souwrces (uses}
Issuance of debf
Transfers in
Transfers out
Bond discotints
Payment to refunding debi escrow agent
Total Olher financing sources (usas)
Net change in fund balances

Fund Balances, beginning of vear

Fund Balances, end of year

Mopmajor Fund Typss
Year Ended flecember 31, 2007

Speciai Debt Capitaf

Revenue Service Projects Total
3 - 3 212,452 $ - 212,452
1,345377 - - 1,345,377
55,606,663 - 128,202 55,734,868
267 617 - 40,000 307,617
12,422,345 - 2,489,078 14,912,424
341576 10,701 872,661 1,224,938
883,889 - - 683,889
1,153,220 - - 1,153,220
71,821,588 223,153 3,529,342 75574783
13,638,553 - - 13,638,553
644,427 - - 544,427
8,887,264 - - 8,887,264
286,327 63,263 807,231 1,156,821
86,493,847 - - £6,493,947
2,781,855 - - 2,781,895
1,218,837 - 17,483,542 18,703,379
- 4,750,000 4,750,000
- 3,411,792 - 3411,792
- 113.558 - 113,558
113,852,250 8,338,613 18,200,773 140,581,636
{42,130,562) {8,115,460) {14,760.831) {R5,006,853)
- 16,895,000 - 16,885,000
47,595 512 7,681,377 23,410,957 78,697 B46
{3.554,623) - (12,150,210} {15,704,823)
- (167.725) - (167,725}
- {16.613,717) - {16,613,717}
44 040,889 7,804,935 11,260 747 63,106,571
1,910,327 {310,525} {3,500,084} {1,800,282}
22,543,238 7,430,333 29,006,279 58,978 850
3 24,453,565 3 7,119,808 3 25,506,185 57,078,568
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Aszets
Cash and poolad investments
Accounts receivable, nat
Due from other govemments
Dither assats

Total Assets

Lisbilithes and Funwd Balances

Liatvikties
Acoaunts payeble
Accruad liabilies
Acurved compensanson and benefits
" Due 15 other governments
Due o govemmentel funds
Deferred revanue

Total Liahdities

Fund Balances
Reserved
Long-term receivables
Capital projects
Uinvaserved
Dasignated
Capital projecls
Programe
Unesignated

Total Fund Bsancas

Totel Uabiities and Fund Balances

{1) - Balance theet a5 of Septerntier 30, 2007

MACOME COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Combining Balance Sheet
Nonmnajor Special Revenue Fumnds

December 31, 2007

Chiid Community Emecrgency Friend

Core (B COMET Services Agency (1) Management Grants of tha Court {1)
$ 9,469 3 1,047,883 % 1,742,831 10,922 86,000
58,508 - 11,483 - -
2732577 - 583.224 103,504 578,467
189,076 24,004 - - -
1] 2,990,530 5 1,071,857 $ 2,337,638 % 114, 826 1,064,467
14 1,140,541 3 59,350 $ R78.359 $ 2.369 5,013
- 1.274 - -
N - - B6, 785 -
- - 8653
1,140,541 54,350 579,634 89,174 G83.706
- 1012847 1,750,004 25,667 -
1.850.089 - - - 80,761
1,850,088 1,012,547 1,755,004 25,652 80,781
$ 2,990,630 $ 1,071,887  § 2337838 $ 114,826 1,064,487




Assels

Cash and pooled ivestmants
Accounts receivabie, net

Due from other govemments
(Other assets

Total Assets

Liabiitres and Fund Balances

Accounis payable

Accrued habiBiies

Actrued compensation and banefits
Dee 10 other govemments

Due to gavernrmental funds
Deferred rovenue

Totat { iatwlities

Fund Balances
Resarved
Long-teym receivables
Capta) projects
Unreserved
Designated
Capital projects
Programs
Undeagignated

Tote! Fund Balances

Total Liabiities and Fund Balances

(1) - Bance sheet as ol September 30, 2007

MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN

Cambining Balance Sheat

Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds (cominued)

December 31, 2007

Macamb/St, Clair
Health Healtly County Employment MU
Department Grants (D Library and Training Extension
$ 2n5MN6 ¢ 823105 § 560,374 2,329 418,271
114,663 - 21,540 - -
173,140 §7.070 - 2519
3 2606510 § 08175 3§ 571,414 2,328 421781
$ 9,104 3 431,877 % 110,785 2325 2423
6,496 - 1,408 -
19,110 10,780 - .
484,709 442,837 112,193 2329 2423
91,516 - . . -
540,074 247538 70,000 419,258
1,480,220 - 380,212 - -
2111310 247,538 450,22 - 418,359
5 2808510 § 890175 § 571434 232 421,781




Assets

Cash and poolad investmenls
Accounts receivable, net

Bue from olher governmenis
Other assets

Total Assets

t.iabitltles and Fund Balances

Liabilities

Accounts payable

Accrued fiabilities

Accrued compensation and benefits
Due io other governments

Due to govemmental funds
Deferred revenue

Total Liabilities

Fund Balances
Reserved
Long-termn receivables
Capitat projacts
Unresarved
Designated
Capital projects
Programs
Undesignated

Tolal Furd Batances

Tota! tiabilties and Fund Balances

{1} - Balance sheat as of Saplember 30, 2007

MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN

Combining Balance Sheet

Nonmajor Speclal Revenrs Funds {confinued)

December 31, 2007

M5 Prosecuting Prosecuting Senilor Citizens
Extension (1)  Attorney Grants Altomey Grants (1} Services
$ 169,380 § 44795 - 45,864
791 - - 14,347
113,788 25,890 178,022 -
$ 283,357 5 70,689 179,022 80,211
] 15349 % - 87,715 7.332
1,265 - - -
- - 81,499 -
- 23,711 - -
16,614 23,711 149,214 7.332
267.343 46,978 29,808 49,735
. - - 3,144
267,343 46,978 29,808 52,879
$ 283,967 & 70,685 178,022 60,211




Assets

Cash and pooled mvesiments
Accounts receivable, net
Due from other governments
Other assets

Total Assels

Liabilities and Fund Balances

Liabilities

Accounts payable

Accrued liahilities

Accrued compensalion and benefits
Due to other govemments

Due to governmental funds
Deferred revenue

Tota! Liabiliies

Fund Balances
Reserved
Long-termn raceivaties
Capital projects
Unreserved
Designated
Caphal projects
Programs
Undesignated

Tatal Fund Balances

Total Liabilities and Fund Balances

{1} - Balance sheet as of September 30, 2007

MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN

Combining Balance Sheet
Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds (continued)
December 31, 2007

Sanior Cifizens Shariff Sheriff Social
Services {1) Grants Grants (1) Welfare

$ 536 % 967,962 § - 547825
- 19,133 3.188 143,847
3,384 175,763 856,912 B8, 720

$ 3924 § 1.162.858 $ 860,008 766,401
$ - & 18235 ¥ 328,658 461919
- 122 - -

- 184,168 - 201,000

3,429 - 525,165 -

3,429 202,525 853,823 662,919

485 960,233 6,275 .

- - - 97.482

485 860,333 6,275 97 482

5 3024 % 1,162858 § BE0,068 760,401




Assets

Cash and poolad investments
Arcounts Feceivable, net

Due from ofher govemmaents
Other assets

lotal Assets

Liabifities and Fund Balances

Liabillties

Accounts payabla

Accrued liabiites

Accruad compansation and henciits
Due b othar govemments

Due to governmental funds
Defesred revenue

Total Llabiiies

Funt Balances
Resenved
Long-term recevables
Capilal projects
Unrescrved
Dasignated
Capital prajecls
Programs
Undesignated

Towl Fund Bafances

Totat [iabfitles and Fund Balances

{1} - Balance sheet as of Seplember 30, 2007

MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Combining Balance Sheet
Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds {concluded)
December 31, 2007

Urban County Votarans' Othar Special Totat
Block Grant Trust Fund (1) Revenue Special Revenve
5 853235 & 13815 § 5.437,712 % 14,692,139
8,575,204 - 32,953 8,996,155
141,078 - 367438 6,572,899
- - - 213,080
$ 9,569,517 § 13815 % 5538105 % 30,374,273
3 49,926 $ 10,025 $ 4,371 5 3795700
- 123 123
- - - 10,565
. - 496,537
- - 639,080
- 978,693
49,926 10,625 34,454 5,820,708
8,575,204 - - B8.575,204
531,802 - 4,143,921 4,775,723
- - - 91,516
- 3,790 1,338,970 6,786,909
312,685 - 19,720 4,224,213
0,519,591 3.790 5,503,611 24,453,565
$ 9,568,517 3 13,815 § 5535105 % 30,374,273
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MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Cambining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
Nonmajor Spactal Revenue Funds

Year Ended December 21, 2007
Chiid Commumlity Emergency Friand
Care (1) COMET Services Agency {1} Management Grants of the Coust (1)
Ravenuas
Licenses and permits 3 - ¥ . 3 - 3 - § -
Federal & State grants 11,591,381 WY5,282 10,642,708 2,555,331 7.381,784
Other grants - - - - -
Charges for services 1,151,268 7,520 1,988,412 85.037 588,107
krvasimeant mcome - 61,593 - - 4292
Fines and forteitures - 296,905 . - -
COther revenue - - 1.056,114 - -
Total Revenuas 12.742 BBY 471,641 13,697,324 2.540,388 8,074,180
Experdilures
Camrrent
Judicial - - - - 10,840,165
Genesal govermnment - . - - -
Futshc safaty - 462,210 2.382.439 -
Public works - . - - .
Heglth and welfare 30,173,316 . 14,791,687 - -
Recreation and cultural - - - . -
Capitai outiay o 16,422 23,490 54,124 243,139 1,580
Total Eqrandiiures 30,189.728 482,700 14,845,711 2,625,638 10,843,748
Excess of Revenues over
{undar] Expenditres {17.447.049)} {11.059) {1.148.387}) 14,730 {2.788.564}
Chher financng sources (123e3)
Transfeis in 17.447 049 - 1,223,176 - 5,769,569
Transters oul - - - - (4.000.000}
Total Other fnancing sources {uses) 17 447 048 - 1,223,176 - 2,768 569
Nat changa in fund balances - {11.054) 74,789 14,730 -
Fund Balances, beginnag of year 1,850,089 - 1,023,606 1,683,215 10.822 80,761
Fund Balances, end of yoar 3 1.850.00% % 1,012,547 5 1,758,004 3 25,662 $ 80,761

{1} - Year ended Seplember 30, 2007




MACOME COUNTY, MICHIGAN

Gombinlng Statemant of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes In Fund Balance
Nenmajor Speclal Revenue Fundy (continued)

Revenuos
Lwenses and pefmits
Federal & State grants
{ther grants
Charges for senvices
Tovestnent incorme
Fires and forfedlures
(hher revenue

Tatal Revenues

Expenditures

Current
Judicial
Genecal government
Public: safety
Publn: works
Health and welfare
Recreaton and culiurat

Capital outluy

Toial Expendiiures

fxcess of Rgvenues over
{under Bpandiures

Other financing sownces (Uses)
Transters in
Transfers out
Tonal Othar financing sources {uges)
Mat change in fund balances
ffund Balances, begmning of year

Fung Balances, end of year

{1} - Yaar ended Sepamber 30, 2007

Yaar Ended Decembar 31, 2007

MacomiiSt. Clair

Heatth Health County Employment MsU
Department Grants {1) Library and Tralning Extension

H T14,467 - - - -
6,285,853 3,404,207 57,02% - -
&.076,537 584,839 828457 3,277,700 104,828

- . 37,045 - -

9.673,85/¢ 4,003,046 178,927 3.277.700 104,828

23.081 828 4,132,943 - 327700 134,207

- - 2,781,895 . .

BBU 46T 61,532 3,000 1,142
24,862,295 1,214,475 2.756.895 3.277.700 135,348
{14,862 438) {211,429) {2,605 968} (30,521}
14,584,195 451,049 2,623,301 - 42,764
14,594,195 451,049 2,823,304 - 42,764
{388,243 239,620 $3.333 12,243
2,500,053 7913 445888 - 407,115

3 2.115,810 247538 458,229 - 415,358




Revenues
Licenses and penmils
Federat & State grants
Other grants
Charges for services
Invesiment incoma
Fines and forfeitures
Cther revenue

Total Revenues

Expenditurses

Current
Judicial
General government
Pubtic safety
Public works
Health and weiiare
Recrealion and cultural

Capital ouilay

Total Expenditures

Sxcegs of Revenues aver
{under) Expenditures

Other Bnancing sources (uses)
Transfers in
Transfers out
Tetai Other financing sources {uses)
Net change in fund balances
Fund Balances, beginning of year

Fund Balances, end of year

{1) - Year anded Septamber 30, 2007

MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance

Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds {(continued)

Year Ended December 31, 2007

M51) Prosecuting Prosecuting Sanlor Citizens
Extension {1) Attormiay Grants Altorney Grants {1} Services
$ 512785  § - § - % -
- 99,472 1202,101 109,273
98,950 - as 372,639
- 2171 - -
- 7,990 83,396 -
611,735 108,633 1,285.535 540,978
- 142,293 2029329 -
601,936 - - 2,205,298
706 - - 3.195
602,642 142,293 2,029,329 2,208,493
9.093 (32.860) {743,794) {1.667.517)
25,000 42 821 746,986 1,680,772
{41,135) - (109,335) -
{18,135} 42,821 537,651 1.680,772
(7,042 10,161 {106,143} 13,255
274,385 36,817 135,051 39.624
$ 267,343 § 46978 % 29808 & 52,879

010



Revernwes
Licenses and permits
Federal & State grants
Cttwer grants
Chargas for servicas
Investment income
Fines and forfeitures
Other revenue

Towa Rovenuees

Expanditures

Current
Judicial
General govermnment
Public safety
Public works
Health and welfare
Recreation and cultural

Capilal outtay

Tolal Expenditures

Excess of Revenues aver
{under) Expendituras

Other financing sources {uses)
Transfers in
Transfers out
Total Other financing sources {uses)
Net change in fund balances
Fund Balancas, beginning of year

Fund Baiances, end of year

{1)- Year ended September 30, 2007

MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance

Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds (continued)

Ye&ar Ended December 31, 2007
Senior Citizens Sheriff Sheriff Social
Setvices (1) Grants Grants {1) Waifare

- % - % - 3 -

38,332 1,101,527 2737618 1,089,248

- 124,676 83877 -

- 155,840 - 215,381

- 241,553 - -

38,332 1,623,596 2,021,495 1,304,907

- 1,524 416 3,533,625 -

45,8060 - - 2425127

63,461 1,306 -

45,800 1,587,877 3,534,831 2.425127
{7.488) 35,719 {713,436) {1,120,220)

7.468 393,537 711,251 1,120,220

7,468 393,537 711,251 1,120,220

- 429,256 {2.185) -

495 531,077 8,460 97 482

495 $ 950,333 ] 6,275 3 a7 482

— — .4
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Revenues
Licenses and permits
Federal & State granis
Cther grants
Charges for services
Investment income
Fines and forfeituras
Other revenue

Total Revenues

Expenditures

Current
Judicial
General government
Public safety
Public works
Health and welfare
Recreation and culiural

Capital cutlay

Total Expenditures

Excess of Revenues over
{under) Expendituras

Other financing sources {uses)
Transters in
Transfers out
Totat Other financing sources {usas)
Net change in fund balances
Fund Balances, beginning of year

Fund Balances, end of year

(1) - Year ended September 30, 2007

Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds (concluded)

MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance

Yaar Ended December 31, 2007

Urban County Veterans' Other Special Total
Block Grant Trust Fund (1) Revanue Special Revenue

Y - $ 118,125 $ - % 1,345,377
4,790,650 - 1,811,478 55,606,663

- - - 267,617

265,543 - 1,243,840 12,423,346

- - 273,179 341,576

- - 17,000 583,889

97,106 - - 1,153,220
5,153,209 118,125 3,345,495 71,821,688

- - 626,762 13,638,553

- - 644,427 644,427

. - 584,514 8,887,264

286,327 - - 2B6. 327
4,516,412 116,667 91,026 86,493,947

- . - 2,781,895

5.098 - 40,275 1,219,837

4,807,837 116,667 2.387.004 113,952,250
345 462 1,458 958,494 {42,130.562)
314,001 - 402,263 47,595,512
{186,803) - (217,350) (3,554,623)
127,288 . 184,913 44,040,889
472,750 1,458 1,143,404 1,910,327
9,046,841 2,332 4,360,207 22,543,238

3 8,519,591 4 3,790 3 5,503,611 $ 24 453 565

B-12



MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actuat

Revenues
Federai & State grants
Charges for services
Total Revenues
Expenditures
Salarles and fringe benefits
Operating
Capitla Cutlay
Total Expenditures

Excess.of Revenues over {under} Expendituras

Other financing sources {uses)
Transfers in

Net change in fund balances
Fund Balances, beginming of year

Fund Balances, end of year

Child Care Fund
Year Ended September 30, 2007

Variance with
Final Budgat
Finai Actual Favorable
Budget Armnounts (Unfavorabie)
9,383,473 g 11,591,391 3 2,197 918
1,330,150 1,151,298 {178,852)
10,723,623 12,742 889 2,019,066
11,258,505 9,680,554 1,577,951
20,979,319 20,492 762 486,557
19,296 16,422 2,874
32,257,120 30,189,738 2 067,382
(21,533,497) (17,447,049) 4,086,448
21,533,497 17,447 048 {4.086,448)
1,850,089 1,850,089 -
1,850,089 3 1,850,089 $ -

B-13



MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Schedute of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes In Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

Community Services Agency
Year Ended Septernber 30, 2007
Variance with
Final Budget
Final Actuat Favorable
Budget } Amounts {Unfavorable)
Revenues
Federal & State grants $ 12,103,223 $ 10,642,798 3 (1,460,425)
Chargaes for services 577.97% 1,998,412 1,420,437
Other revenue 1,270,806 1,056,114 ~ [214,892)
Total Revenues 13,852 004 13,657,324 {254,680)
Expenditures
Satanes and fringe benelits 7.659 960 7,542,395 117,585
Operating 7.424,223 7,249,292 174,931
Gapital outlay 62,399 54,024 B,375
Total Expendilures 15,146,602 14,848,711 300,891
Excess of Revenues over (under} Expenditures {1.194,598) (1,148,387) 46,211
Other financing sources {uses)
Transfers in 1,224 588 1,223,178 (1422}
Transfers out {30,000) - 30,000
Total Other financing sources (Uses}) 1,194 598 1,223,176 28,578
Net change in fund balances - 74,789 74,788
Fund Balances, beginning of year 1,683,215 1,683,215 -
Fund Balances, end of year 5 1,683,215 3 1,758,004 3 74,789




MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Schedule of Revenuas, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Friend of the Court
Year Ended September 30, 2007

Vanance with
Fina! Budget
Final Actual Favorable
Budget Amounts {Unfavorable)
Revanues
Faderal & Stale grants L3 7,001,820 $ 7,381,781 3 379,961
Charges for services 585,000 £88,107 93,107
investment income - 4,292 4,292
Total Revenuas 7,596,820 8,074,180 477,360
Expenditures
Salaries and fringe benefits 9,540,777 8,373,006 1167771
Qperating 2,787,755 2,467,163 320,586
Capitat Quifay 17,500 3,580 13,920
Total Expenditures 12,346,036 10,843,749 1,502,287
Excess of Revenues over {under) Expenditures {4,749,218) {2,789,569) 1,979,647
Othar financing sources {uses)
Transfers in 7,749,218 5,769,568 (1,979,647}
Transfers out (3,000,000} {3,000,000) -
Tota! Other financing sources (Uses) 4,749,216 2,769,689 {1,975,647)
Nat change in fund balances . - -
Fund Batances, beginning of year . 80,761 80,761 -
Fund Balances, end of year 3 80,761 $ 80,761 § -
— f—— - ]
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MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Health Department
Year Ended Decermnber 31, 2007

Varance with
Final Budget
Final Actual Favorable
Budget Amounts __{Unfavorable}
Revenues
Licenses and penmils $ 658,503 § 714467  $ 55,964
Federal & State grants 7,476,050 6,888,853 (587,197)
Charges for services 2,934,721 2,076,537 {458,184)
Total Revenues 10,669,274 9,679,857 ~ {989.417)
Expenditures
Salaries and fringe benefits 15,894,310 13,899,113 1,995 197
Operating 11,916,401 10,082,715 1,833,686
Capital outiay 890,5M 680,467 210,124
Total Expenditures 28,701,302 24,662 295 4,039,007
Excess of Revenues over (under} Expenditures " (18,032,028) {14,982,438) 3,049 590
Other Binancing sources {usas)
Transfers in 18,032,028 14,594,195 (3.437.833)
Nsat change in find balances - {388,243) {388,243)
Fund Balances, beginning of year 2,500,053 2,500,053 -
Fund Balances, end of year % 2,500,053 $ 2,111,810 $ (388,243)

D-16



MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Schedule of Revenues, Expendituras and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
County Library
Yeor Ended December 31, 2007

Vanance with
Final Budget
Final Actual Favorable
Budget Amounts {Unfavorable)
Revenues
Federal & State grants $ 70,901 % 57,025 S (13,876)
Charges for services 278,800 82,857 {195,743)
Fines and forfeitures 44,500 37,045 {7 455)
Totat Revenues 394,001 178,927 {217.074)
Fxpanditures
Sataries and fringe henefits 2857112 2,115920 741,192
Operating 787 925 665,975 121,950
Capitat Outlay 5,000 5,000 -
Tatal Expenditures 3,650,037 ) 2,786,895 863,142
Excess of Revenues over (under) Expenditures {3,256,036) | {2,809,968) 646,068
Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in 3.258,036 2.623,301 {832,735}
Net change in fund balances - 13,333 13,333
Fund Balances, beginning of yvear 445 888 445,888 -
Fund Balancas, end of year 5 445 888 b 459,221 3 13,333

B-17



MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Senior Citizens Services

Year Ended December 31, 2007

Revenues
Federal & State grants
Other grants
Charges for services
Other revenue
Total Revenues

Expenditures
Salaries and fringe benefits

Operating
Capital oullay
Total Expenditures

Excess of Revenues over [under} Expenditures

Qther financing sources (uses)
Transfers in

Net change in fund balances
Fund Balances, beginning of year

Fund Balances, end of year

b-18

Vanance with
Fimal Budget
Finat Actual Favorable
Budget Armounts {Unfavorable)
$ 111,667 $ 109,273 $ {2,394)
59,064 59,064
330,328 372639 42,311
621 - _{621)
442,516 540,976 98,360
1,955,560 1,841,114 114,446
419,883 364,184 55,699
3.000 3,195 (195)
2378443 2,208,493 169,950
{1,935,827) {1,667,517) 268,310
1,935,827 1,680,772 (255,055}
13,255 13,2565
39624 39,624 -
$ 39,624 3 52879 3 13,255




MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Schedute of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes n Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Senior Citizens Services

Year Ended September 30, 2007

Raevenues
Faderal & State grants

Expenditures
Salaries and fringa benefits
Operaling
Total Expenditures

Excess of Revenues over {under) Expenditures

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in

et changs in fund balances
Fund Balances, beginning of year

Fund Balances, end of year

Variance with
Final Budgat
Final Actual Favorable
Budget Amounts (Unfavorable)
42,249 5 38,332 % (3,917}
43,767 41,167 2800
8,482 4,633 3,848
52,249 45,800 §.449
{10.000) {7.468) 2,532
10,000 7.468 {2,532)
495 485
495 3 495 $ -

b-19



MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN

Schedule of Revenuas, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balanca - Budget and Actual
Social Welfare Fund

Year Endad December 31, 2007

Revenues
Federal & State grants
Charges for services
Total Revenues

Expenditures
COperating

£xcess of Revenues over (under) Expenditures

Other financing sources (uses}
Transfers in

Net change in fund balances
Fund Balances, beginning of year

Fund Balances, end of year

Variance with
Final Budget
Final Actual Favorable
Budgat Amounts {Unfavorable)
1,500,000 3 1,089,546 3 (410,454)
460,000 215,361 (184,639}
1,900,000 1,304,907 (585,093)
3,474,133 24265127 1,054,006
(1,579,133} {1.120,220) 458,913
1,579,133 1,120,220 (458,813)
97,482 97 482 -
97,482 3 97,482 3 -
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MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN

December 31, 2007

Capital Projects Funds

These funds are usad to account for financial resources to be used for the acquisition or construction of
major capital facilities. The refated capitaf assets are included are reported in the Govemment-Wide
Statement of Net Assets and are financed by County funds or state grants.. Separate funds are used

far major capital projects and include:

Bridge Program To account for the activities related to the renovation
and repair of certain bridge structures in the County.
To account for the acquisition and renovation of the

Clemens Center
Clemens Center complex.

District Court Building To account for the construction of a court faciiity in the
City of New Battimore.

E-911 Radio System To account for the construction of a high frequency
emergency communications system,

Martha T. Berry Renovation To account for the renovation of the Martha T. Berry
Medical Care Facility.

Public Works Building To account for the construction of the new Public Works
facility.

Verkuilen Building Renovation To account for the renovation of the Verkuilen Building.

Warehouse To account for the purchase of a warehouse facility.

Youth Home Renovation To account for the renovation of the Counily Youth
Home.

General Countly Capital Projects Funds These funds are used 1o account for wvarious

construction and equipment replacement activities.



Assets
Cash and pooled investments
Accounts receivable, net
Due from other govemments
Other assels

Total Assels

Liabilitles and Fund Balances

Liabilities
Accounls payable
Agcrued habilities

Total Lisbilities

Fundg Balances
Reserved
Capital projects
Unreserved
Designated ~ Capital projects

Total Fund Balances

Total Liabifities and Fund Balancas

MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Combining Batance Sheet

Nonmajor Capitat Projects Funds
Decermnber 31, 2007

Bridge Clemens District Court E-%11
Frogiam Lenter Building Radio System

7,511,269 $ 3 899,363 826,301
7511269 & £ 599,363 A26,301

52,864 5 $ 524,848 .

- 374,388

52 864 899,247 -
7.458.405 1i6 826,301
7.458.405 116 826,301
7,511,260 % 3 899,363 826,301




MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Combining Balance Sheat
Nonmajor Capital Projects Funds {continued)

December 31, 2007
Martha T Berry Pubilic Works
Renovation Building Warehouse

Assets
Cash and pooled invesiments & 67,008 § 928,556 § 712,883
Accounts receivable, less aliowance for - - -
Due from other governments - - -
Other assets - - -

Total Assets ] 57908 % 936,556 § 712,883
Liabilitics and Fund Balances
Liabilities
Accounts payable ¥ - 8 124,198 & 27,736
Accrued Aabilities - 213,557 35,356

Total Liabilities - 337,755 63,092
Fund Balances
Reserved

Capital projects 67,908 598,601 645,791
Unreserved

Designated - Capital projects - - -
Total Fund Balances 67,908 588,801 649,791

Total Liahilities and Fund Balances L 67908 % Bl6556 § 712,883




MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Combining Balance Shaat

Nonmajor Capital Projects Funds (concluded)
Becember 31, 2007

Youth Heme General County
Renovation Capital Projects Totals

Assats
Cash and pooled investments $ 1,188,277 % 15,227,494 $ 27,370,051
Accounis receivable, net - 25923 25,923
Due from ather governments - 99,630 99,830
Cther assels - 26,627 26,637

Total Assefs 5 1,188,277 & 15,379,684 $ 27522241
Liabilifies and Fund Bajances
Liablilities
Accounts payable $ 305,019 % 245,748 $ 1,280,411
Accrued liabilities 112,323 - 735,635

Total Liabilitics 417,342 245,746 2,016,046
Fund Balances
Reserved

Capital projects 770,935 - 10,372,257
Unreserved

Designated - Capital projects - 15,133,938 15,133,838
Total Fund Balances 770,935 15,133,938 25,506,195

Total Liabilities and Fund Balances 3 1,188,277 & 15,379,684 $ 27,522,241




Revenues
Faderal & State granis
Other grants
Charges for services
[nvestmant income
Total Revenas
Expendilures
Current
Puhtic works
Capital oullay
Total Expendifuras
Excass of Revenues over (under) Expenditures
Other financing sources {Uses)
Transfers in
Transfers out
Totat Other financing sources {uses}
MNet change in findd balances
Fund Batances, beginning of year

Fund Balances, end of year

MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Cambining Statement of Ravenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance

Nonmajor Capital Projects Funds
Year Ended December 31, 2007

Bridge Glemens District Cotrt E-911
Progrant Center Buiiding Radio System
$ - % - - % -
. - 1,904 -
405,354 - - 62,564
405,354 - 1,904 62564
807231 - - -
- . 5.140,03¢ 858,158
807,231 - 5,140,039 859,158
{401,877) - (5,138,135) (796.594}
48,561 - 92,000 .
- {35,444) - -
45,861 {35.444) 82,000 .
(355,216) (35,4443 {5,046,135) {796,584)
7.813,621 35,444 5,046,251 1,622,885
3 7458405 & - 116  § 826 301
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MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures anc Changes in Fund Balance
tNonmajor Capital Projects Funds {continued)
Year Ended Decamber 31, 2007

Martha T Berry Public Warks Verkuilen Bldg
Renovation Building Renovation Warehouse
Revenues
Federal & State grants ) - $ - % - ¥ -
Cther grants - - - -
Charges for services - - - -
Investment income - 91,394 - -
Total Ravenues y - 91,304 - -
Expenditures
Cusrent
Public works - - - -
Capital outlay 96,342 2,851,450 - 981,609
Totat Expenditures 96,342 2,851,490 - 981,609
Excess of Revenues over {und-gr} Expenditures (96,342) (2,760,096) - {951,603}
Cther financing sources (uses)
Transfers in 163,750 3,065 - 1,631,245
Transfers out ’ - - {36,108} -
Total Other financing sources {(uses) 163,750 3,065 {36,108} 1,631,245
Hel change in fund balances 67,408 {2,757,031) {36,108) 649,636
Fund Balances, beginning of year 500 3,366,832 35,108 155
Fund Balancas, end of year 3 7808 % 598,869 § - 3 649,791
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MACOME COUNTY, MICHIGAN

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance

Nonmajor €apital Projacts Funds {conciuded)

Year Ended December 31, 2007

Youth Home General County
Renovation Capital Projects Totals
Ravenues
Federal & State grants b 3 128,203 128,203
Othar grants - 40,600 40,000
Charges lor services - 2487174 2,489,078
inyastment income 45,353 267,996 872,661
Tolat Revenues 45,353 2,923,373 3,529,942
Expenditures
Cyrrent
Publlc works - - 807,231
Capital outlay 1,837 437 5717 457 17,483 542
Total Expenditures o 1.837.437 5,717,467 18,260,773
Excess of Revenues over (under) Expenditures {1,792,084) {2,784,084) (14,760,831}
Olher financing sourees (uses)
Transfers in 1,708,041 18,765,195 23,410,957
Transfers ot - (12,078,658} {12,150.210)
Tolal Other financing sources {uses) 1,708,041 7,667,537 11,260,747
Nel change in fund balances (84,043) 4,803,443 (3.500,084)
Fund Balances, beginning of year 854,978 10,240,495 29,006,274
Fund Balances, end of year 5 770,935 % 15,133,938 25,506,195
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MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN

December 31, 2007

internal Service Funds

These funds are used to account for services rendered or materials supplied on a user charge basis to
departments or other governments within the County. Funds in this group include:

Compensated Absences To account for the costs of accumulated sick and annual
leave pay.

Equipment Revolving To account for the costs of operating and maintaining
automotive and other equipment used by County
depariments.

General Liability Insurance To account for the costs of self-insurance for general

liability insurance,

Workers’ Compensation insurance To account for the costs of self-insurance for workers’
compensation insurance. :



ASSETS

Current assels
Cash and pooled investrnents
Trade accoums, nat
inventories
Dwse: from other govemments
Due from business-typs units
Qther astets

Fotal corast assets
Nencurrent assets
Capital assets, net

Assels being depraciated

Total Assels

LIABILITIES

Current ahilities
Accoimts payable
Diue fo other funds
Claims and judgements

Total current habililies
Nencurent Savilities
Ciaims and pdgements
Compansalted absences
Aeivances Tom other funds
Total noncurrent liabilities
Toral Liabilities
NET ASSETS
Invastrment in capital assets, net of rglated debt

Unresticled

Total Nat Assats

MACOMS COUNTY, MICHIGAN

Combining Statement of Net Assets

Intermnaf Seyvice Funds
December 31, 2007

Comgpensated Equipment General Liability Workers'
Absences Revalving Insugance Compensation Yotils
3 6242876 % 5799990 § 4,736,109 § 9063555 § 25842530
- 18,545 - - 18,545
- 328,964 - - 320,964
- 829,171 - - 629,171
- 157.636 - - 157,636
- 130,370 153,166 131,086 414,502
6,242,876 7 065,676 4,869,275 8,194,621 27,392 448
- 3,130,597 - - 3,136,597
£.242 876 10,166,273 4,889.275 9,154 621 30,523,045
- 328,036 251,436 77,509 656,981
- 593,301 - - 693,301
- - 850,000 1,000,000 1,850,000
- 1,021,337 1.101,436 1,077 508 3,200,282
- - 3,774,581 835,542 4.614,123
0,025,380 - - - 8,025,380
- 300,000 = - 360,000
6,025,380 300,000 3,774,581 838,542 10,939,502
6,025,380 1,321,337 4,876,017 1.8917.051 14,138,785
- 3,130,597 - - 3,130,597
217,496 5,744,339 13,258 7,277,570 13,252,663
] 29749 § 5874935 % 13,258 & 7277570 % 16,383,260




Qperating Revenues
Charges for services

Operating Expenses
Benefits and cdaims expenses

Supplies and sarvices
Depreciation

Totat operaling expenses
Cperaling income (loss)

Nonoparating revenucs
Gain on sale of assets

Inctane before iransiers

Transfers
Transfers in

Increase {Decrease} in net agsels
Mel assets, beginning of year

Net assets, end of year

MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Combining Statenent of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Assets

nternal Service Funds
Year Ended December 31, 2007

Gompensated Equipment General Liability Workers®
Absences Revolving Insurance GCompensation Totals
& 1065224 § 5780933 % 1,701,183 % 760,568 § 9,307 918
847,728 - 2,342,695 1,170,209 4,360,532
- 4,953,952 - - 4,953,952
- 517,037 - - 597.027
847,728 5,470,985 2,342,695 1,170,208 9,831,621
217 486 309944 {641,502) {409,641) {323,703)
. 5,229 - - 5429
AR 315,173 {B41,502) {409,641) (518,474)
351,114 100,000 - 451,114
217 496 666 287 (541,502) (409,621) {67,360}
o 8,208,649 554,760 7,687,211 16,450,620
$ 217488 § 8,874 938 5 13.258 % 7,277,570 $ 16,383,280




MACDME COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Combining Statement of Cash Flows - Internat Service Funds
Year Ended Decamber 31, 2007

Compensated Equipmenl General Liability Workers'
Ah 5 Revolving insurance Comp fhon Totals
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Cash receivad from cuslorters. 4 - 7706 % - % 5706
Cash recetved from iflerfund services 1,065,224 6,025,308 1,701,183 80,560 9,552,253
Cash payments to empioyses 1,08%,224) - . - {1,065.224)
Cashr payments to suppliers N {4,792,683) (2,550,210 (1,013,854 (6,961,747}
Hat cash provided by Oparating Activities - 1305391 __{B4B.01T) {258,286} 198024
Cash Flows Fram Noncapital Financing Activilies
fransdors in - 351,114 100,000 - 453114
Cash Flows From Capitat and Related Financing Activities
Asuisifion of capital assets - {1.160,H2) - {1, 160.042)
tngense {decrease) in cash and pooled invesiments - 459R,432 {749,047} {258 285) (510876}
Cash and pooted mvashverds, begmning of year §.24287% 5,303,657 5,485,126 5.33,848 26 253400
Cash and pooled investments, end of yaar L 6242876 $ 5798990 $ 4736109 % 50631555 ¥ 25842530
Reconcifiation of operating inconte o ned eash provided (used)
by opeating xctivilies
Ogperaling income (1055} & 217,496 309,944 3 {641,502} § (468641) 3 {523,703}
Adjustmants to reconcile operafing income (boss) lo net cash
prowided oy (used i) operating activibes:
Drepraciation - 517.037 . - 517,037
Mecrease is acoounts recelvabla - 46,469 - 45,458
Decregse it irvemony 59,162 - - 53,182
Increase m amounts dus from ather govemnments {230,654} - {230,684}
increpse in amonnits due frum oter furels (157,636} - - 157 £36)
increase in other assals - {34,369} {1 {51.066) {85,436)
incnzase (decrease) in accounts payable - 162,107 (60,858) 4,940 45,184
Decrease in aconred employes benafils [217.498) - . - {27 496)
Inerease in amouwts due 1o other funds 642,341 893,31
Ireiense {decrease) in accrued claims and judgements - - {146,658} P07 481 50,825
Net cash provided by {used in) opersling activilies $ £,305,331 § {849,017} § (258,286} § 198,028




MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN

Decembear 31, 2007

Fiduciary Funds

These funds are used to account for money and property received from individuals and other parties by
the County as trustee, custodian or agent for those parties. Funds in this group include:

Pension Trust Fund To account for the accumulation of resources to be
used for refirement paymenis. Resources are
contributed by employees at rates fixed by union
contract and by the County at amounts determined by
annuat aciuarial vajuations.

Retiree Health Care Trust Fund To account for expenditures related to praviding heallh
care bengfits to County retirees.

Trust and Agency To account for the collection and subsequent payment
of property taxes (o other funds and various
governmental units located within the County. This
fund also accounts for deposits associated with judicia

proceedings.

Payroll and Benefits To account for the transfer of money from other funds
to be used for the payment of payroll and employse
benefits.

Other To account for money received from individuals or

other misceilaneous parties for which the County acts
as an agent.



MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Combining Statement of Fiduciary Net Assets
Pension and Other Employee Benefit Trust Funds

December 31, 2007

Employees’ Retiree Health
Retivement Fund Care Fund Total
ASSETS
Cash and pooled investments ] 48,289,678 ) 1821820 § 50,111,498
Receivahles
Accrued interest 848,690 516,761 1.365.451
Other 878217 ~ 876,217
Total receivables 1,724,907 516,761 2,241,658
Investments, at fair vaiue
US Govesnmant obligations 921,188 - 921,188
Corperate Bonds 35,441,234 - 35,441,234
Preterred Stock 20,352 968 - 20,352 988
Common Stock 355821475 732,354 356,553,829
Foreign Stock 30,895,840 16,834,835 47,830,775
Lirnited partnerships 26,854,402 - 26,854 402
Mutual funds 385,932,797 97,415 308 483,348,105
Total investmants. 856,219,904 115 082 597 971,302 501
Securiliss lending coilaterat 54,126,987 - 54,126,087
Diue from fiduciary funds 538,086 - 538,088
Toial Assets 960,599,582 117,421,178 1.078,320,740
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 568,082 1,769,023 2,337,105
Due {o governmental funds 1,618 - 1,518
Bue to fiduciary funds 904,270 3,084 437 4,888,707
Obligations under secwrities lending 54,126,987 - 54,126,987
Tolal Liatitities 55600957 5,753,460 61,354,417
NET ASSETS
Net assets held in trust for pension
and other postemployment benefits $ 8905208605 § 111,667,718  § 1,016,866,323
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MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Cornhining Statement of Changes In Fiduciary Net Assets
Pension and Other Employee Benefit Trust Funds Funds
Year Ended December 31, 2007

Employees' Retiree Health
Retiremont Fund Care Fund Total
ADDITIONS
Confributions
Employer $ 13,121,330 2 14,508,697 % 33,630,027
Employee 4,774,535 552,029 5,366,564
Total contributions 23,895,865 15,100,726 38,996 591
Investment income
Net appreciation in fair vaiue of assets 59,358,483 455,726 59,814,209
interest 4,934,364 - 4,934 364
Dividends 8,200,810 4735775 12,936,585
Securities lending 390,078 - 390,078
72,883,735 5191501 78,075.236
less invastment expenses )
Management and custodial fees ) 3,369,947 - 3,369,947
Securities lending agent fees 117,021 - 117,023
Net investment income 69,395,765 5,191,511 74,588 266
Total additions 93,202,630 20,292 227 113,584,857
DEDUCTIONS
Benefit payments 36,523,881 14,992,688 91,516,569
Refunds of contribulions 381,008 - 381,008
Administrative expense 191,481 108,038 299 500
Tolal deductons 37,096,350 15,100,727 52,187,077
Net increase in net agsets 56,196,280 5,191,500+ 61,387,780
NET ASSETS
Beginning of year 849,102 325 106,476,218 955,578,543
End of year $ 905,298,605 3 111,667,718 § 1,016.965,323

D-



ASSETS
Cash and pocled investments

Receivables

Other
Due from fiduciary funds
COther assels

Tolat dssets

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable
Accrued compensation and benefits
Deposits
Dwae 1o other govermments

Totat Liabilities

MACOME COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Combining Statement of Fiduciary Net Assets

Agency Funds
Deagember 31, 2007

Miscellaneous

Trust and Agency  Payroll and Benefits Agency Funds Total
3 3,805,416 & 8,745,303 $ 4435634 $ 17076353
802 1,050,614 $14 1,051,630
113,415 4,237 206 - 4,350,621
160 44,860 - 44,890
3 4,009,923 3 14,077,523 $ 4435748 § 22523594
5 104,287 3 13,357,972 % a1 $ 13,462 350
- 719,951 - 719,951
2,238,769 . 3419115 5657884
1,666,867 - 1,016,542 2,683,408
% 4,008,923 % 14,077 823 3 4435748 $ 22523594
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MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Combined Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Assets

Agency Funds
Year Ended December 31, 2007

Balance Balance
12/31/2006 Additions Deletions 123112007
ASSETS
Cash and poocled investments b4 14,652 267 $ 1,018,626,365 $§ 1,016,202.279 $ 17076353
Receivables
Cther 2.817.915 1,307 550 3,073,835 1,051,630
Due from other funds . {165} {365} -
Due from fiduciary funds 3,767,020 12,354,020 1,770,419 4,350,621
Cther assets 51,617 135,261 141,888 44 930
Total Assets 5 21,288819 & 1032422831 § 1031,188,086 § 22,523,594
LIABILITIES
Accounis payable 3 9644756 § 236,548,409 $ 232730815 § 13,462,350
Accrued compensation and benefits 515,566 57,096 384 56,991,994 719,951
Deposits 5,759,524 32,927,974 33,029,614 5,657,884
Due to other govemments 5,268,983 203,598,151 206,183,725 2,683.409
Due to other funds - 448 656 448 656 : -
Total Liabilities % 21,288,819 b 530,619,579 $ 528384 804 $ 22,523,594
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ASSETS
Cash and pooled invesimeants

Receivables

Other
Due from fiduciary funds
Cither assets

Totai Assets

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable
Accrued compensation and benefiis

Depostis
Due to other governmants
Due to business-type units

Total Liabifities

MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN

Statement of Changes in Assets and Liabilities

Trust and Agency Fund
Year Ended December 31, 2007

Balance Balance

1213172006 Additions Deletions 1213112007
b 6,051,561 127,158,660 3 129,314,805 3 3,805418
1,724 1,820 2,642 802
113,415 9,532 9,532 113415
133 131,724 131,667 190
¥ 6,166,833 127,301,736 $ 125,453,646 $ 4000923
3 438,556 33,587,994 % 33,822,263 $ 104 287
- 5222972 8222972 -
3.102 536 29,303,518 30,167,286 2,238,769
2625741 21,686,230 22,645 104 1,666.867
- 65,968,263 65,968,263 -
5 6,166,833 155,768,978 § 1574925888 $ 4,009,923




ASSETS
Cash and pooled investments
Receivables
Cther
Due from fiduciary funds
QOther assets

Total Asssis

LIABILITIES

Accounis payable
Accrued compensation and benefits
Due to governmental funds

Total Liabikiies

MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Statement of Changes In Assets and Liabilities
Payroll and Benefits Agency Funds

Yoar Ended December 31, 2007
Balance Balance

1213112006 Additions Daietions 1243412007
% 5,055,461 227 507,039 %5 223817,197 § 8745303
953,380 351,469 254,235 1,050,614
3.653.605 12,344 488 11,760,887 4,237,206
51,484 3,537 10,221 44,800
$ 9,713,930 240,206533 5 235842540 § 14.077.823
$ 9,098,374 18,366,965 3 14,107,367 § 13,357,572
615,556 51,873,417 51,769,022 719,951
. 448,656 448 656 -
$ 9,713,930 70,689,038 $ 66325045 $ 14077823
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MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
Statement of Changes in Assets and Liabilities
Miscelianecus Agency Funds
Year Ended December 31, 2007

Balance Balance
12/31/2006 Additions Deletions 127312007
ASSETS
Cash and pooled investments $ 3,545,245 $ 663960666 § 663070277 § 4435834
Receivables
Other 1,862 811 954,261 2,816,958 114
Due from other funds - {365) (365) -
Total Assels ;] 5,408,056 3 664,214562 & 655885,870 § 4435748
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ 107826 % 184,583,450 § 184,701,185 § 3|
Depasits 2.656,988 3,624,455 2,862,328 3419,115
Due lo other governments 2,643,242 181,911,921 183.538.621 1,016,542
Total Liabilities $ 5,408,056 5 370,120,826 % 371102434 § 4435748
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MACOMB COUNTY, MICHIGAN
December 31, 2007

Statistical Seciion — Unaudited

This part of the County’s comprehensive annual financiat repott presents detaiied mformation as a
context for understanding what the information in the financial statements, footnotes and required
supplementary information says about the County's overall financial health.

Financial Trends {pages E-i_through E-6} - These schedules contain rend inforrnation to assist the
reader in understanding how the County's financial performance and weli-being have changed over time

. Revenue Capacity {pages E-T through E-10} — These schedules contain information to assist the
reader assess the County’s property tax revenue,

Debt Capacity (pages E-11 throuagh E-13} — These scheduies present information regarding the

affordability of the County's current leveis of outstanding debt and its ability to issue additional debt in the
future.

Demographic and Economic Infermation {pages E-14 through E-15} - These schedules present data
to assist the reader in understanding the demographic and economic environment that the Gounty

operates in.

Operating information (pages E-16 througth E-19) — Theses schedules confain intormation vregarding
the County’s employees and infrastructure assets to assist the reader in understanding the services and

provided by the County.




Macomb County, Michigan
Met Assets by Component
Last Six Years {A)
{accrual basis of accouniing, In thousands)

UNAUDITED

2002 2003 2004 2005 20086 2007
Governmental activitias
Investad in capital assets, net of
aceumulated debt 5 64,025 $ 84830 § 103,037 % 110,592 § 98280 $ 116,042
Restricted azny 27,338 54,780 87.573 117,133 96,409
Uneestricted 111,874 112318 85,024 81.479 50,704 7,094
Tolal gavemmental acfivities net aseets 243,616 225,087 255,841 260,644 267,117 #21 8 466
Business-type activities
javested in capital agsets, net of
accumulated debt 3.157 2574 2,558 6,745 24,214 23,236
Restricted 6,308 G236 6,354 5,411 8,724 7,040
Unrestricted 90,389 B65.844 85,158 83,860 82,539 87,479
Total business-type uniis nel assets 99,855 95,654 84 069 57,018 113,477 117,764
Primary Government
Invested in capital assets, nel of
accumulated debt 67,182 87 404 105,593 117,337 123,494 139,278
Restricted 44,026 13574 L1 103,984 123857 103,458
Unrestricied 202,263 180,763 173,183 145,330 133,243 84,494
Total primary govemmant net assets $ 313,471 § 320,741 $ 345910 5 366,660 $ 380,554  §337230

{83 - The County inplementet GASE Statament No. 34 as of and for he year ended December 31, 2002,

Data priof to that daie Is not avaitable.

Source: Macomb County Finance Departrment



Expenses
Governmental activities
Legisiative
Judicial
General Govemment
Public safety
Fubbc workes
Health and welfare
Recreation and collure
Cnher activitias
Interest on jong-term debt

Tokal govemmentai activite s expenses

Business-type activifies
Dedinquen tax collections
Cormmunity Mental Health
Mastha T Bemry Medical Care FacHity
Freedum Hill Par

Total businass-type acliviies expenses

Tolal primay gavemment expenses

Program fevenues
Govammental activilies
Charmges foi services
Sudiciat
Genrarai Government
Pubiic safety
Heatth gng welinre
Recreation and culiure
QOpemaling granls aod contribubons
Capitat grants and contrbutions

Tolal govemments) activities program revenies

Businessdype activitics
Charges for sarvices
Delinguent tax collectioms
Commiunty Meni Health
Martha T Bemy Medical Care Facility
Fipecdam Hil Park
Operatng granis und cantribulfons

Tota! business-dype webvilies progrem revenues
Tatal primary govemimant prograsm ravesmes
et [Expense) Ravenue

Governmental activities

Butsine 33-typo Jctivites

‘Total pimary guvemment net EXpensas

{A) - The County inp¥ ted GASE Stan
DPata prior 1o that date is nod availabla,

Source: Macomd County Finance Depavment

Macomb County, Michigan
Changes in Net Assefs
Last Six Years [A}
{accrug! basis of accounting, in thousands)

UNAUDED

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
$ 4715 B 183 3 1888 0§ 20077 0§ 2250 0§ 2345
31520 32,074 32,738 37,466 40,052 40,672
38,247 39,443 47,040 53 507 50,249 94,801
51,446 51412 680,512 57,118 73,774 76,046
319 3,857 2.134 953 1,500 1,157
&1, 745 1,778 11,578 76,036 81,220 89,362
2,805 3,503 2,983 2,976 3,098 2,345
2817 5,309 2,374 - - -
2,475 2,896 3423 3,763 3637 4,038
194,436 204,483 224,741 242,986 265,778 311,966
ik 545 BBE 703 i 863
126,422 135,124 138,755 t45.189 171,380 174,125
17410 18,967 10,026 18,017 19,99¢ 21,728
102 1062 1130 1,131 1,127 1,116
149,562 155,700 . $59.777 165,020 193205 197,835
330,598 350,163 384 518 408,006 458,983 809,101
5,583 5,797 5,060 8,566 5973 7017
16,658 18,730 18,439 20,085 15 118 13,288
7.407 8,078 4,812 8931 12,736 13 884
11,190 12,960 12821 1 AT 11,836 12,660
- 286 309 310 kPA] 120
44,996 43,500 56,190 54,003 56,334 59.33%
716 233 3,188 1,538 a513 2,725
86,5585 0,563 99 829 103,007 107 130 109,008
8,830 7.401 7.465 6,368 8211 12,118
BLESG 93,752 97,508 139,403 161,587 157,342
13723 14,250 3,386 12340 13,880 18,609
223 758 242 264 254 242
38,543 35907 35,503 288 2.827 372
141,969 151,579 154,485 188 Gf 188,569 186,684
228,537 242,162 254,314 261,668 293,909 307,683
{107,888) {113,908) {124,112) (139,979; {158,648} (202,257}
(3,593) @120 15,292) (6,359 16.136) 849
§ On4sy  $0716021) E(13004) 3{146338) S{+6488s) §{204.408)

E-2

t No. 34 a3 of and for the year ended December 31, 2002,




General Revenues
Govermunental activities
Property taxes

Intergovernmental revenues - resiricied
infergovernmenial revenues - unresticted

Investment earmings

Gain (loss) on sale of assels

Transfers

Tolat govemmentat activiias

Business<{ype activities
Investment eamings
Transfers

T otal business-dype activilies

Total primary govemment

Change in Net Assats
Governmentat activities
Buisiness-type sctivities

Total primary govemment net revenue

Macomb County, Michigan
Changes in Net Assets (conciluded)

Last Six Years {A)

(accrual basis of accounting, in thousands)

UNAUDITED

2062 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
$ 958,51 $104.047 5 145,046 $ 153328 % 164,855 $ 141,903
. . - 493 - .
18,454 15,351 8,260 1,943 2,263 2,392
5711 4,152 3.433 8,456 9,529 10.635
& @ . ) A .
{101,422) 825 {1,974) {8.435) {26.525) (325)
19,282 125,372 155,665 153,783 156,122 154 605
2,059 1,106 1,052 1,856 3,060 2,966
101,389 (1184} 2,655 7449 18735 AT
103,448 78) 3,707 T 908 | 22795 3,439
122,730 125,294 159,372 163,088 178.917 158,044
{88,585) 11472 30,753 13,804 {2.526) {47.652)
99,855 {4,199} {1.585} 2,846 15450 4,288
$ 11260 % 7273 0§ 29188 $ 16750 5 13831 § (43.364)

(A}~ The Courty inplemented GASB Siatement Ma. 34 as of and for the year ended Oecember 3%, 2002,

Data prior to that date is not available,

Source: Macomb County Finance Drepartment
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Macomb County, Michigan
Changes in Fund Balances - Governmental Funds
Last Ten Years

Revenues
Propenty lanes
LicAnses 20 pormits
Federal & Stk granks
Other graos
Chames for servtes
Iwestment lneome
Special assesgmenty

Charges 1o olher gy for somintdsstive saintes
Finex and fordatures
Other revenue

Tatal Revenures

Eapemhmes
Legusiative
Juthcial
Genaral finemimient
Public cafaty
Frublicc works
Health and wisiare
Reecreation ard cuburai
Chtser
Caprtal puttiry
Predt sarace
Prinzipal
Interest and fec
Bond ssuance eoss

Tota! Expendiunes

Excess of B OV [t} Exp

Cther financing sousrees (wanx)
Issuance of debt
Fravefems
Tratslers gut
Transiers \o component ot
Operahig ¥ansiens Tom prmay govensnint
Bond discounts
Procasds of refunding detit
Fayment i mfimding detl escow 2081

Tolat Qthe financing sounces uses)

Hel change in tand bamnces

Trett nonace 25 % of noncapltal eypendiiures

Seumes Macsinb County £inance Dyl

{modified accrual basis of accounting, in thousands)

UNAUDITED

. [l 2000 Zom 2012 007 204 2005 2008 2007
T4 3 TRSET B4GA% S HUGAD S 953 FIOAGSE  SMEME  fIELAM 1SS F1HAH
[:zh 965 981 985 103 1054 1087 1303 1,168 1565
15§, 130 142,804 5,840 Eor el vs ot 52,850 61,842 51,850 50,758 54,143
&7r9 3583 4,984 4.3 185 113 T 87 251 o8
195,843 132.970 141 133 158,792 ¥ 43,650 41.959 LLY:wrd 5019 52,584
15,041 15,101 16242 15343 8711 4150 313 5456 2529 10,534
3,613 5712 7.850 3 . - - - - -
BEI0 575 7374 7,553 8,855 3775 0.5 14,088 11,425 AL
145 % r .Y V365 1,540 1,095 1097 1861 179G T ez
[ el 4,546 4,667 B.553F 1.474 G55 1445 o se1 1,455 1520
369,970 393.51% 405975 450473 25 420 724 E08 T.555 270,253 295856 275,863
1497 525 1488 £ 1715 tam 1,458 240 2250 2345
14,310 23,587 78T gD 0,125 30,638 .39 35,380 a1 8ES 3735
37745 38,129 405,007 3299 44.597 3,351 49,570 et 0,273 58,540
W76 40,467 12,5910 45523 4851 =iy 5284 SRR 1L 2348
B5.002 55, 4B 58,551 54,502 313 3697 2,1 954 1,500 117
157,357 82,015 190,882 HE 1R 50,527 E100 53,048 12.868 16250 Era Ll
1137 1348 3410 3,507 2,763 3500 2908 2,90 Ao 2rar
e 20498 2,554 3,287 3 51 kel o] 4733 5481 5,450 551
73118 15854 0,853 FLET 25,672 16551 29930 23371 73 1231
EDaZ 56190 5664 5130 1570 1070 7,685 56D Aa70 4750
2,850 1.508 2,593 3,034 1861 2504 LI 30654 1822 34
- - - nr a4 m HE - 1
el el Lk 7347 2WBEED A DETE T20,920 235,548 256.705 2043 285054 295814
G¥E? 23177 21,315 9.801 14,000} (15140) 11,281 2340 0842 {20051
- zAM 11,535 30,872 £0.585 . 19,350 22259 - 16,695
G7.507 &1.778 58 157 117 4,682 £7.515 6.7 ar et 5,360 102,574
(51,20t 156,519 (4450 (GOES1] BT [E7 AGT) (79.175) 85 812; SIS0 (103,350
i) {m ] s {785) - - . - .

e 73 a3 e - - - - - .
) . - - @ - 1733 [205) - 158)

4150 3% - - - S0 - . . .
16,250} (#90) - - 8.7 {57e5) - jedilind] - (16514}
4,808 780 17,233 19,438 21,057 7y 15,153 TANTT [CRI 1653)
$ 1LER 5 30995 WSl 5 49830 8 16257 S {5 28074 5 24047 S 6657 3 Q0TI

251% 2% 2% 2.06% + BX% 2.70% 2.52% 275




UHAUCTED
Macomb County, Michigan
Changes in Fund Balances - Genaraf Fund

Last Ten Years
imodified aceruat basis of actounting, in thousands)

1992 1088 2005 2001 2002 2404 204 2005 e zbe7
Revenuas
Tases 5 e T 79413 5 Bad7y § afasy $ 95,338 $ 103,005 5108025 § 1150 F 126970 § 141,60
LicEnseS a0 (MWt 166 385 353 386 arr 392 397 391 am 8
Federsl & State grants 20,999 21853 23431 36,081 AT 21875 14,756 Bazz @825 B.408
Tharnes loc senices 20.342 3860 Z2,7TG 2380 28,759 28747 26,754 30.207 IN3F 27501
vesiment incomea % - 34 7,487 9.708 84 4462 2334 B.SEE 4,708 2997 BE
Chames 10 ather funds 10+ admipisinative services 6810 6,786 7.7 7.502 o A5S a27s wEsT 1,008 11428 11,525
Fi and farfeilures a4 1.007 a3 s Lk 833 F.ORE 1,145 805 508
Crher revens L 228 247 23 T 223 207 9 68 7
Totat Revermgs i29.568 134,518 143,350 150,548 W72 167,681 164 280 171,455 184.5M1 147,463
Expendiiures
t vapaiative Laa7 1.525 1487 1.7 1715 1,833 1.958 2071 2250 et )
Jusdicial 159316 5,736 1rais 1043 €249 W, 19,452 218 23707 97
fieneral gnuemntant arre 3,139 45,028 13.25%0 43,885 25524 48,848 54,425 58 254 57508
Public safety 4847 3w AR AREZ 11,614 34,350 17.076 A1 427 565 24831 &£3,860
Hew'th ana weltare ans 64 B4 702 T2 &78 by 7 ar 657
Othat 170 2430 2399 2.943 2518 793 733 5,451 5460 5619
Capital outay N T4y 6509 i 77 169 Y ired Birz i &17
Total Buperufitires 91325 o6 t5 104,262 Ho2o0 11LETE 520,054 120416 112,560 153,57 155,335
Extes of R o [Linter) Sep 38.373 43,403 43,076 13,445 4790 47,627 15,664 28486 Rl =ry Arids
Gther financing somces juses)
Transfars n BATH 6 ATS 6325 T.655 7. BO5 055 19.860 Frfr ] 3,34 23877
Teanglos oul {39,836} 42898} fey A il {59, TBG) {48, 155} {52 189) (58 08} 00040 iBie61} {asvay
Todal Uther firancing sources {usts) (31,5600 264213 (0.9 J4i.33y {41,390} {42,534) {33,605 {31,623 {3864} {58697}
Het changp in hmd baiances £ 8M2 I w98z 3 7357 i T.A15 i 5204 5 501 3 %ﬂ’a: & __g,lan 5 !;28'1; 3 (6,555

Soonge: Mactornb County Finanes Depariment

(2]
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Macomb County, Michigan
Principal Property Tax Payets
Curmrent Year and Nine Years Ago

UNAUDITED

2007 1958

Percentage Percentage

of Tolal of Total

County County

Taxable Taxable Taxabie Taxabie

Taxpayer Value Rank Valie Value Rank Value

CHRYSLER 389,127,166 1 1.16% $ 322375742 3 1.60%
GENERAL MOTORS 315,556,136 2 0.99% 424,453,995 1 2.11%
DETROIT EDISON 258,642,192 3 0.81% 246,281,583 4 1.22%
FORD 217,872,283 4 0.68% 407,349,730 2 2.02%
CONSUMERS 79,975,893 5 0.25% 107,630,259 5 0.53%
INTERNATIONAL TRAMS. 79,412,208 G 0.25% - 0.060%
MELERS 56,654,959 7 0.18% 35,223,089 8 .18%
ACH 52,441,731 83 0.168% - 0.00%
MICHIGAN COMSOLIDATED 39,865,519 L4 0.13% - 0.00%
MT. CLEMENS COATING 37 652,600 10 0.12% - - 0.00%
E0.5. - " - 54,337,618 ] 0.27%
PINE TREE ACRES - - 43,776,283 7 0.22%
LAKESIDE ASSOC. - - 32,655,000 9 0.16%
VENTURE INDUSTRIES - B 23208410 10 0.12%
$ 1,507,283,687 4.73% $ 1,697,391,709 B.44%

Source: Macomb County Equalization Dapariment
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MACONMB COUNTY

Last Ten Years

Collected within the

Property Tax Levies and Collections

LINAUDITED

Taxes Levied Fiscal Year of the Levy Subsequent  Total Collections to Date

for the % of Years % of

Year Fiscal Year Amount Levy Collections Amount Levy
1998 $ 74,386,358 % 73,670,498 899.04% 3 38879 § 73989177 99.47%
1999 80,048,654 78,920,951 98.59% 491,631 79,412,582 99.21%
2000 85,418,460 83,858,287 98.28% 520877 24,479,164 98.90%
2001 90,682,439 87,735,241 96.75% 723,239 88,458,480 97 .55%
2002 97,887,664 95,833,685 87 90% 555,879 96,389,564 98.47%
2003 104,447,066 103,230,735 98.84% 673,994 103,904,729 99.48%
2004 109,802,442 107,355,031 97.77% 669,651 © 108,024,682 D8.38%
2005 115,602,340 114,604,662 99.14% 735676 115,340,338 99.77%
2006 129,938,194 126,412,193 97.29% 598,244 126,970,437 97.72%
2007 136,819,673 141,267,858 103.21% 483,076 141,690,934 103.56%

Source: Collections - Macomb County Treasurer Department
Tax Levy - Macomb County Finance Department
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UNAUDITED

MACOMB COUNTY
Ratios of General Bonded Debt Qutstanding
Last Ten Years

Less: % of
Amounts Total Net General
General Restricted % of Assessed Obligation
Obligation to Repaying Personal Vaiue of Debt
Year Bonds Principal Total income Progperty Per Capita
1893 21,830,000 7,253,064 14,576,936 0.06% 0.08% 18.51
1999 22.080,000 7,124,395 14,935,605 0.05% 0.08% 18.86
2000 24,930,000 6,883,717 17,946,283 0.07% 0.09% 2277
2001 23,610,000 6,826,444 16,780,558 0.06% 0.07% 20.98
2002 54,655,000 6,663,027 47,891,973 0.18% 0.20% 59.59
2003 52,120,000 6,620,170 45,499,830 0.16% 0.18% 55.44
2004 58,750,000 6,438,925 52,311,075 0.19% 0.19% 63.59
2005 75,250,000 6,200,152 68,059,848 0.24% 0.24% 83.14
2008 71,275,000 6,038,145 65,238,855 0.30% 0.21% 78.33
2007 67,880,000 5,582,508 82 297,402 nfa 0.20% 74.96

Source: Macomb County Finance Department and Municipal Advisory Council of Michigan
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UNAUDITED

MACOMB COUNTY
Computation of Net Direct and Overlapping Debt
As of December 31, 2007
Gross Self-Supporting Net
Amount ar Pald by Amount
Qutstanding Banefited Entity Outstanding

Direct debt

Macomb County Building Authosity 3 62,180,000 k3 - % 62,196,000

CAminai Justice Bullding Authority 4,895,000 - 4,995,000

Michigan Transporfation bonds 12,365,000 - 12,365,400

Public Works - water and sewr debt 92,820,000 92,820.000 -

Net diract dabt 3 172,370,000 $ 92,820,000 5 78,550,000

Cverfapping debt

School districts $ 1,863,353, 701

Cities 32245425

Township 140617174

Villages 8.19,636

Intemmnediate schoot district 2,067,426

Library 15,945,000

Met overlapping debt 3 2,343,148,362

Net direct and overiapping debt $ 2,422,698,362

Source: Macomb County Finance Department and Municipal Advisory Council of Michigan
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URAUDITED

MACOME COUNTY
Legal Debt Margin
Last Ten Years

Legal Debt Margin Calculation for 2007
2007 Assessed Taxabie Value

Debt Limit { 10% of Assessed Taxable Vaiue )

§ 31,862,609,926

§ 3.186,269,993

Culstarwding Long-term Detit $ 172,370,000
Less: Transportafion Fund bonds (12,365,000}
Debt Appiicable to Limit 160,005,000
LEGAL DEBT MARGIN 3 3,026,264,893
Totat Net Dept
Applicable to Limit
Fotal Nef Dabt as a Percentage of
Years Debt Limit  Applicable to Limit Legal Debt Margin Debt Limit
1998 $1,945,749,055 § 48093865 § 1.897,655190 247%
1999 2,078,931.784 45,195,600 2.034,736,784 217T%
2000 2,109,925,642 54,865,000 2,054,960,6842 261%
2001 2,270,232,888 76,356,546 2,193,876,340 3.36%
2002 2.420.630,650 133,480,598 2,287.190,0562 551%
2003 2.557,322,540 137 555,000 2.419,667,540 5.28%
2004 2.698,053,037 155,315,604 2,542,737.433 5.76%
2005 2.8680,272.652 158,405,600 2,701,867.652 554%
2006 3.037,391,836 150,180,000 2,887.211,836 4.94%,
2007 3,186,269,993 160,005,000 3,026,264,993 5.02%

Lource; Macomb Cournty Finance Department



UNALKHTED

MACOMB COUNTY
Demographic and Economic Statistics
Last Ten Years

Personal Income

{ thousands Per Capita Unemployment
Years Popuiation of dollars } Personal Income Rate
1998 $787,698 § 22,861,388 § 29,326 3.2%
1999 792,082 24,302,127 31,004 3.2%
2000 788,149 26,057,293 32,941 3.1%
2001 799,954 26,267,189 32,800 51%
2002 805,395 26,724,410 33,054 57%
2003 820,739 27,821,090 34,107 6.6%
2004 822,660 27,774,429 33,735 8.2%
2005 829,453 28,814,941 34,761 7.8%
2006 832,861 21,576,097 25,906 8.0%
2007 831,077 N/A N/A 9.0%

Source: Macomb County Finance Department
U.S, Census Burean, Amencarn Caommunity Survey { in 2006 inftation-adjusied doltars )

U.S. Department of Commerce - BEA
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Current Year and Nine Years Ago

MACOMB COUNTY
Principal Employers

UNAUDITED

Source: Macomb County Finance Dapartment

Crain's Detroit Business

£A%

2007 1698
% of % of
Total County Total County
Employer Employees Rank Employment Employees Rank Employment
General Motors 14,942 1 3.92% 16,129 1 3.80%
Chryster 12,873 Z 3.37% 10,798 3 2.54%
Ford 7,389 3 1.94% 11,906 2 2.80%
U.8. Government 5.243 4 1.37% 6,494 4 1.83%
St, John Health Systern 4,544 5 1.19% 2,249 7 0.53%
Utica Schools 3,688 6 0.97% - -
Macomb County 3,060 7 0.80% 2738 5 0.64%
General Dynamics 2,454 8 0.64% 1,900 9 0.45%
Henry Ford Health System 1,794 9 0.47% - -
Chippewa Vailey School 1,781 10 0.47% - -
Cadence Innovation 1,700 11 0.45% - -
Warren Con. Schools 1,531 12 0.40% - -
L.S. Pastal Service 1,519 13 0.40% - -
State of Michigan 1,232 14 0.32% 1,115 17 0.26%
Mt. Clemens Hospital 1,052 15 0.28% 1,373 15 0.32%
AZ Automotive Corp. 1,079 16 0.28% - -
Campbeill-Ewald 930 17 0.24% - -
Art Van Fumiture 850 18 0322% - -
Kroger Co. 834 19 0.22% 77t 20 0.18%
Asset Acceptanice Capital 832 20 0.17% -
Kmant Co . - 2,439 6 0.57%
Mercy Health Services Inc. - ~ 1,852 B 0.46%
EDS - - 1,700 10 0.40%
Becker Group InG. - - 1,563 1 0.37%
St Joseph's Mercy Macomb - - 1,628 12 0.36%
TRW ine. - - 1,455 13 0.34%
Aetna indusiries Inc. - - 1,379 14 0.32%
Macomb Com. Coflege - - 1,169 18 0.28%
Ameritech Michigan - - 1,000 18 0.24%
Arbor Drugs inc. - - 881 19 0.21%
__ 69,136 18.12% 70,546 ___1660%



UNALIDITED

MACONMEB COUNTY
Full-Time Equivatent County Government Employees by Function/Program
Last Ten Years
FunctionProgran 1998 1993 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
Legistalive
Board of Commissioners 29 25 25 25 25 26 26 26 26 28
Judicral
Gircuit Court 56 56 57 57 57 g2 65 65 B5 67
Eistrict Court Div. 1 13 13 13 i3 13 13 13 13 13 13
Disrict Court Oiv, 2 16 16 17 18 18 18 18 18 i8 18
rriend of the Court 117 147 118 119 129 122 124 125 125 128
Probate Court - Estates 26 26 et 27 27 3 3 L3 3 3
Probate Court - Juvenile 69 69 6% 72 70 69 68 ) B84 B2
Probate Court - Menta? Diviston 7 ? 7 8 10 1G 10 12 12 12
Prabation 11 11 13 33 4 18 1% 18 19 19
General Gavernment
Cotinty Admanistration 7 7 7 7 7 7 g 9 9 8
Corporation Counsel g g 7 7 7 8 g 9 q g
Budget 1 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Finance . 25 28 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25
Pucchasing 25 25 22 22 22 22 24 24 23 23
Reintbursament ’ 14 t4 14 14 14 15 15 15 15 15
Information & Tech Systems 42 42 a6 48 43 48 48 49 4B 49
Equalization 16 16 16 16 16 158 18 15 14 14
Human Resaurces 21 21 21 2 22 23 29 29 28 28
ClerkiRegister 76 B1 81 51 86 42 56 a8 98 89
Treasurer 33 33 34 34 34 34 34 34 34 24
Public Works 46 46 48 48 51 a1 55 57 58 58
M 5.1, Couaty Extension 56 51 63 66 75 6 76 7 7 16
Pianning & Econ Dev 36 36 36 36 33 33 a5 a5 37 37
Risk Management ' 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
F aclities & Operations 111 111 k3! 113 113 i15 123 124 124 127
Proseculing Attorney 104 105 109 113 114 117 120 123 140 141
Public Safety
Shenff 413 425 429 444 470 478 475 501 503 503
Technical Sarvices 10 10 16 10 19 10 10 10 10 10
Emergency Servicas 2 2 3 3 3 3 4 4 4 4
Community Corractions - - - - - . ] 10 11 11
Health
Erwironmenig! Heatth 35 39 45 45 48 48 48 43 a0 54
Pubic Haallh 247 243 239 235 229 227 226 229 226 223
Community Mentat Health 323 324 325 326 326 328 330 330 330 333
Substance Abuse 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10
Social Services
Chitd Care « Youtss Home 92 112 112 112 112 112 122 122 140 144
Medical Cara Facility 234 234 232 23z 235 237 236 240 244 244
Veterans Services 5 5 5 5 4 7 5] 5 6 6
Senior Cltizen Services 3 a2 35 36 a6 37 39 34 38 38
Communily Services Agency 294 293 298 298 284 301 308 267 260 257
Macomb/St. Clair Employment - 40 46 44 44 45 42 42 43 41
Cultiire & Recreation
Parks & racreation B 8 ) 8 8 8 8 8 9 9
Library 69 69 69 69 67 67 67 67 65 65
Total 2738 2820 2860 2886 28171 2973 3031 3038 3066 3088

Source: Macomnb County Budgel



UNAUDITED

MACOMEB COUNTY, MICH!GAN
Miscellaneous Statistics
December 31, 2007

1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2002 2004 20035 2006 207

Macaomb County Faciilies ardd serices;
Public works

Lane: Miles of County and Local Roads 2,007 2,007 2.942 2,942 2,942 2,942 2,942 2,942 2,942 2942

Bridges and Draingge Struciures 752 752 768 756 756 756 756 755 756 756
Mikzs of Storm Drains 658 888 (1101 6as 633 888 700 750 750 750
Mites of State Trunklines and Freeways 166 166 166 166 166 186 166 166 166 166
Mites of Sanitary Sewars 188 188 188 188 188 188 188 186 188 188
Mieg of Water Malns 43 43 43 43 43 43 43 43 43 43
Waste YWater Pump Stations 42 42 42 42 42 42 42 42 42 42
Sewage Treatmant Flants g 9 9 g 9 9 g g g g
Education
Publie Clementary Schools 132 132 138 138 142 142 148 123 123 123
Publlc Semor Hygh Schools 28 28 28 28 29 pa!] 29 27 27 2t
Public Middle Schools 40 40 43 43 42 42 42 41 41 41
Public Speciai Purpese Schools 21 21 pal 21 43 43 21 61 61 61
Communty Colleys Campus Sites 3 3 3 3 k| 3 3 3 3 3
Pavata/Parachial & Charter Schools - - 4 4 5 6 55 65 88 &5
Mecdcal Care
Genernt Acute Care HosoHal 8 8 3 8 8 8 6 6 & 7
Genetal Acute Care Patisnt Beds 1.302 1,302 1,302 1,302 1,341 1,388 1,388 1.388 1,368 1,388
Nursing Care Tacilites 23 23 23 23 29 29 29 29 29 29
MNuraing Care Patiani Beds 3.932 3,932 3,532 3.932 3,933 3,933 3,933 3,933 RE: XK 3.933
FPrivate Mental Health Facilities 4 4 4 4 3 3 3 3 3 3
Private Menial Heaith Patienl Beds 328 328 328 328 177 177 77 177 iv7 177
Public Gafaty
County Shenffs Offices 1 1 i 1 i 1 1 1 4 1
Shenlf's Patrot Substations 4 4 5 ) 5 5] 5 & & 8
Sheriffs Marine Patrol Substations 2 2 2 2 4 2 2 2 2 2
Fire Stations 47 47 47 47 49 49 45 49 49 53
Comnuntty Fire Departments 24 24 24 24 26 6 26 26 26 25
Communily Palioe Depadments 19 19 19 19 18 18 18 18 18 19
State Police Depariments i t 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Culture & Regreation
County Libmary 1 1 1 1 k 1 1 1 1 1
Library Books 137,244 137244 141,528 141528 1493068 149,806 149,806 143,806 149,806 149,806
Otner Uibrary Media 5030 5.030 5,871 5871 17,332 17332 17,332 17,332 17332 17,332
State Parks 1 1 1 1 i 1 t 1 1 1
Anes 935 935 835 935 335 835 935 935 935 935
Regional Metropalitan Parks 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Acres 761 7.611 7Bt 7611 7611 7,61t 7.856 7.8586 7.856 7.85G
Marinas 9 23 2| a1 91 9% 100 100 100 100
County Parks 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

Source: Macomb County Finance Department



Type of Coverage /

MACOMB COUNTY

Scheduie of Insurance

As of Decemnbeor 31, 2007

Name of Company Policy Period

Public Entity Liability
5t. Pau Fire & Marine

Excess Workers'
Compensation
{insurance
Accident Fund

Property
Affiltated FM insurance
Co.

Boiler & Machinery
Affiliated FM Insurance
Co.

Elactronic Data
Processing

Affiliated FM Insurance
Co.

Pubtic Entity Fiduciary
Liability
Federal insurance Co.

Crime
AlG

7-1-07 to 7-1-08

7-1-06 to 6-30-09

7-1-07 to 7-1-08

7-1-07 to 7-1-08

7-1-07 io 7-1-08

7-1-07 to 7-1-08

7-1-07 to 7-1-08

Premium
$370,628

$102,081

{insurance Premium)

3107410
{Admin Fes)

$118,275

included in Property

Included in Property

$13,775

$7.808

Description

Inciudes Auto Lisbitity, General Liability, Law
Enforcement Liability, Public Officials Liabifity
including Employment Practices Liability.
Limit $10,000,000 for Persona! Injury
Liabifity, Products/Completed Operations
Hazard and Public Officials' Errors &
Omissiens Combined. $10,000,000 Each
Qccurrence or Wrongful Act, or Combination
of Occurrence And Wrongful Act. - $500,000
Self-insured Retention

Statutory Liability $1,000,000. Self-insured
Retention per claim $350,000,

Covers buildings & contents. Limit - up to
$245,000 - Deductible $100,000

Repair or replacement of insured property,
expediting expenses, hability for injury,
damage to property of others, defense costs
resulting from an accident to infured object -
$10,000 Deducfible - $250,000 Limit

Replacement cost for damaged equipment
and media; extra expense o resume
operations; ali risk less certain excluded
perils; included Chapaton Pump Station with
separate limits $1,000,000 Limit' $5,000
Retention

County Employees Retirement Systern -
55,000,000 Aggregate, $25,000 Deductible

Theft - disappearance and destruction infout
premises. LIMITS: $1,500,000 Crime;
$200,000 Forgery; $200,000 Counterfeit
Currency; $200,000 Theft & Destruction -
325,000 Daductible



MACOMB COUNTY

Schadule of nsurance
As of December 31, 2007

Type of Coverage /
Name of Company Policy Period Premium Description
Life insurance 1-1-07 to 12-31-0% $200,789 Death benafit aguals one year salary
Maett.ife
Dental insurance 1-1-07 to 12-31-09 190,742 (2007) 31,000 Annual Maximum per Individual/
Delta Dental $194,482 (2008) Calendar Year
$198.638 (2009)
Dental Insurance 111/07 to 12-31-09 $132,359 $1250 Annua! Maximum per Individual /
Goiden Dental {annual premium)  Calendar year - 160% Diagnostic &
Preventive; 90% Restorative; 75%
Prosthetics & Special Care; 30%
Orthodaontics
Long Tarm Disability 1-1-07 to 12-31-09 $179,654 60% of salary o age 65; up to $4,500 per
Insurance (annual premiun) plus month subject to coordinalion of benefits
The Hartford $50,939
(Basic AD&D)
Health/Hospital 1-1-07 to 12-31-08  $1,073,906 active HMO offers primary care physicians, network
Instirance 3100472 retiress  hospitals, affliated pharmacies and labs and
Blue Care Network (2007 rates anly)  other providers within the particutar HMO
network
Health/Haspital 1-1-07 to 12-31-08  $6.408,332 active HMO offers primary care physicians, netwaork
Insurance $1,831,572 retirees  hospitals, affifiated pharmacies and tabs and
HAP (2007 rates oiny)  other providers within the particular HMO
network - Includes Vision
HealthfHospital 1-1-07 to 12-31-08  $3,681.015 (2007 - Sef insured medical plan - $1,000,000
Insurance including refirees} Lifetime Maximum Includes Vision
BCBS of Michigan $2,661,399 {z008)
$2,737,535 (2009)
Vision Care 1-1-07 to 12-31-09 - 516,308 Vision care pays for certain tests & supplies
SVS Vision (annual premium)  when obtained by participating provider

Source: Risk Management & Safety
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